

VOL.45, No.2, SPRING 2014

Þ

MITSUBISHI

MITSUBISHI TRACTOR



MITSUBISHI AGRICULTURAL MACHINERY CO., LTD. http://www.mam.co.jp

2-133-4,Sakurada,Kuki,Saitama,340-0203 Japan http://www.mam.co.jp



VOL.45, No.2, Spring 2014

Edited by YOSHISUKE KISHIDA

Published quarterly by Farm Machinery Industrial Research Corp.

in cooperation with

The Shin-Norinsha Co., Ltd. and The International Farm Mechanization Research Service

TOKYO

Yoshisuke Kishida, Publisher & Chief Editor Contributing Editors and Cooperators

- AFRICA -

Kayombo, Benedict (Botswana) Fonteh, Fru Mathias (Cameroon) Abdallah, Said Elshahat (Egypt) El Behery, A. A. K. (Egypt) Bani, Richard Jinks (Ghana) Djokoto, Israel Kofi (Ghana) Some, D. Kimutaiarap (Kenya) Houmy, Karim (Morocco) Adeniyi, O. O. (Nigeria) Bindir, Umar B. (Nigeria) Igbeka, Joseph C. (Nigeria) Odigboh, E. U. (Nigeria) Odigboh, E. U. (Nigeria) Oni, Kayode C. (Nigeria) Opara, U. L. (South Africa) Kuyembeh, N. G. (Sierra Leone) Abdoun, Abdien Hassan (Sudan) Saeed, Amir Bakheit (Sudan) Khatibu, Abdisalam I. (Tanzania) Baryeh, Edward A. (Zimbabwe) Tembo, Solomon (Zimbabwe)

- AMERICAS -

Cetrangolo, Hugo Alfredo (Argentina) Nääs, Irenilza de Alencar (Brazil) Ghaly, Abdelkader E. (Canada) Khan, Alamgir (Canada) Hetz, Edmundo J. (Chile) Roudergue, Marco Antonio Lopez (Chile) Aguirre, Roberto (Colombia) Ulloa-Torres, Omar (Costa Rica) Magana, S. G. Campos (Mexico) Ortiz-Laurel, H. (Mexico) Bora, C. Ganesh (U.S.A.) Chancellor, William J. (U.S.A.) Goyal, Megh Raj (U.S.A.) Mahapatra, Ajit K. (U.S.A.) Nath, Surya (U.S.A.)

- ASIA and OCEANIA -

Quick, G. R. (Australia) Farouk, Shah M. (Bangladesh) Hussain, Daulat (Bangladesh) Mazed, M. A. (Bangladesh) Wangchen, Chetem (Bhutan) Shujun, Li (China) Illangantileke, S. G. (India) Ilyas, S. M. (India) Mani, Indra (India)

Mehta, C. R. (India) Michael, A. M. (India) Ojha, T. P. (India) Pathak, B. S. (India) Salokhe, Vilas M. (India) Singh, Gajendra (India) Verma, S. R. (India) Abdullah, Kamaruddin (Indonesia) Soedjatmiko (Indonesia) Behroozi-Lar, Mansoor (Iran) Minaei, Saeid (Iran) Abdul-Munaim, Ali Mazin (Iraq) Sakai, Jun (Japan) Snobar, Bassam A. (Jordan) Chung, Chang Joo (Korea) Lee, Chul Choo (Korea) Bardaie, Muhamad Zohadie (Malaysia) Pariyar, Madan P. (Nepal) Basunia, M. A. (Oman) Chaudhry, Allah Ditta (Pakistan) Mughal, A. Q. A. (Pakistan) Rehman, Rafiq ur (Pakistan) Abu-Khalaf, Nawaf A. (Palestine) Lantin, Reynaldo M. (Philippines) Venturina, Ricardo P. (Philippines) Al-suhaibani, Saleh Abdulrahman (Saudi Arabia) Al-Amri, Ali Mufarreh Saleh (Saudi Arabia) Chang, Sen-Fuh (Taiwan) Peng, Tieng-song (Taiwan) Krishnasreni, Suraweth (Thailand) Phongsupasamit, Surin (Thailand) Senanarong, Akkapol (Thailand) Pinar, Yunus (Turkey) Haffar, Imad (United Arab Emirates) Hay, Nguyen (Viet Nam) Lang, Pham Van (Viet Nam) Hazza'a, Abdulsamad Abdulmalik (Yemen)

- EUROPE -

Kic, Pavel (Czech) Müller, Joachim (Germany) Gasparertto, Ettore (Itaty) Hoogmoed, W. B. (Netherlands) Pawlak, Jan (Poland) Marchenko, Oleg S. (Russia) Martinov, Milan (Serbia) Jaime, Ortiz-Cañavate (Spain) Sims, Brain G. (U.K.)

EDITORIAL STAFF (Tel.+81-(0)3-3291-3674) Yoshisuke Kishida, Chief Editor Masako Terauchi, Managing Editor R. Lal Kushwaha, Editorial Consultant

ADVERTISING

(Tel.+81-(0)3-3291-3674) Yuki Komori, Manager (Head Office) Advertising Rate: 300 thousand yen per page

CIRCULATION

(Tel.+81-(0)3-3291-3674) (Fax.+81-(0)3-3291-5717) Editorial, Advertising and Circulation Headquarters 1-12-3, Kanda Nishikicho, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo 101-0054, Japan URL: http://www.shin-norin.co.jp/english/ E-Mail: ama@shin-norin.co.jp Copylight © 2014 by FARM MACHINERY INDUSTRIAL RESEACH CORP. in SHIN-NORINSHA Co., Ltd Printed in Japan

EDITORIAL

Oxfam Japan, a non-government organization reported that the gap between the rich and the poor has become wider, and now the total assets of the richest 85 people equal that of the poorest 3.5 billion.

The author started in 1971 "Agricultural Mechanization in South East Asia," the previous publication of AMA and for more than 40 years has been getting afloat "Agricultural Mechanization in Asia, Africa and Latin America." The main reason of publishing this AMA is to promote agricultural mechanization in the third world countries where the farmers have a low income. The development of communication and transportation made the world smaller mentally and the whole world becomes a big village, but the gap between the rich and the poor has grown wider now and this wide gap causes social tension and various forms of war. As a result, it is difficult to have peaceful society. To make the future world peaceful, we have to bridge the economic gap by some means. Farmers do not have high income worldwide. It is because the trade condition between agriculture and non-agriculture is not fair to the farmers. One kilo of the most expensive Japanese rice costs less than one litter of imported mineral water. Thus, farmers grow cheaper rice than bottled water.

The susceptible youth sees the agriculture unfair and tries to go to big cities. In the USA and in the third world counties, many young people try to leave the agricultural industry. Currently the world population is 7 billion and is estimated to increase to 8 billion by 2030 and this increase is happening in urban areas.

Last year, I spoke at the symposium regarding urban agriculture. Japan has more elders, and aging of the population in urban areas is becoming a problem. Also, Japan needs a system for the elders to join farming and to provide not only food, but also spiritual relief and better living space for the elderly.

Agricultural machinery is advancing in industrial countries and some emerging countries, but that in other developing countries, it is behind. To support growing population, we need to increase the productivity of the limited farmland. This can be possible by the use of proper agricultural machinery. Those who are responsible for the mechanization are the ones in the field of agricultural engineering, and they have historical and social responsibility.

> Yoshisuke Kishida Chief Editor

April, 2014

CONTENTS

AGRICULTURAL MECHANIZATION IN ASIA, AFRICA AND LATIN AMERICA

Vol.45, No.2, Spring 2014

5	Editorial
7	Determination the Heat Performance for the Evaporative Cooling Pads
11	Design and Development of a Hot Water Paddy Straw Pasteurizer for Mushroom Cultivation
19	Processing Non-Conventional Forages via Baling Crop Residues
26	Energy Requirement for Irrigation Pumps in Allahabad District, Uttar Pradesh (INDIA)
30	Present Status of Agricultural Mechanization in Bangladesh
40	Selection of Suitable Furrow Opener and Furrow Closer for Vegetable Transplanter
48	Performance Evaluation of Experimental Self-Propelled Double Row Sugarcane Harvester
57	Development and Evaluation of a New Double-Row Sugarcane Bil- let Planter with Overlap Planting Pattern
65	Development of a Mechanical Harvesting Aid for Prickly Pear Cactus Fruit
70	The Effect of Tractor Load and Trafficking on Wheat Crop Yield
74	Design, Development and Evaluation of Self Propelled Garlic (<i>Al-lium Sativum L.</i>) Clove Planter
80	Drying of Dates Using Multiple Collectors Areas Followed by Equal Drying Areas in a Solar Tunnel Dryer
	 7 11 19 26 30 40 48 57 65 70 74

86 ABSTRACTS

*

★

Event Calendar	
NEWS	
New Book88	

*

New Co-operating Editor's	90
Co-operating Editor	91
Back Issues	95
Instructions to AMA Contributors	97

Determination the Heat Performance for the Evaporative Cooling Pads



by

Samir B. Salman Al-Badri Department of Agril. Machines & Equipment College of Agriculture, University of Baghdad IRAQ samir albadri75@yahoo.com

M. H. Abdul-abass Department of Animal Production College of Agriculture, University of Baghdad IRAQ

Abstract

An Experiment was conducted at the Faculty of Agriculture, University of Baghdad, Abu- Ghraib, goal of research is to identify the impact of using three kinds of pads (Eucalyptus excelsior, Date palm and Plastic pads) with the daylight hours on the efficiency of evaporative cooling and amount of water evaporated through the pad. Using the fan-pad evaporative system. Pads thickness was 10 cm. Water was added into the pads by one rate of 6 L/min. The measurement had been taken during day time at 11:00 am -5:00 pm along the process: external temperature, internal temperature, wet bulb, humidity, dew point and air speed. Calculated the efficiency of cooling pads used in the equation and finally the amount of water was calculated from the consumer through the pads during the one hour. The results showed that more reduction of temperature at 11:00 am and 5:00 pm, when using Eucalyptus excelsior pad results were 28.88 and 28.32 °C consecutively. When Date palm pad was being used more reduction of temperature was observed at 11:00 am and 5:00 pm and the results were 28.55 and 29.31 °C consecutively. When using Plastic pads more reduction of tem-

perature at 11:00 am and 1:00 pm were 32.57 and 35.58 °C consecutively. The results showed that the highest cooling efficiency at 3:00 pm, 5:00 pm and 11:00 am were 84.56, 92.97and 50.59 % respectively when used (Eucalyptus excelsior pad, Date palm pads and Plastic pads) and lowest value at 1:00 pm, 3:00 pm and 5 pm 79.26, 85.93 and 38.40 % respectively. The higher air speed at 1:00 pm, 11:00 am and 11:00 am were 1.55, 1.32 and 1.81m/ s respectively when using (Eucalyptus excelsior pad, Date palm pads and Plastic pads) and lowest value at 3:00 pm 1.17, 1.17 and 1.61 m/s respectively. The lowest and higher quantity of water was Steamed during the pads liters/hour for the area 2 m^2 at 5:00 pm and 3:00 pm, when Eucalyptus excelsior pad was used results were 27.52 and 45.46 liters/ hour) respectively. When Date palm pad was used for 5:00 pm and 11:00 am the lowest and higher quantity of water was Steamed were (28.86 and 37.00 liters/hour respectively. When Plastic pads was used at 5:00 pm and 1:00 pm the lowest and higher quantity of water was evaporated; results were 16.55 and 24.29 liters/ hour. The study showed that changing kind of pads during different time of day affected temperature, air speed, cooling efficiency, this

was due to the conditioned dry-bulb temperature that tends to vary with the outside weather temperature. As well as increasing in the amount of water vaporized during the afternoon in comparison with the morning.

Introduction

Evaporative cooling pads are used to cool down poultry house temperatures during hot weather all over the world. The efficacy of pads largely depends on how they are used and maintained. In order to get maximum cooling as well as maximum life out of your six inch evaporative cooling pad system, it is very important that the water distribution system is capable of circulating a minimum of 9 liters per minute for every meter (0.75 gallon/min/ft) of pad system length. This means, for instance, that an 18 m (60 ft) pad section should have a water distribution system capable of circulating at minimum 160 liters of water per minute over and through the pads. Before getting too concerned about total water use, one has to realize that only a small fraction of this water will actually evaporate. In fact, the recommended circulation rate is about ten times the maximum evaporation rate. So why do we need to circulate so much water? First, it is important to keep in mind that unlike the fogging pad system, with the six-inch pad system water is only applied at the very top of the pad and as a result it takes a lot of water to insure that the pads get thoroughly wetted all the way to the bottom. If insufficient water is applied, dry spots and streaking will occur. Streaking will, of course, lead to decreased cooling as some of the air entering the house moves through sections of dry pad instead of wet pad. Fan and pad systems consist of exhaust fans at one end of the barn and a pump circulating water through and over a porous pad installed at the opposite end of the barn. If all vents and doors are closed when the fans operate, air is pulled through the wetted pads and water evaporates. As each gallon of water is evaporated, 8100 BTUs of heat energy is absorbed from the air by the water during the change from liquid to vapor. Removing energy from the air lowers the temperature of the air being introduced into the barn. Evaporative cooling is a process that reduces air temperature in an airstream. As water evaporates, energy is lost from the air causing its temperature to drop. Two temperatures are important when dealing with evaporative cooling systems -dry bulb temperature and wet bulb temperature. Dry bulb temperature is the temperature that usually is air temperature. It is the temperature measured by a regular thermometer exposed to the airstream. Wet bulb temperature is the lowest temperature that can be reached by the evaporation of water only. Unlike dry bulb temperature, wet bulb temperature is an indication of the amount of moisture in the air. Wet bulb temperatures can be determined by checking with the local weather station or by investing in an aspirated psychometric, a sling psychometric, or an electronic humidity meter. Wet bulb psycho-

motor consists of two thermometers exposed to the same air stream.

Materials and Methods

An Experiment was conducted at the Faculty of Agriculture University of Baghdad, Abu -Ghuraib, in a poultry house without birds in summer 2007 goal of the research is to identify the impact of using three kinds of pads (Eucalyptus excelsior pad, Date palm pads and Plastic pads) during daylight hours on both the efficiency of evaporative cooling operation and amount of water evaporated through the pad, using the fan-pad evaporative system and pad thickness was 10 cm. Water was added into the pads by one rate of 6 L/min. Kestrel 3000 pocket weather meter was used in this experiment to determine temperature and wet bulb, humidity, dew point, internal temperature and air speed. Calculating the efficiency of cooling pads used in the Eq. and finally the amount of water was calculated from the consumer through the pads during the one hour.

If the efficiency of the evaporative cooling system is known, the temperature of air exiting a cooling pad can be calculated by the following **Eqn.**

$$\eta = \frac{(T_o - T_{in})}{T_o - T_w} \times 100 ~(\%)$$

ŋ = evaporative cooling efficiency(%).

T_o = dry-bulb temperature of air outside pads (°C).

T_{in} = dry-bulb temperature of air among pads (°C).

 T_w = wet-bulb temperature of air (°C).

Table 1 Temperate outside of barn °C

Kind of pads		Rate			
Kind of pads	11	1	3	5	Kate
Eucalyptus excelsior pad	37.00	40.94	43.19	43.04	40.93
Date palm	36.70	39.27	41.40	41.46	39.70
Plastic	36.00	40.00	42.06	42.69	40.18
L.S.D 5 %		0.91			0.26
Rate	36.56	40.07	42.21	42.39	40.30
L.S.D 5 %	0.30				

 Table 2
 Temperate inside barn among the pads °C

Kind of pads		Rate			
Kille of paus	11 1 3		5	Kale	
Eucalyptus excelsior pad	28.32	29.60	29.44	28.88	29.60
Date palm	28.55	28.72	29.36	29.31	28.98
Plastic	32.57	35.58	36.22	37.60	35.49
L.S.D 5 %		1.	10		0.25
Rate	29.81	31.3	31.67	31.93	31.17
L.S.D 5 %	0.29				

Table 3 Differ in temperatures between outside and inside barn °C

Kind of pads	Time (hours)						
Killu of paus	11	1	3	5			
Eucalyptus excelsior pad	8.86	11.34	13.75	14.16			
Date palm	8.15	10.55	12.04	12.15			
Plastic	3.43	6.48	5.84	5.09			

Results and Discussion

Tables 1. 2 and **3** illustrate that more reduction of temperature for the 11:00 am and 5:00 pm when using Eucalyptus excelsior pad were 28.88 and 28.32 °C consecutively. When using Date palm pads that more reduction of temperature resulted for the 11:00 am and 5:00 pm and were 28.55 and 29.31 °C consecutively and when used Plastic pads that more reduction of temperature occurred for the 1:00 pm and 11:00 am and were 35.58 and 32.57 °C consecutively. This was due to the conditioned dry-bulb temperature that tends to vary with the outside weather temperature.

Table 4 illustrates that the highest cooling efficiency at 3:00 pm, 5:00 pm and 11:00 am were 84.56, 92.97 and 50.59 % respectively when using (Eucalyptus excelsior pad, Date

palm pads and Plastic pads) and lowest value at 1:00 pm, 3:00 pm and 5:00 pm 79.26, 85.93 and 38.40 % respectively as the kind of pads change the condition relative humidity increases. This was due to the greater wetted area of the pad kind and the daytime.

Table 5 illustrates the higher air speed at 1:00 pm, 11:00 am and 11:00 am were 1.55, 1.32 and 1.81 m/s respectively when used (Eucalyptus excelsior pad, Date palm pads and Plastic pads) and lowest value at 3:00 pm 1.17, 1.17 and 1.61 m/s respectively .The differences in air velocity value were due to the difficulties during wet air movement across the differences pad.

Table 6 illustrates the lowest and higher quantity of water was evaporated during the pads liters/ hour for the area 2 m² for the 5:00 pm and 3:00 pm when used Euca-

 Table 4 Cooling Efficiency (%)

Kind of pada		Rate				
Kind of pads	11	1	3	5	Kate	
Eucalyptus excelsior pad	83.08	79.26	84.56	84.36	82.81	
Date palm	91.27	89.90	85.93	92.97	90.01	
Plastic	50.59	44.94	40.96	38.40	43.72	
L.S.D 5 %		0.	10		1.50	
Rate	74.98	71.36	70.48	71.71	72.13	
L.S.D 5 %		1.	72			

Table 5 Air speed among the pads (m/s)

Kind of pads		Time	(hours)		Rate
Killu ol paus	11	1	3	5	Kale
Eucalyptus excelsior pad	1.20	1.55	1.17	1.20	1.28
Date palm	1.32	1.20	1.17	1.17	1.21
Plastic	1.81	1.64	1.61	1.78	1.71
L.S.D 5 %		0.	.41		0.16
Rate	1.44	1.44	1.31	1.38	1.40
L.S.D 5 %		0.	.18		

 Table 6
 Amount of water evaporated (liters/hour)

Vind of node		Data			
Kind of pads	11	1	3	5	Rate
Eucalyptus excelsior pad	43.45	41.487	45.46	27.52	39.47
Date palm	37.00	35.90	33.24	28.86	33.75
Plastic	23.27	24.29	19.15	16.55	20.81

lyptus excelsior pad were 27.52 and 45.46 liters/hour respectively, When used Date palm pads for 5:00 pm and 11:00 am the lowest and higher quantity of water was evaporated were (28.86 and 37.00 liters/hour) respectively and when using Plastic pads for the 5:00 pm and 1:00 pm the lowest and higher quantity of water was evaporated were (16.55 and 24.29 liters/hour) respectively this was due to the conditioned drybulb temperature that tends to vary with the outside weather temperature. As well as the increasing the amount of water vaporized during the afternoon than in case of the morning and different kinds of pads.

Conclusion and Recommendation

The Date palm pads were use because it has given the higher Cooling Efficiency during day time with less Amount of water evaporated.

REFERENCES

- Abdul-Munaim, Ali Mazin. 2006. Influence of Pad Type and Time on the Performance of Evaporative Cooling Unite for Poultry Houses. The Iraqi Journal of Agricultural Sciences 37(3): 175-180.
- Al-Badri SAMIR. 2009. Study on the Efficiency of Pad During Day in Cooling Poultry Farm. The Iraqi Journal of Agricultural Sciences 40(3): 113-108.
- Al-Helal, I. M., N. Al-Abbadi, and A. Al-Ibrahim. 2004. A study of fan-pad Performance for a Photovoltaic Powered Greenhouse in Saudi Arabian Summer. International Agricultural Engineering Journal, 13(4): 113-124.
- Al-Sulaiman, F. 2002. Evaluation of the Performance of Local Fibers in Evaporative cooling energy conversion and management 43(7): 2267-2273.

ASHRAE. 1984. ASHRAE Hand-

book of Fundamentals. American Society of Heating, Refrigerating and Air-Condition. Atlanta, GA.

- ASHRAE. 1992. Evaporative air cooling, ch19. In 1992 HVAC systems and Equipment Handbook. Atlanta, Ga.:Am. soc. Of Heating, Refrigerating, and Air-conditioning Engineers, Inc.
- Bottcher, R. W., G. R. Baughman, R. S. Gates, and M. B. Timmons. 1991. Characterizing Efficiency of Misting System for Poultry. Transaction of the ASAE 34(2): 586-590.
- Czarick, M. 2004. Static pressure testing. Poultry Housing Tips, 16(12): 1-4.
- Czarick, M. 2004. Six inch pad systems will use more water than fogging pads. www.poultrytowday.com.
- Czarick, M. 1997. Average house temperature. Poultry Housing Tips, 9(8): 1-2.
- Czarick, M. 2008. Evaporative Cooling Pad Quality Makes a Difference. Poultry Housing Tips, 20(7): 1-5.
- Czarick, M. 1999. Air Temperature, Speed Meter. Poultry Housing Tips, 11(5): 1-3.
- Donald, J. 2000. Getting the Most From Evaporative Cooling Systems in to Tunnel Ventilated Broiler Houses. Poultry ventilation, 14(6): 1-5.
- Dowdy, J. A., R. L. Rrid, and E. T. Handy. 1986. Experimental Determination of Heat and Mass Transfer Coefficients in Aspen Pads. ASHRAE Transactions, 92(2A): 60-70.
- Gates, R. S., J. L. Usry, J. A. Nienaber, L. W. Turner, and T. C. Bridges. 1991.An optimal misting method for cooling livestock housing. Transaction of the ASAE 34(5): 2199-2205.
- Liao, C. M., S. Singh, and T. S. Wang. 1998. Characterizing the Performance of Alternative Evaporative Cooling Pad Media in Thermal Environmental Control Applications. Journal of Environ-

mental Science Health, Part A, 33(7): 1391-1417.

Design and Development of a Hot Water Paddy Straw Pasteurizer for Mushroom Cultivation

by

Nanje Gowda N. A. Research Scholar, Dept. of Agricultural Engineering, University of Agricultural Sciences, GKVK, Bangalore-560065, INDIA nandi511@gmail.com

Abstract

Pasteurization of paddy straw is mandatory for disinfection of the substrate before spawning. This should only destroy the competitive fungi but not the beneficial microorganisms. Conventionally pasteurization of paddy straw is being done in open drums, autoclave, pressure cookers, bulk pasteurization by steaming inside tunnel, and rapid substrate steam treatment between 80 to 100 °C for several hours. These methods are associated with several drawbacks including high water requirements, time consuming, low thermal efficiency due to heat loss, difficulty in handling of hot pasteurized straw and to drain out hot water, and higher chances of contamination due to unhygienic management. To address these drawbacks a paddy straw pasteurizer (25 kg dry straw capacity) was developed which consisted of stainless steel pasteurizing drum, temperature-time control with temperature sensor, drum tilting mechanism for loading and unloading of straw and straw compressing mechanism. From the results of performance evaluation it was found that, when paddy straw was compressed and held at maximum compressed level, 210 L of water was required for soaking and pasteurizing as compared to conventional methods (360 L). The total time needed for pasteurization was 5 h 30 min which was 2 h lesser than conventional method and thereby reducing the operation cost from 1.7 US\$ to 1.2 US\$ per batch pasteurization.

	Nomenclature
%	percent
mm	millimetre
А	ampere
°C	degree centigrade
cm	centimetre
PID	proportional integral derivative
kg/m ³	kilogram per cubic metre
π	pie (22/7)
kW	kilo watt
r^2	coefficient of determination
L	litre
\$	US dollar
m	metre
MT	million tonnes
m^2	square metre
C: N	carbon: nitrogen

Introduction

India being the major rice producing country, around 136.5-150 MT of paddy straw is produced annually and approximately 85-95 MT of paddy straw is disposed as waste (Anonymous, 2010). Hence, paddy straw is the most commonly used substrate for growing mushrooms

G. Senthil Kumaran Senior Scientist, Section of Agricultural Engineering, Indian Institute of Horticultural Research, Bangalore-560089, INDIA

> because of its abundance. The paddy straw mainly composed of carbohydrate components such as hemicelluloses, cellulose, and lignin (Lee, 2004b). The high amount of carbohydrate and other components such as silica and ash makes paddy straw rich in C:N ratio. Several studies have been conducted to cultivate mushroom in different organic wastes Kurtzman (1975) and Park *et al.* (1975) found that the yield on paddy straw was slightly higher than all other wastes used in studies.

> Mushrooms can be cultivated on a wide range of cellulosic materials but it is necessary to avoid the damage produced by pathogens (bacteria, moulds or pests) on mushroom development and yield before substrate is spawned (Diana et al., 2006). Complete removal of competitive fungi Trichoderma harzianum, Coprinus cinereus and Coprinus comatus species which are most commonly found in paddy straw in very much essential. The disinfection method employed should kill only competitive fungi but not the beneficial micro-organisms. This is because the comparative organism not only competes with mycelia growth but they disturb the growth and development of competitive micro-organisms (Apahidean, 2006). Additional benefits such as

faster, better and more uniform mycelium colonization assuring a better resistance against future infections are inclusive. It also makes the substrate more favourable for mushroom mycelium growth. Since sterilization kills both harmful and beneficial micro-organisms it is not ideal method for disinfection (Ouimio et al., 1990). Subsequently, contamination problems with sterilized substrates were reported very often, since maintenance contaminant free growing conditions is arduous. Hence steam or hot water pasteurization of substrate which are traditionally followed from long back are more appropriate method for small scale mushroom growers. Pasteurized substrates are more stable and less susceptible to contamination (Chang and Miles, 2004). By considering these facts it is advised to use pasteurization rather than sterilization.

Pasteurization is an important process that loosens the tensile strength of paddy straw which is utilized by the microbial decomposers. This process also prepares the paddy straw to be easily colonized by mycelia of V. volvacea (Quimio, 1993). If pasteurization is not effective, then all the further processes will be affected right from inoculation/spawning to mushroom yield. Substrate disinfection can be done through several ways such as hot water treatment at different temperatures, hot steam or chemical methods. Amidst confusions among several mushroom growers, pasteurization seems to be the best disinfection method according to results of studies (Saritha and Meera, 2010: Kurtzman, 2010; Oseni et al., 2012). The common method employed pasteurization of paddy straw is





Note: All dimensions are in cm



Cut section

Item no.	Description	Material used
I	Main frame	Mild steel
2	Pasteurizing drum	Stainless steel (Grade 316)
3	Glass wool insulation	Glass wool
4	Compressing unit	Mild Steel
5	Compression plate	Mild steel
6	Removable water bath	Stainless steel (Grade 316)
7	Coil and sensor	Stainless steel
8	Temperature-time controll unit	Galvonised iron
9	Tilting mechanism	Mild steel
10	Gate valve	Stainless steel
11	Steps	Mild steel
12	Plat form	Aluminium

by soaking the paddy straw for 2 to 4 hour in open drum containing water, then boiled for 4 to 5 hour in hot water (Singh, 2006). But it was observed that the time taken for pasteurization is too long due to heat loss, low thermal efficiency in case of open drum and difficulties in handling of hot paddy straw to drain out excess water and cooling. The pasteurized straw has to be spread on mesh or floor to cool it room temperature before spawning and it takes longer time for this operation. Greater risk of contamination was observed due to the corrosive nature of pasteurizing drum itself and also due to long time exposure of pasteurized straw to the open air.

In order to address these drawbacks, a paddy straw pasteurizer was developed with a pasteurizing capacity of 25 kg dry straw per batch which is minimum requirement for any medium sized mushroom growers. The pasteurizing drum was made of stainless steel surface with glass wool insulation, temperaturetime controller with temperature sensor, compressing mechanism, drum tilting mechanism for loading and unloading purposes.

Material and Methods

Description of Paddy Straw Pasteurizer

The paddy straw pasteurizer was developed and fabricated in workshop of Agricultural Engineering Section, Indian Institute of Horticultural Research (IIHR), Bangalore. For pasteurization of paddy straw KRH⁻¹(Karnataka Rice Hybrid) variety was collected from nearest village farmer.

The following factors were considered while developing the paddy straw pasteurizer.

- To pasteurize 25 kg dry straw capacity
- Reducing the quantity of water and total time required for pasteurization

- To obtain optimum thermal efficiency
- To reduce the operation and energy cost
- To get optimum mushroom yield with minimum contamination

Design Features

The paddy straw pasteurizer consists of a straw holding drum, removable base plate in water chamber with heating coils and thermocouple (PT100 type), temperature and time controller, screw compressing unit, tilting mechanism and main frame which can be studied in **Fig. 1**.

Straw Holding Drum

Any medium sized commercial mushroom farm needs to prepare at least 50 kg wet substrate every day. In order to achieve this, 25 kg dry substrate need to be prepared and pasteurized daily. The bulk density of the dry straw was found to be 43.5 kg/m³. The diameter of the drum was assumed as 0.75 m taking into consideration of the width of corridors and doors for its convenient transportability within the mushroom farm.

Volume of the 25 kg straw = 25 kg/bulk density = 0.5747 m^3 Cross sectional area of the drum

with diameter of 0.75 m was,

 $= (\pi d^2/4) = 3.14 \times (0.75^2 / 4) = 0.4415 m^2$

- Height of the straw bed was,
- = volume /area = 0.5747/0.4415 = 1.30 m

The water bath height of 0.15 m and free board above the straw level of 0.10 m were assumed.

The total depth of the drum = Height of straw bed + water bath + free board = 1.08 + 0.17+ 0.10 = 1.25 m

Hence, the dimension of the straw holding drum was,

Diameter = 0.75 m

Total length = 1.25 m

To reduce the heat loss through the side walls and bottom of the pasteurizer drum, 5.0 to 7.5 cm thickness of glass wool was assumed to be the best insulation material (Nandwani, 2005). To avoid heat loss at the top of drum, a stainless steel covering lid was fixed above the compression plate which closes the drum when the compression plate enters inside the drum.

Removable Base Plate in Water Chamber

The chamber depth was assumed as 0.15 m to accommodate two heating coils and sensor with sufficient free space above the coils to avoid the direct contact with the straw base. Considering the availability of the power in the rural areas, electrically operated two heating coils of 3 kW each were fitted in the water bath chamber. The coils can be operated individually or collectively depending on the power availability. It can also act as a standby if any one of the coil fails to function. A stainless steel drainage valve of 2.5 cm was also fitted at the bottom to drain-out excess water after pasteurization.

Temperature and Time Controller

Maintenance of the constant pasteurization temperature for the exact time period manually was problematic. So a suitable automatic temperature and time controller was selected and fitted. The controller unit consists of:

- Contact relay (TC544) that performs functions like PID control with auto tuning, ON-OFF control and heat-cool (with auto tuning).
- Electromagnetic contactor (MNX-50) capable of increasing output load supply (5 A) coming from contact relay to 50 A which is required to operate 6 kW coils.
- Sensor PT100 type made out of stainless steel tube containing PT100 sensing element able to sense temperature from -10 °C to 350 °C and sensor wire is coated with Teflon which can resist temperature up to -10 °C to 350 °C.

Screw Compressing Unit

The volume of the straw bed to be compressed at different levels to study the water and energy saving. Hence, a double helix screw threaded shaft of 3 cm diameter having 6 mm pitch was mounted by providing the handle at top end and compression plate at bottom end with a fly wheel (dead weight of 20 kg) to reduce the force to be applied by the operator during compressing.

Tilting Unit

It was difficult to tilt the loaded drum (50 kilogram moist pasteurized straw and around 45 kilogram of drum weight) for unloading straw and also to handle hot straw by a single operator. A standard double worm reduction gear box with a ratio of 1:30 was attached to one side of drum shaft and frame with suitable cast iron couplings to tilt the drum for required angle for loading and unloading. This facilitates convenient tilting of drum to required angle with simple force of operator to unload the hot pasteurized straw using stainless steel hook directly on perforated tray/mesh for draining excess water and cooling it to room temperature.

Main Frame

The total weight of the pasteurizing drum was around 500 kg at fully loaded and compressed condition so to withstand this heavy weight a rigid and strong base frame was needed, so using mild steel Cchannels main frame was fabricated by restricting the overall length and width of frame to 199 cm \times 92 cm by considering the width of corridors and doors for convenient transportability within the mushroom farm. For operating the compressing unit four platforms having average distance of 35 cm between each other were fitted one above the other on one side of pasteurizer. For easy mobility of machine, four rubberized wheels were fixed at the bottom of the frame.

Operational Procedure

About 25 kilo gram of dry paddy straw (KRH-1 variety) was chopped to average length 2.5-5.0 cm and was filled by hand pressing into the pasteurizer drum. Straw bed thickness was reduced to the required level by operating compression unit. Water was then added until water appears few centimetres just above the top level of the compressed straw bed and allowed for soaking to the required time period. Power supply was switched on and the pasteurizing temperature and time was set in the time-temperature control unit. Once the temperature of water reached 80 °C then the same temperature was maintained for 2 h. Then the gate valve was opened to drain out the water and then handle of screw press was rotated to compress the straw to maximum level so that it helps to drain excess water present in pasteurized straw. The drum was tilted to bring it to the horizontal position by rotating handle of the gear box, hot straw was then directly unloaded on a perforated tray and spread uniformly to cool it to room temperature and also to reduce moisture content around 60 percent before spawning.

Cost Economics

In order to find out the total cost of developed machine and cost incurred in pasteurization of paddy straw were calculated as follows: *Fixed Cost*

ixea Cost

- a. Material cost + Fabrication cost (C) = Rs. 62000 (1171.8 \$)
- b. Salvage value (S) @ 10 % of total cost machine = Rs. 6200 (117.18 \$)

Operational Cost

- a. Annual use (U) = 1800 h per year
- b. Expected life years (L) = 10 years

Fixed cost

D: Depreciation D = (C-S) / UL = Rs. 3.1/h (0.058 /

h)

I: Interest on capital investment @

12 % per annum on average price $I_1 = [(C + S) / 2U)] \times 0.12 = Rs.$ 2.2/h (0.0415 \$/h)

R: Repairs/maintenance cost @ 2 % $R = (C / U) \times 0.02 = Rs. 688/h (13)$

\$/h)

Total fixed cost (D + I + R) = Rs.6.05/h (0.114 \$/h)

Variable cost

Labour cost (1 man required) = 200/day (8h) = Rs. 25/h (3.78 \$) Electricity cost

Pasteurizer coils capacity was 6 kW approximately 5 h 30 min was associated for pasteurization one batch (25 kg dry straw).

Cost per unit of electricity = Rs. 3.4 (0.064 \$)

Therefore, cost of electricity for 6 units = $3.4 \times 6 = Rs. 20.4/h (0.38\$)$

Total variable cost = Rs. 10/h (0.189 \$) Total cost of operation (A) = Total fixed cost + Total variable cost = Rs. 11.8/h (0.223 \$)

Statistical Analysis

MATLAB Version 3.1 (R2011a) was used to preform multi-regression analysis to determine the relationships between straw bed thickness, water quantity and time taken for pasteurization. To determine the most suitable equation, multiple regression analysis for all the parameters was used and straw bed thickness was plotted against water quantity and time of pasteurization.

Results and Discussions

The developed paddy straw pasteurizer had a capacity of 25 kg dry substrate and different view of the machine can be seen through **Figs. 2, 3 & 4**. Its performance was tested for different parameters as seen below. The tests were conducted for pasteurization of paddy straw (KRH⁻¹ variety) after soaking in water overnight (Experiment 1) and also without soaking (Experiment 2) by compressing straw bed into different thickness and pasteurizing for different pasteurization temperature and time combinations. During each test 25 kg chopped dry paddy straw of 2.5-5.0 cm average length were used. In this article the performance of pasteurizer was tested for two experiments at three compressed levels with three different pasteurization temperature and time combination. Since there was no existing paddy straw pasteurizer for comparison of results with conventional method of pasteurization, the straw soaked overnight and pasteurized in same machine at 80 °C for 2 h under loose filled condition (Table 1) was considered as conventional (control)

method. The capacity of pasteurizer was twenty five kilogram (dry straw) for all the treatments.

The results with respect to the pasteurization after soaking overnight and without soaking, different compression levels and pasteurization temperature and time combinations, quantity of water required (1), time taken to reach maximum temperature (h) and total time taken for pasteurization (h) have been presented in **Tables 1** and **2**.

It could be seen from **Table 1** and **2** that the best performance of pasteurizer with lowest operating cost

Fig. 2, 3 & 4 Different view of developed pasteurizer

(1.23 \$) was observed when paddy straw pasteurized at 80 °C for 2 h at maximum compressed level (**Fig. 5c**) in both the experiments. However, pasteurization after soaking is a time and labour consuming process, hence this time and labour can be utilized for further processes.

Effects of straw bed thickness on water requirement and pasteurization time.

The quantity of water required for pasteurization and time taken for pasteurization as effected by compression levels (**Fig. 5a, 5b & 5c**) are given in **Table 1 & 2**. Re-



Fig. 5a Loose filled

Fig. 5b 50% compressed



Fig. 5c Maximum compressed

Observetier	Compression level									
Observation	Loose filling			50 9	50 % compression			Maximum compression		
Quantity of straw (kg)	25	25	25	25	25	25	25	25	25	
Treatments	T_1	T_2	T ₃ (control)	T_1	T_2	T_3	T_1	T_2	T_3	
Pasteurization temperature & duration of pasteurization	60 °C 4 h	70 °C 3 h	80 °C 2 h	60 °C 4 h	70 °C 3 h	80 °C 2 h	60 °C 4 h	70 °C 3 h	80 °C 2 h	
Initial bed thickness of straw (cm)	98	99	97	97	98	98	98	98	99	
Compressed bed thickness of straw (cm)	98	99	97	47	48	48	35	34	35	
Quantity of water added (L)	360	360	360	270	270	270	210	210	210	
Time taken to reach pasteurization temperature (h: min)	3:00	4:15	5:30	2:15	3:30	4:45	2:30	3:00	3:30	
Total pasteurization time (h: min)	7:00	7:15	7:30	6:15	6:30	6:45	6:30	6:00	5:30	
Total operational cost (US \$)	1.57	1.63	1.68	1.40	1.35	1.35	1.46	1.35	1.23	

Table 1 Experiment 1: Pasteurization of paddy straw after soaking

Note: $T_1 = 60 \text{ °C } 4h$, $T_2 = 70 \text{ °C } 3h$ and $T_3 = 80 \text{ °C } 2h$

Control treatment = paddy straw pasteurized after soaking at 80 °C for 2h with loose filled

sults of multi-regression analysis applied to the data (pasteurization with and without soaking) obtained from the present study showed that there was a positive linear relationship between pasteurization time (PT), straw bed thickness (X₁) and quantity of water required(X₂) (r² = 0.8051). From **graph 1 & 2**, it is clearly understood that the pasteurization time declined linearly with decreased straw bed thickness and water quantity (**Table 1 & 2**).

The overall relationship between pasteurization times (PT), straw bed thickness (X_1) and water quantity (X_2) for experiment1 was determined and equation1 was obtained. It was found that 80.51 % of the variation in pasteurization time was explained by straw bed thickness and water quantity.

 $PT = 263.3 + 0.3586 X_1 + 0.3623 X_2.....(1)$ $r^2 = 0.8051$

Similarly, for experiment 2 the overall relationship between pasteurization time (PT), straw bed thickness (X_1) and water quantity (X_2) was determined and **Eq. 2** was obtained. It was found that 80.57 % of the variation regarding to the pasteurization time (PT) was explained by the selected independent variables, namely straw bed thickness

(X₁) and water quantity (X₂).

$$PT = 266.3 + 0.3917 X_1 + 0.3445 X_2 \dots (2)$$

 $r^2 = 0.8057$

The total time taken for pasteurization under loose filled (360 L of water) and 50 % compression (270 L of water) was found to increase linearly with increased temperature both in **experiments 1 & 2**. It was interesting to notice that, when straw pasteurized under maximum compression (210 L of water) the total time taken was found to decrease



the second se



Observation	Compression level									
Observation	Loose filling			50 9	50 % compression			Maximum compression		
Quantity of straw (kg)	25	25	25	25	25	25	25	25	25	
Treatments	T_1	T_2	T_3	T_1	T_2	T_3	T_1	T_2	T_3	
Pasteurization temperature & duration of pasteurization	60 °C 4 h	70 °C 3 h	80 °C 2 h	60 °C 4 h	70 °C 3 h	80 °C 2 h	60 °C 4 h	70 °C 3 h	80 °C 2 h	
Initial bed thickness of straw (cm)	99	98	99	99	98	98	99	98	98	
Compressed bed thickness of straw (cm)	99	98	99	48	47	48	35	34	34	
Quantity of water added (L)	360	360	360	270	270	270	210	210	210	
Time taken to reach pasteurization temperature (h: min)	3:00	4:15	5:30	2:15	3:30	4:45	2:30	3:00	3:30	
Total pasteurization time (h: min)	7:00	7:15	7:30	6:15	6:30	6:45	6:30	6:00	5:30	
Total operational cost (US \$)	1.57	1.63	1.68	1.40	1.35	1.35	1.46	1.35	1.23	

 Table 2 Experiment 2: Pasteurization of un soaked paddy straw

Note: $T_1 = 60$ °C 4h, $T_2 = 70$ °C 3h and $T_3 = 80$ °C 2h

linearly with increased temperature. This was due to the fact that, the come up time to increase the water (360 L & 270 L under loose filled and 50 % compression respectively) temperature from ambient to 60, 70 & 80 °C was high. While under maximum compression the come up time consumed to attain same condition was lesser, since the quantity of water was only 210 L. Hence it was determined that the pasteurization time is directly proportional to water quantity inside the drum during pasteurization. Mata and Gaitan- Hernandez (1995), Sangwan and Saini (1995), Dravininkas (1997), Pani and Das (1998), Jiskani et al. (1999), Bughio (2001), Balakrishna et al. (2001), Hussain et al. (2001) and Bhatti et al. (2007) reported different methods of boiling, pasteurization and fermentation. However the findings were almost similar to findings of present study. It was found that operating cost per batch (25 kg dry straw) of pasteurization decreased linearly from US \$1.68 (conventional/control method) to US \$1.23 with decrease in straw bed thickness and water quantity during pasteurization.

Conclusions

The paddy straw pasteurizer was designed and developed for easy operation, to reduce water and time requirement. Its performance was evaluated for pasteurization of paddy straw after soaking and without soaking at three temperaturetime combinations and compression levels. The best performance was observed when paddy straw compressed and held at maximum compression level (Fig. 5c), 210 litre of water was required for pasteurization of 25 kg dry straw at 80 °C for 2 h and the total pasteurization time taken was 5 h 30 min with a lowest operating cost of US \$1.23. When the present results compared with earlier findings, the growth and production of all three variety of mushrooms obtained was identical like other workers. This is also pertinent to mention here that all the previously reported methods for pasteurization of agricultural wastes are difficult, expensive and complicated. Whereas, the developed machine in present study offers a hygienic, easiest, economical and applicable methodology. Therefore, it is recommended that, the waste material can be pasteurized for obtaining optimal yields of mushroom,

without contamination and other problems faced by mushroom growers.

Acknowledgements

I express my sincere thanks to my supervisor Dr. G. Senthil Kumaran for his constant encouragement and support throughout the project. The financial assistance provided by the Indian Institute of Horticultural Research (IIHR) Bangalore is gratefully acknowledged. And also I acknowledge Dept. of Agri. Engg., University of Agricultural Sciences, Bangalore for providing me opportunity to carry out this project in IIHR.

REFERENCES

- Anonymous. 2010. Ministry of Agriculture, Ministry of External Affairs, Government of India. (http://www.indiabusiness.nic. in/economy/agriculture.html), 1/5/2010.
- Apahidean, Al. S. 2006. Ciuperci cultivate si din flora spontan?, Ed. Academic Pres, Cluj-Napoca.
- Balakrishna, J., N. Earanna, and K. S. Shetty. 2001. Sunflower plant waste can be a new substrate for oyster mushroom production.

Mysore Journal of Agricultural Sciences, 35(3): 203-205.

- Bhatti, M. I., M. M. Jiskani, K. H. Wagan, M. A. Pathan, and M. R. Magsi. 2007. Growth, development and yield of oyster mushroom Pleurotus ostreatus, (Jacq. Ex. Fr.) Kummer as affected by different spawn rates. Pak. J. Bot, 39(7): 2685-2692.
- Bughio. 2001. Yield performance of oyster mushroom, Pleurotus ostreatus (Jac. Ex. Fr.) Kummer on combination of different straws.M. Sc. Thesis, Dept. P. Path., SAU. Tandojam, 69.
- Chang, S. T., and P. G. Miles, 2004. Mushrooms: Cultivation, Nutritional Value, Medicinal Effects, and Environmental Impact, Second Edition. CRC Press LLC, Boca Raton, FL. 1451.
- Diana, F., D. Indrea, A. S. Apahidean, M. Apahidean, R. Pop, Z. Moldovan, D. Măniu Ńiu, R. Ganea, and I. Paven. 2006. Importance of substrate disinfection on Oyster mushroom (Pleurotus sp.) culture. Not. Bot. Hort. Agrobot. Cluj., 34: 1-6.
- Dravininkas, A. 1997. Investigation of the technological parameters of Pleurotus cultivation. Zemes Ukio Inzinerija, Mokslo Darbai. 29(1): 73-86.
- Hussain, M., S. M. Khan, and M. A. Chohan. 2001. Effect of different sterilization method on the production of oyster mushroom (Pleurotus Ostreatus) on different substrates. Integrated plant disease management. Proceeding of 3rd National Conference of plant pathology, NARC, Islamabad, 159-160.
- Jiskani, M. M., M. A. Pathan, and K. H. Wagan. 1999. Yield performance of oyster mushroom, Pleurotus florida (strain Pk-401) on different substrate, Pak. J. Agri., Agri. Engg., Vet. Sc. 15(2): 26-29.
- Kurtzman, R. H. Jr. 2010. Pasteurization of mushroom substrate and other solids. African Journal of Environmental Science and Tech-

nology, 4(13): 936-941.

- Kurtzman, R. H. Jr. 1975. Mushrooms as a source of food protein, In: M. Friedman, Ed. Protein Nutritional Quality of Foods and Feeds, Part 2. Marcel Dekker, New York, 305-318.
- Lee, E., X. Sun, and G. S. Karr. 2004. Adhesive properties of modified soybean flour in wheat straw particleboard. Composites: Part A, 35: 297-302.
- Mata, G. and R. Gaitan-Hernandez. 1995. Pleurotus cultivation on sugarcane leaves. Revista- Mexicana de micologia, 11, 17-22.
- Nandwani Shyam, S. 2005. Design and study of hybrid solar cooker, pasteurizer, till and dryer in the climate of Costa Rica. ISESCO Science and technology vision, 1, 6-9.
- Oseni, T. O., S. O. Dlamini, D. M. Earnshaw, and M. T. Masarirambi. 2012. Effect of substrate pretreatment methods on oyster mushroom (Pleurotus ostreatus) production. Int. J. Agric. Biol, 14, 251-255.
- Pani, B. K. and S. R. Das. 1998. Effect of pre-treatment of substrate on the yield of oyster mushroom Pleurotus sajor-caju (Fr.Singer). Journal of Mycopathological Research, 36(2): 113-114.
- Park, Y. N., S. J. Go, and D. S. Kim. 1975. Studies on cultivation of oyster mushroom (P. ostreatus) using rice straw as substrate. Research report of the office of Rural Development, Soil Science, Fertilizer, Plant Protection and Mycology, 17, 103-107.
- Quimio, T. H. 1993. Indoor cultivation of the straw mushroom, Volvariella volvacea. Mushroom Research, 2(2): 87-90.
- Quimio, T. H., S. T. Chang, and D. J. Royse. 1990. Technical Guidelines for Mushroom Growing in the Tropics, p: 154. FAO, Plant Production and Protection, paper No 106. Rome, Italy.
- Sangwan, M. S., and L. C. Saini. 1995. Cultivation of Pleurotus

sajor-caju (Fr.) Singer on agroindustrial wastes. Mushroom-Research, 4(1): 33-34.

- Saritha, B. and Meera Pandey. 2010. Evaluation of Alternate Substrate Pasteurization Techniques for Culinary-Medicinal White Oyster Mushroom, Pleurotus ostreatus var. florida (Agaricomycetideae) Cultivation. Intl J. Med Mushr, 12(3): 100.
- Singh, N. P. 2006. Mushroom cultivation, a noble way to use waste materials for food production. ICAR research complex for NEH region, Lembucherra, Tripura (west).

Processing Non-Conventional Forages via Baling Crop Residues

by A. F. Abdoh Agriculture Engineer Research Institute, EGYPT



Said Elshahat Abdallah Associate Professor Department of Agricultural Engineering Faculty of Agriculture, Kafrelsheikh University Kafr Elsheikh 33516, EGYPT saidelshahat@agr.kfs.edu.eg

Abstract

Selection of balers for a particular application is largely a decision based on what is available and the types of balers currently used widely. Some very recent developments in baling technology are highlighted. An investigation of the possible use of pickup baler was carried out, in order to approach zero-waste from rice and wheat straw. This research is aimed at proposing and testing an alternative method for producing non-conventional forages via chopping and compressing crop residues. There is a huge nutritional gap between the number of animal heads and the available quantity of forages, in Egypt. Therefore, the essential aim of the current study was to develop a John Deere pickup baler for chopping and compressing rice and wheat straw for processing non-conventional forages. This study was conducted by using a developed John Deere pickup baler to investigate the influence of rice and wheat straw moisture contents of (36, 30, 24 and 16 % w.b.) and (28, 25, 22 and 18 % w.b.) respectively, baler forward speeds of (1.8, 2.3, 3.5 and 4.4 km/h) and knives speeds of (18, 20, 23, and 26 m/ s) on the cut lengths, efficiency of straw bales, effective field capacity, energy requirements and unit cost.

The results illustrated that increasing baler forward speed from 1.8 to 4.4 km/h at knives speed of 26 m/ s and rice straw moisture content of 30 %, wheat straw of 25 % w.b. tends to decrease the cut lengths of rice straw from 63 to 32 mm and from 60 to 28 mm of wheat straw, increasing the effective field capacity from 0.61 to 1.14 and from 0.655 to 1.4 fed/h respectively, decreasing energy requirements from 60.65 to 32.457 and from 56.92 to 26.42 kWh/fed respectively and decreasing unit cost from 87.06 to 46.58 and from 81.7 to 37.93 LE/ fed respectively. Furthermore rice straw moisture content of 36 % w.b. and 28 % w.b. wheat straw gave the highest values of chopping length, efficiency of straw bales, energy requirements and unit cost at forward speed of 1.8 km/h and knives speed of 18 m/s.

Introduction

In Egypt, there are about two million feddans cultivated with rice each year and 2-3 million feddans cultivated with wheat each year. This produces about 5-6 million tones of rice straw and 6-7 million tones of wheat straw. Due to the lack of fodder crops and concentrates for feeding farm animals, nutritionist thought about the nutritive values of crops residues and the possibility of using it for feeding animals as it is, or after improving its nutritive values either physically, chemically or biologically. One of these crops, which give very huge amount of residues, is rice and wheat straw. However, theses residues are not safe to be used as such, and feeding considerable amounts of it in the fresh form is not advisable. Baling of rice and wheat straw may be help for solving some of the problems of animal feeding and minimize such problems of disposal and pollution at least in Kafr Elsheikh province. It may offer a significant reduction in feed cost and minimize the requirements for expensive concentrate mixture. In Egypt, the locally produced forage quantity is not sufficient for feeding the livestock population; the thing which led to a forage gap in the feeding process. There is a gap between the available quantity of green forage and the required amount of animal feed. The gap between the availability and requirement of feed is wide and the estimated shortage is 3.1 million tons of total digestible nutrients per year. The forage gap or the feed shortage has been partially narrowed to become 2.42 million tons because of using new forage resources (Agricultural Magazine,

2011). Given the importance of agricultural residues in contributing to animal feeding, especially waste rice and wheat straw. They face shortage of fodder crops and enter into combinations of animal feed and poultry manufacturers but with the use of combine harvesting machines and pickup balers, rice and wheat straw, sticks, straw, wheat stalks are long and hard on animals food it by this way or take advantage of them and the farmer collected and re-threshing again to suit the food animal and this increases the costs of the operation or the burning of such waste in the field, and especially rice straw. This is one of the most important reasons of the current in the pollution of the environment because farmers have to dispose of crop residues in order to speed evacuation of the earth and cultivation of the next crop. Therefore, the idea of this research is to benefit from such residues by means of an amendment to the pickup baler John Deere to the process frame for these residues after taken from the field, composting, in bales, and this process, the benefit can be maximized for the pickup baler a satellite to increase the number of operating hours to be used in more than one crop and reduce the costs required to process and store these bales in less space with the use time of need throughout the year. (El-Danasory and Imbabi, 1998) studied the mechanical pickup and packing of wheat straw after harvesting with combine. Results indicated that baler capacity was affected by straw mass yield and forward speed. Baler losses were decreased by decreasing forward speed and period after harvesting. They also stated that the cost of using baler to pick up baling straw was less than the half cost of manual method. (Abdallah, 2010) enhanced the thermal efficiency of the greenhouse type solar drier and modify its design to be suitable for drying crop residues. The performance of solar drier during

hay making process was characterized. The developed drier could be will utilized in the domestic sector. and small and marginal farmers can also derive benefit from it. (Tarek et al., 2001) developed a rice straw chopper. Their results showed that the productivity of the developed prototype was 0.95 ton/h at 2000 rpm rotor speed and cut length of (1-9 cm) reached 95.235 from the total amount of cut residue. (Abd El-Mottaleb. 2002) found that the pick up baler requires minimum values of fuel, power and energy of 7.5 L/ fed., 13.8 kW and 20.3 kWh/fed of rice straw respectively. While the maximum values were noticed with the use of both round baler 14 lit/ fed. 27 kWand 38 kW.h/fed of rice straw and stationary baler 28 lit/ fed, 19 kW and 76 kWh/fed of rice straw. (El-Eraqi et al., 2003; Imbabi, 2003 and Kamel et al., 2003) indicated that the cutting length of crop residues is decreased by increasing feeding rate, cutter head drum speed, cutting knives number and decreasing the clearance between fixed and rotary knives. (Prasad and Gupta, 2005) stated that a knife approach angle of 32 degree was observed to be optimum corresponding to minimum value of energy requirements for cutting maize stalk. (Ebaid, 2006) used corn sheller for chopping cotton and corn stalks. He mentioned that the cutting length category percentage at these conditions was 63 and 45.4 % in cut length of less than 3.35 cm for corn and cotton stalk residues, respectively. It was found that the chop operation cost was estimated at 13.33 LE/ton and 20 LE/ton for cutting corn and cotton stalk residues, respectively. (Metwally et al., 2006) developed and evaluate technically and economically the feeding and cutting mechanisms of chopping machine to be used for cutting the different crop residuals and pruning the fruit tree branches. They mentioned that increasing both feeding and cutting speeds tended to increase the actual capacities of chopping machine. The actual capacity of developed chopping machine increased by 28.6 % when the cutting speed increased from 0.75 to 1.88 m/s, while it decreased by 52.05 % as a result to decrease the feeding speed from 1.22 to 0.28 m/s with the cutting knife of serrated edge shape. (Arfa, 2007) modified the stationary thresher machine to become suitable for chopping and cutting farm crop residues. Oval the slops area of 4 cm² drum speeds of 18.33 m/ s. feeding rates of 1.5 ton/h, moisture content of 14.3 % and concave clearance of 3 cm, resulting in cutting length percentage of 82.1, 85.6 and 80.1 % less than 3.5 cm for rice straw, corn stalks and cotton stalks. respectively. Energy requirement were found to be 29.9, 27.3 and 25.8 kWh/ton for rice straw, corn stalks and cotton stalks. The maximum operation cost was 25 LE/h and 17 LE/ton for rice straw.

Materials and Method

The experimental work was carried out during season 2011-2012 at Elmorabein village, Kafr Elsheikh governorate. A John Deere pickup baler was developed and some components were essentially modified for cutting and baling hay rice and wheat straw and the rest of agricultural wastes to suit the animal feed. Amendments were achieved by the following procedures:

- Modifying the worm gears in nutrition from the right side by removing part of the spiral auger by 70 cm length with the addition of four beams which evenly distributed on the perimeter and are cut by knives as show in **Fig. 1**.
- Adding a casual fixed number two down the upper part and a length of 70 cm mounted with knives, cut with knives, overlapping the top, through which chopping a good agricultural waste from rice and wheat straw in succession.

- Adding the wave to enter the straw knives, hand pieces first before pressing the bales.
- The possibility of taking into account the work of this amendment with a satellite the other pistons to maximize the benefit from this idea. The obtained windrows of rice straw was Giza-177 variety after harvesting rice by a Japanese combine harvester (2.1 m operating width) were used. John Deere pickup baler was powered by a 65 hp (48.5 kW) Nasr tractor.

Equipment:

The John Deere pickup baler was mounted on a 65 hp NASR tractor for the whole experimental work in the present study. The main components of the John Deere pickup baler are shown in Figure 1 and technical specifications are listed in **Table 1**.

Measurements:

The following items were measured during evaluating the pickup baler John Deere under the studied parameters:

Theoretical and Actual Cut Lengths

The theoretical cut length, Lth was calculated using the following equation according to Srivastava *et al.*, 1995.

 $L_{th} = 60000 V_f / \eta_c \lambda_k, mm \dots (1)$

Where; V_f is the feed velocity, m/s (equivalent to the peripheral speed of feeding rolls); η_c is the cutter head rotational speed, rpm and λ_k is the number of knives on the cutter head.

After each chopping treatment, random samples (1 kg each) were taken from chopped material at the laboratory and separated to determine the actual mean of cutting length (L_{ac}). Each cutting length in the sample was weighed and calculated as a percentage in proportional to the total mass of the sample.

Effective Field Capacity

The effective field capacity (FC_E) was calculated by using the formula of Kepner *et al.*, 1982.

 $FC_E = 1/T....(2)$

Where; FC_E is the effective field capacity, fed/h; T is the total time (t + $t_1 + t_2 + t_3 + \dots$); t is the theoretical time; $t_1 + t_2 + t_3$ are the total time lost during operation; t_1 is the time lost for turning ; t_2 is the time lost for repining and t_3 is the time lost for adjusting the baler.

John Deere Pickup Baler Efficiency:

The John Deere pickup baler efficiency (E_c) was calculated by using the following formula:

$$E_{c} = \frac{(T.n.b - N.b.l)}{T.n.b} \times 100$$
(3)

Where; T.n.b is the total number of bales per feddan and N.b.l is the number of bales looses per feddan.

Required Power:

Energy requirements were estimated by using the formula of Embaby, 1985.

 $E_{p} = [F_{c} \times (1/3600)] \rho_{F} \times L.C.V. \\ \times 427 \times \eta_{th} \times \eta_{m} \times (1/75) \times (1/1.36) \dots (4)$

Where; E_p is the power required, kW; F_c is the fuel consumption, L/ h; ρ_F is the density of fuel, 0.85kg/ L; L.C.V is the lower calorific value of fuel, 10000 kcal/kg; η_{th} is the thermal efficiency of engine, 35 % for diesel engine; 427 is the thermo –mechanical equivalent, kg.m/kcal

Table 1	Technical specifications of the	
John D	eere pickup baler (Model 338)	

Item	Specifications
Bale size	
Height \times width, cm	36×46
Adjustable length, cm	30.5 to 127
Pickup	
Pickup width, cm	187.9
Tooth Bars/Teeth	6bars/156 teeth
Auger	
Diameter, cm	41
Length, cm	154.9
Plunger	
Strokes/minute	80
Stroke length, cm	76.2
Baler Dimensions	
Length/long tongue, cm	576.5
Width, cm	274.3
Height, cm	170.2
Mass (empty), kg	1272
Tractor Requirements	
Speed P.T.O., rpm	540
Minimum P.T.O., hp	35

Fig. 1 Plan view of pick up baler

000000 000000 6 JUITUI The part after amendment 10.1000.010.000.000000 2 1 side view The part by amendment Part name Part no Auger Pick up Bale chamber Ram (piston) Tires String Knife cutting straw Plate Concave Casual iron mounted with cutting knives

and η_m is the mechanical efficiency of engine, 80 % for diesel engine. *Energy requirement for baling*

Energy requirement was calcu-

lated using the following Eq.: Energy requirement (kWh/fed) = (Baling power, kW / Acual field capacity, fed/h)(5)

Estimation of Baling Cost:

The total hourly cost of baling rice straw and stalks of wheat using the John Deere Pickup Baler could be estimated by the following equation according to EL- Awady, 1978 as follows:

 $C = (p/h) [1/L + i/2 + \alpha + r] +$

 $(0.9w \times f \times u) + b$ (6) Where; C is the cost per hour of operation, L.E/h; P is the estimated price of the baler; 40000 L.E. for chopper machine and price of the tractor, 75000 L.E.; h is the estimated yearly –operating hours 1440 h (6 months ×* 30 days ×* 8 hours); L is the life expectancy of the machine, 10 years; I is the annual interest rate, 12 %; α is the annual taxes and overheads, 0.03 %; r is the annual repair and maintenance rate, 10 %; 1.2 is the correction factor for rated load ratio and lubrication; w is the engine power, 65 hp; f is the specific fuel consumption, 0.25 L/hp.h ; b is the monthly salaries, 500 L.E.; 144 is the estimated working hour's per month and u is the fuel price, 1.25 L.E/L.

Cost of Using Shredder:

 $C_1 = 9.44$ L.E./h. and the cost of using common tractor;

 $C_2 = 43.67$ L.E./h. and the total operating cost = $C_1 + C_2 = 9.44 + 43.67 = 53.11$ L.E./h.

Results and Discussion

Length of Cut:

Results of cutting length of rice and wheat straw as affected by different variables were illustrated in Figs. 2 and 3. It is obvious that, increasing the baler forward speed from 1.8 to 4.4 km/h, at moisture content of 36 and 28 % w.b. and knives speed of 26 m/s tends to decrease the cut lengths from 7.4 to 3.6 cm and 6.7 to 3.1 cm during baling rice and wheat straw respectively. Generally, the highest value of lengths cut of 9.8 and 8.0cm was obtained at 1.8 km/h forward speed, 18m/s knives speed and moisture content of 36 and 28 % for rice and wheat straw, respectively. While the lowest value of 2.72 and 2.0 cm was obtained at 4.4 km/h forward speed, 26 m/s knives speed and moisture

Fig. 2 Effect of knives speed of choppiong lengths of rice straw at different forward speeds and moisture contents Pickup baler forward speed -A-1.8 Fig. 3 Effect of knives speed of choppiong lengths of wheat straw at different forward speeds and moisture contents

Fig. 4 Effect of knives speed on the efficiency of rice straw bales at different forward speeds and moisture contents Fig. 5 Effect of knives speed on the efficiency of wheat straw at different forward speeds and moisture contents



content of 16 and 18 % w.b. for rice and wheat straw, respectively.

Efficiency of Straw Bales:

Results of straw bales efficiency for rice and wheat straw as affected by different investigated variables are illustrated in Figs. 4 and 5. It is obvious that, increasing the baler forward speed from 1.8 to 4.4 km/ h, at moisture content of 36 and 28 % w.b. and knives speed of 26 m/ s, tends to decrease the straw bales efficiency from 90.1 to 87.2 and 87.5 to 82.8 % during baling rice and wheat straw, respectively. Generally, the highest values of straw bales efficiency of 92.0 and 89.7 % were obtained at 1.8 km/h forward speed, 18 m/s knives speed and moisture content of 36 and 28 % w.b. for rice and wheat straw, respectively. While the lowest values of 85.6 and

79.9 % were obtained at 4.4 km/h forward speed, 26 m/s knives speed and moisture content of 16 and 18 % w.b. for rice and wheat straw, respectively.

Chopping Length and Effective Field Capacity:

Results of chopping length and effective field capacity of rice and wheat straw as affected by different variables are shown in Figs. 6 and 7. It is clear that, increasing the baler forward speed from 1.8 to 4.4 km/ h. at moisture content of 16 and 18 % w.b. and knives speed of 26 m/s, tends to increase the effective field capacity from 0.63 to 1.16 and 0.66 to 1.41 fed/h during baling rice and wheat straw, respectively. Generally, the highest value of effective field capacity of 1.16 and 1.41 fed/h was obtained at 4.4 km/h forward speed, 26 m/s knives speed and moisture content of 16 and 18 % with rice and wheat straw, respectively. While the lowest value of 0.585 and 0.636 fed/ h was obtained at 1.8 km/h forward speed, 18 m/s knives speed and moisture content of 36 and 28 % for rice and wheat straw, respectively.

Energy Requirements:

Results of energy requirements of rice and wheat straw as affected by different variables are depicted in Figs. 8 and 9. It is revealed that, increasing the baler forward speed from 1.8 to 4.4 km/h, at moisture content of 24 and 22 % w.b. and knives speed of 26 m/s, tends to decrease the energy requirements from 59.67 to 32.17 and from 56.48 to 26.33 kWh/fed, during baling rice and wheat straw, respectively. Generally, the highest values of energy

Fig. 6 Effect of knives speed on Fig. 7 Effect of knives speed on Fig. 8 Effect of knives speed the effective field capacity at different forward speeds and moisture contents of rice straw

the effective field capacity at different forward speeds and

on the required energy at different forward speeds and moisture contents of wheat straw moisture contents of rice straw

Fig. 9 Effect of knives speed on the required energy at different forward speeds and moisture contents of wheat straw



requirements of 63.24 and 58.17 kWh/fed were obtained at 1.8 km/h forward speed, 18 m/s knives speed and moisture content of 36 and 28 % for rice and wheat straw, respectively. While the lowest values of 31.89 and 26.24 kWh/fed were obtained at 4.4 km/h forward speed, 26 m/s knives speed and moisture content of 16 and 18 % for rice and wheat straw, respectively.

Unit Cost:

Results of unit cost for rice and wheat straw as affected by different variables are shown in **Figs. 10** and **11**. It is clear that, increasing the baler forward speed from 1.8 to 4.4 km/h, at moisture content of 36 and 28 % w.b. and knives speed of 26 m/s, tends to decrease the unit cost from 88.51 to 47.0 and from 82.34 to 38.07 L.E./fed during baling





rice and wheat straw, respectively. Generally, the highest value of unit cost of 90.87 and 83.5 L.E./fed was obtained at 1.8 km/h forward speed, 18 m/s knives speed and moisture content of 36 and 28 % for rice and wheat straw, respectively. While the lowest value of 45.78 and 37.66 L.E./fed was obtained at 4.4 km/h forward speed, 26 m/s knives speed and moisture content of 16 and 18 % for rice and wheat straw, respectively.

Conclusions

From the abovementioned results, the following conclusions could be derived:

The amount of small cutting lengths increased as the knives and forward speed were increased. While

Fig. 11 Effect of knives speed on the total cost at different forward speeds and moisture contents of wheat straw



by decreasing the percentage of straw small lengths, an increase of moisture content with rice and wheat straw was occurred, respectively.

- The percentage of straw bales efficiency decreased as the knives and forward speed were increased. While by decreasing the percentage of straw bales efficiency, a decrease of moisture content with rice and wheat straw was occurred, respectively.
- The effective field capacity decreased as the knives and forward speed were decreased. While by increasing the percentage of effective field capacity, a decrease of moisture content with rice and wheat straw was occurred, respectively.
- Energy consumed was increased by increasing moisture content, decreasing knives and forward speeds for both rice and wheat straw.
- Value of unit cost decreased as the knives and forward speed were increased. While by decreasing the value of unit cost, a decrease of moisture content with rice and wheat straw was occurred, respectively.

REFERENCES

- Abdallah, Said Elshahat. 2010. Thermal efficiency enhancement of a solar drier for hay making from sugar beet tops. AMA-Agricultural Mechanization in Asia Africa and Latin America, 41(4): 87-98.
- Abd El-Mottaleb, A. F. 2002. Comparative study between pick up, stationary and round balers. Misr J. Ag. Eng., 19(1): 23-39.
- Agricultural Magazine, 2011. The scientific face to the black cloud towards best. investment of the agricultural residues. Dec., 55(490): 17-20.
- Arfa, G. K. 2007. Sub dual of stationary thresher machine for

chopping residues. Misr J. Ag. Eng., 24(3): 504-521.

- Ebaid, M. T. 2006. Possibility of utilization corn sheller for chopping cotton and corn stalks. J. Ag. Sci. Mansoura Univ., 31(7): 121-130.
- El-Awady, M. N. 1978. Engineering of tractors and agricultural machinery, text. Bk., Col. Agric. Ain-Shams Univ.
- El-Danasory, M. M. and A. T. Imbabi. 1998. Study on mechanical and manual pick up and baling of wheat straw after harvesting with combine. Misr J. Ag. Eng., 15(2): 246-258.
- El-Eraqi, M. and S. El-Khawaga. 2003. Design and test performance of cutting machine for hine for some crop resides (a). Misr J. Ag. Eng., Jan. 2003: 85-101.
- El-Khateeb, H. A. 1991. A study on cutting and chopping cotton stalks by mowing machines. Unpublished M. Sc. Thesis, Ag. Eng. Dept., Fac. of Ag., Tanta Univ.
- El-Khateeb, H. A. 2001. Performance evaluation of using rotary mower in cutting and chopping of corn stalks. Misr J. Ag. Eng., 18(3): 461-474.
- Embaby, A. T. 1985. A comparison of the different mechanization systems of cereal crop production. Unpublished M. Sc. Thesis Ag. Eng., Cairo Univ.
- Kepner, R. A., R. Bainer, and E. I. Barger. 1982. Principles of farm machinery. Handbook, 3rd. ed. CBS publisher, Distributors, India,: 464-468.
- Metwally, M. A., I. F. Sayed-Ahmed, N. El-Desoukey, and A. B. El-Nagar. 2006. Development of a chopping machine for agricultural residual (A case study on grape trashes). J. Agric. Sci. Mansoura Univ., 31(50): 2943-2955.
- Prasad, T. and C. P. Gupta. 2005. Mechanical properties of maize stalk as related to harvesting. J. Agric. Engng. Res., 20 (1): 79-87.
- Srivastava, A. K.; C. E. Goering, and R. P. Rohrbach. 1995. Engineering principles of agricultural

machines. Hay and forage harvesting ASAE Text book Number 6 published by the ASAE Pamela Dover-Hansen, Editor.

Tarek, H. M., S. Younis, M. Ghnimy, and M. Baiomy. 2001. Development of rice straw chopper. Misr J. Ag. Eng., 18 (4): 173-184.

Energy Requirement for Irrigation Pumps in Allahabad District, Uttar Pradesh (INDIA)

by

Sanjay Kumar Senior research fallow WZ-276 F/1A Inderuri New Delhi-110012 INDIA skabir_323@rediffmail.com M. P. Chandra Senior instructor utter pradesh development office INDIA

Abstract

A survey was conducted in six blocks of Allahabad district on assessment of energy requirement for irrigation pumps. Around 26 villages of six blocks have been covered. The survey revealed that the pump sets of 8 to 12 hp which was much higher than their requirement of 3 to 7 hp for irrigation. The energy requirement for each block was much higher than the actual energy required. The survey revealed that pumping system adopted by the farmers were inefficient and consume more energy at the field level. The overall results shows that awareness among the farmers about the huge energy wastage should be given that will help them in selection of proper size of irrigation pump sets.

Introduction

The heart of most irrigation systems is a pump. To make an irrigation system as efficient as possible, the pump must be selected to match the requirements of the water source, the water piping system and the irrigation equipment. Pumps used for irrigation include centrifugal, deep well turbine and submersible in this region. The energy required to pump irrigation water for crop production is measured in terms of fuel use or electric power use. Energy use depends on the amount of water pumped and on the fuel or electric power required to pump each unit of water. Before selection an irrigation pumps, a careful and complete inventory of the conditions under which the pump will operate must take place. The inventory must include:

- 1. The source of water (well, river, pond, etc.)
- 2. The required pumping flow rate
- 3. The total suction head
- 4. The total dynamic head

Ex- PG Scholars, Allahabad Agricultural Institute-Deemed University, Allahabad (U. P.)

There usually is no choice when it comes to the source of the water; it is either surface water or well, water and availability will be determined by the local geology and hydrologic conditions. However, the flow rate and total dynamic head will be determined by the type of irrigation system, the distance from the water source and the size of the piping system.

In India, 178 m ha out of 328 m ha total geological area is under cultivation. Creation of irrigation facilities are the basic need for development of agriculture and creation of employment opportunities in rural areas. Out of the 139 m ha ultimate irrigation potential, 82 m ha has been utilized for irrigation through major, medium and minor irrigation projects. Centrifugal pump sets are the most commonly used water lifting device for irrigation purpose (Taneja et al., 1986). There were about 8.7 million diesel pump sets and 15 million electric pump sets at the end of 2002. More then 70 percent are of centrifugal type among them. The energy used for irrigation is quite significant, approximate estimate indicate that ground water pumping requires more then 16×109 kWh of electricity and about 2000 million liters of diesel oil annually. After 1951, the average annual growth rate of diesel pump sets are 0.13 million whereas the electric pump sets has 0.25 million growth rate. It was estimated that 23.7 million pump sets consumed about 60.90 billion kWh of electricity and 6 billion liters of diesel. It was observed that about 90 percent of electric and diesel pump sets owned by the farmers were in the last three category of energy consumption indicating huge wastage of energy in the agricultural pump sets (Patel, 1999). It has been estimated that the overall efficiency of irrigation pump sets are 12.7 % for diesel operated and 325 for electric pump sets. Energy consumption in the existing pump sets is high due to low system efficiency. Larson and fegmeir (1978) analyzed the energy input in irrigation crops production and reported that irrigation requirement maximum energy of 73.7 percent with ground water source and 13.4 percent surface water supplied. Singh and Mittal (1985) investigated and reported the energy requirements for cultivation of major crops in Panjab. Irrigation was observed to conserve maximum energy in all crops. Singh et al. (1997) investigated the energy requirement for production of rice crop in different state of country. It was observed that the energy requirement 7,777 MJ/ ha for Madhya Pradesh to 103,104 MJ/ ha for Tamil Nadu the variation in energy requirements in different states could be attributed mainly to irrigation requirements and quantity of fertilizer applied. About 90 % of total energy required in rice cultivation in Tamil Nadu was through electricity used in irrigation however, in the Panjab, rice cultivation requirement 32,892 MJ/ ha of energy and nearly 50 % of it was used for irrigation and about 30 % through fertilizer and chemicals. Rice cultivation required 8,645 MJ/ha to 17,427 MJ/ha energy in West Bangal, 12,658 MJ/ha in Utter Pradesh and 8,784 to 11,330 MJ/ha in Orissa. In the same studies it was father investigated that the energy requirements for wheat crop, the total energy input ware 18,881 MJ/ha Panjab 84,496 MJ/ha in Madhya Pradesh, 14,000 MJ/ha in West Bengal and 17,482 MJ/ha in Utter Pradesh the variation in energy input was due to variation fertilizer input depending upon the availability and purchasing power of farmers. Ramachandra and Nagarathna (2001) found that water and the associated average daily energy requirement depend on the area irrigated, type of crop, sources of water, total period of irrigation and irrigation efficiency.

Materials and Methods

The survey was conducted from 26 villages fewer than six blocks of Allahabad district on assessment of energy requirement for irrigation pumps. And collected detailed information related to work from farmers of the villages like Name of farmers, Name of Block, Name of Village, size of holding, type of pump used by farmers (fuel pump/ energy pump) and pump hp etc. and calculated required parameters.

Depth of Irrigation

The depth of irrigation is calculated on the basis of available moisture holding capacity of the soil in the crop root zone in its different layers and the soil moisture extraction pattern of the crop in its root depth.

Net irrigation depth (NID) = Aw $\times 0.5$ (Considering 50 % of moisture depletion) Where

Aw: Available soil water NID: Net irrigation depth (cm)

Discharge Capacity of Pump Based on Crop Requirement

The pump discharge should meet the peak demand of water for the selected cropping pattern. The rate of pumping depends on the area under different crops, the water requirement of the crops, rotation period and the duration the pump is operated each day.

Irrigation Interval

The well yield utilization pattern was estimated based on operating hours of pumps, area to irrigated, type of crop grown and soil parameter by the formula,

 $q = (27.78 \times A) / (H \times I)$

Where

q: Discharge rate (lps)A: Area irrigated (ha)D: depth of irrigationI: Irrigation interval (days)H: Pump operating hours (h/day)

Water Horse Power (Whp)

Water horse power is calculated by formula given below $WHP = (q \times H) / (75 \times 0.5)$ Where q = Discharge rate (lps)H = Total head (m)

System Efficiency

The system efficiency is calculated by formula given below $\eta = (WHP \times 100) / IHP$ Where $\eta =$ System efficiency IHP = Input horse power (hp)

Energy Index

Energy index is defined as consumption of electricity or diesel per unit of irrigation work for an ideal or desired level of electrical consumption in an efficient pumping system. Energy index of the pump sets was calculated by using the **Eqn.**

 $EI = 27.78P / (q \times H)$ Where EI = Energy indexq = Discharge rate 1/sH = Total head, mP = Power consumption, kW

Result and Discussion

Classification of Farmer According to Land Holding

The area to be surveyed was divided according to land holding. It is shows in **Table 1** that farmers

Table 1	Category	of farmers	according to	land holding
	Caregory	01 1001010	according to	i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i

			0	0
Serial no.	Land holding (ha)	Category	No. of farmers	percentage
1.	< 1	Marginal	7	7.4
2.	1-2	Small	17	17.89
3.	2-4	Medium	52	54.74
4.	> 4	Large	21	22.10

having < 1, 1-2, 2-4, and > 4 hectare land holding was categorized as marginal, small, medium and large farmers.

Cropping Pattern

The maximum discharge which the farmer needs was computed, knowing the cropping pattern adopted by him. It was observed that paddy was the major crop during Kharif season following wheat in the Rabi season. The other crops taken during kharif season were maize and sorghum while mustard, pea, potato and gram are taken in Rabi season.

Power Consumption of Pumps

The power consumption of the pumps for six blocks was evaluated comparing between required hp and Utilized hp for various blocks of Allahabad district. The tabular representation of results in shown in appendix **Table 2**. A clearly indicated that the variation between the average required power and average utilized power is maximum.

System Efficiency of Pump Sets

The number of farmers of each block according to system efficiency is shown in **Table 2** it was observed that for Jasra and Karchhana block had more number of farmers in the range of 30-50 %. It showed that there was more energy loss in pump sets in this area. The number of farmers having system efficiency range 50-70 % was more in Shankargarh and Chaka block. It showed that proper adoption of required hp pump sets would decrease the wastage of energy. The number of farmer having system efficiency within range of 70-90 % was more in Chaka block.

Energy Requirement for Irrigation Based on the Pumps

The energy requirement for irrigation for various blocks was also estimated based on the pumps. The calculation was done with the information i.e. discharge, WHP of pump, crop grown and available area. The energy utilization for irrigation for all blocks was higher than the actual energy used for irrigation. The tabular representation showed that the energy utilization for irrigation. It showed that the difference was lowest in Chaka block (165,508.672 MJ/ha) whereas Meja block have the highest variation in energy i.e. 415,114.995 MJ/ha. The higher energy utilization is due to lack of technical knowledge in irrigation. Farmers can reduced this excess energy by adopting the scientific approaches of water application as irrigation scheduling (crop water requirement approach, pan evaporation replenishment, soil moisture deficit etc.) and pressurized irrigation system as drip, micro-sprinkler, etc.

Energy Index of Various Blocks

Energy index of various blocks was estimated based on pumps. The calculation of energy index included discharge, pumps power and head of the established pumps. The statically data present in appendix **Table** 2, showed that the energy index was maximum in Jasra block as compared to other blocks. The energy index ranged from 0.9 to 1.5 for Chaka and Koraon block, while other blocks have EI more than 1.5. The rectification measure in agriculture pumping system can result in reduction in energy index and increase in system efficiency for other blocks.

Conclusions

It was concluded that maximum percentage i.e. about 54.74 % of medium farmer had 2-4 hectare land holding. Paddy was the major crop during Kharif season following wheat in the Rabi season. It leads to the conclusion that the pumping system adopted by the farmers was inefficient and consumed more energy at the field level. It necessiaties for the development of energy efficient pumping system as a model by combination of the standard components in irrigation pumps and their subsequent testing and evaluation. Proper extension work is needed to help the farmers in selection of pump size, suitable for their land size and cropping pattern.

REFERENCES

Hossain, M. D., M. D. Hussain, R. L. Sarket, and M. E. Haque. 2000. Energy requirement for irrigated Boro rice cultivation in Tangail District of Bangladesh. Journal of Agriculture Engineering. 37(3):

 Table 2
 Number of farmer for each block according to system efficiency, power and Energy

Number	System efficiency (%)			Power (hp)		Energy (MJ/ha)		Energy	
of farmers blocks wise	30-50	50-70	70-90	Required	Utilized	Required	Utilized	index	
Chaka	2	9	7	5.03	9.61	267,820.98	433,329.66	0.98	
Jasra	11	1	3	2.2	9.36	71,909.44	348,704.78	1.69	
Karchhana	9	6	0	4.16	9.43	137,632.05	439,664.01	1.57	
Koraon	6	7	2	3.96	9.57	147,963.03	380,586.21	1.51	
Meja	7	6	2	3.79	9.73	171,555.56	586,670.55	1.64	
Shankargarh	2	12	5	3.85	9.86	174,786.30	505,992.54	1.65	

41-47.

- Khatik, S. K. and S. N. Soni. 1996. Assessment of energy consumption in local and improved package of practices for production of major Kharif crops in Sagar district, Madhya Pradesh, India. Journal of Soils and Crops, 6(2): 119-124.
- Larson, D. L. and D. D. Fergmeir. 1978. Energy in irrigated crop production Trans. Of ASAE, 21: 1075-1080.
- Mohnot, Ranjan, Harpal Singh, K. C. Lakhera, Kaushal Singh, R. Srivastava, and D. Goyal. 2000. Energy requirement for cotton crop in village Siwas (District Pali) of Thar Desert. Journal of

Agricultural Engineering. Vol. 37 (1): 29-37.

- Ramachandra, T. V. and A. V. Nagarathna. 2001. Energetices in paddy cultivation in Uttrakhand district, Energy conversion and management, 43: 131-155.
- Singh, S. and V. K. Mittal. 1985. Energy requirement for cultivation of major crops of Panjab. In Proc. Silver jubilee convention, ISAE Oct. 29-31, Vol. 1: 90-94.
- Singh, Surendra, Mittal J. P. Singh, and S. R. Verma. 1997b. Energy requirements for production of major crops in India Agricultural mechanization in Asia, Africa and Latin America, 28 (4): 13-17.
- Sanjay kumar. 2007. Energy re-

quirement for irrigation pumps in Allahabad district, Uttar Pradesh. Thesis, M. Tech., Department of Irrigation and Drainage, College of Agricultural Engineering & Technology, Allahabad Agricultural Institute- Deemed University, Allahabad.

Singh, R. I., V. Prasad, and R. K. Singh. 1976a. Energy requirement on farms following multiple cropping in central Uttar Pradesh. Indian Journal Agricultural Economics 31(3): 246-246.

Appropriate Technology

The quarterly magazine of practical change in the developing world Editor: David Dixon



"... so many ideas and methods are adaptable in so many ways ... Thank you for producing such a useful magazine", VSO fieldworker, Thailand.

Wherever you live in the world, you will find lots to interest you in *Appropriate Technology*. Concentrating on real-life experiences and problems, the magazine deals with practical development in a clear, straightforward way - and the lessons can be applied in every part of the globe.

Each issue provides practical technologies, policies and ideas addressed to the elimination of poverty and hunger, with articles and case studies giving a full range of viewpoints and perspectives.

Appropriate Technology is published quarterly and is sent to subscribers by airmail, at £48 (personal or developing country); £120 (institutions).
Credit card: Visa / Mastercard / American Express
Card No:
Expiry date:
Signature:

"If you are working in a developing country and can afford only one journal, this is the one to get", Appropriate Technology Sourcebook

View a sample copy on our website: www.appropriatechnology.com

	ease complete the form below or the order form on our website.
	Please invoice me.
	I enclose cheque/money order for
	Please charge my credit card, details below left.
Na	me:
Or	ganisation:
Ad	dress:
• • •	
•••	
Tel	6
Fa	x:
_	

Present Status of Agricultural Mechanization in Bangladesh



by A. T. M. Ziauddin Professor, Department of Farm Power & Machinery, Bangladesh Agricultural University, Mymensingh, BANGLADESH ziauddin_atm@yahoo.com



Tasnia Zia Graduate Student, Department of Statistics, University of Dhaka, Dhaka, BANGLADESH

Abstract

Agricultural mechanization program has been accelerated in Bangladesh in the recent years. Its level of overall development is still relatively low. Over the last two decades, the use of mechanical farm power has increased rapidly. Irrigation is now practically fully mechanised as more than one and half million diesel and electric driven pumps lift ground and surface water. Recent survey reports indicate that by 2011 about 80 % of the land was tilled by power tillers and tractors while marginal farmers have equal access to these machines through private contractor services. A good progress of mechanization has also been made in weeding, fertilizering, spraying, harvesting, threshing, drying, and transporting activities. In the past, women spent many hours processing rice with the foot operated 'dheki' but today rice hullers and mills have taken over this task. No doubt Bangladeshi farmers and rural entrepreneurs will further mechanize horizontally some of these operations to reduce costs and increase productivity through timeliness of operation. In this paper, the trends of agricultural mechanization, growth of machinery and spare parts industry, promotion of agri-machinery in Bangladesh is

described. Promotion of custom hire services of field machinery and development of remote controlled low powered devices as a future strategy for reducing cost and human input energy is also discussed. Current mechanization programs and policies of the government in favour of such a growing and demanding agricultural mechanization have been carefully reviewed.

Introduction

The development of a country is related to the ability of its population to produce goods and services. Mechanization in agriculture is one of the critical inputs of production and preservation of food crops. It can increase yields through the improvement of water control, better soil preparation for planting, more efficient weed and insect control, proper crop establishment, harvesting, handling, drying, storing and processing of food, feed and fiber crops. Timeliness of all of these operations enhances yield of individual crops and maximizes the efficient use of unit area of land throughout the growing season. Agricultural mechanization should be introduced as necessary means to increase desired agricultural production at reduced cost and less human drudgery, and to generate employment or to take the place of labour absorbed by the industry or non-farm sectors. Progress of agricultural mechanization is highly favoured by the movement of people from farm to nonfarm sectors. Thus, the gap of work force is gradually filled in by the machines as explained in **Fig. 1**.

Agriculture is the heart of Bangladesh economy, and rice remains its lifeblood. More than 33 million metric tons of rice was produced in 2011. It is one of the major sectors contributing 18.43 % to the GDP with a growth rate of 12.48 % as recorded in 2010-11 (BBS Sept., 2011) and employs around 44 % of the total labor force of the country. The performance of this sector has an overwhelming impact on major macroeconomic objectives like employment generation, poverty alleviation, human resources development and food security. Self-sufficiency in rice has been closely achieved, but there are clearly more gains to be made: average per hectare output of rice remains lower than India. Vietnam and China. However, the impressive gains of the last 20 years are threatened by an increasing population, food requirements and the steady loss of arable land to urban expansion and frequent disasters due to climate change. Furthermore, migration of farm labour force to more attractive non-farm jobs have already created negative pressure on productivity. Therefore, land and labour productivity in Bangladesh has to be increased. Focusing on the complementary agriculture, agricultural machinery sectors provides a powerful opportunity to do so. In doing this, Bangladesh has been pursuing complementary farm mechanization, not from the supply side, but from the demand side, organizing market pressure and developing strategic services that enable manufacturers and importers to respond appropriately.

Kulakarni (2010) reported that there is an economic advantage of mechanization. **Table 1** shows the economic advantages of mechanization as measured in percent. The increase of both land and labour productivity is mainly recognized due to timeliness of machine operation (increased cropping intensity) and their management.

In general agricultural mechanization has gained popularity among farmers for its multi-dimensional benefits such as reduction of operational cost and human drudgery, timeliness of operation, increased labour productivity and efficiency. Limited agricultural activities such as land preparation, irrigation, weeding, spraying and threshing of crops have been mechanized at least partially in Bangladesh. It needs to be extended horizontally throughout the country to harness more benefits out of it. Other labour intensive agricultural activities such as sowing seed and seedling, fertilizer applicator, drying, water saving technology & water management, storing and processing are equally demanding areas for mechanization.

Bangladesh agriculture has been









facing serious challenges of scarcity of agricultural labour not only in peak working seasons but also in normal time. This is mainly for increased non-farm job opportunities having higher wage, migration of labour force to cities and low status of agricultural labourer in the society. On the other hand cultivable land is decreasing due to urbanization. Furthermore, 2 millions people are being added per year into Bangladesh population, demanding additional 3.5 lack tons of food grain each vear. Fortunately, there are many opportunities to move forward with agricultural mechanization as the country has skilled manpower for research and extension, favourable policy, machine and spare parts manufacturers, traders and service providers including custom hire service of agricultural machinery.

Trends of Agricultural Mechanization

Mechanisation is gradually progressing in Bangladesh as the farmers are finding benefits in using various machines available for farming operations. Cost of tilling land with power tillers (PT) and tractors is found to be economically advantageous due to higher cost of using animal power. Moreover, Mechanization is helping to increase cropping intensity and thus significantly contributing in increase of land and labour productivity.

Since early nineties, the demand

Table 1	Economic advantages o	f
agric	ultural mechanization	

Item	Economic advantage, (%)
Increase in productivity	12 - 34
Saving in seeds	20
Saving in fertilizer	15 - 20
Enhancement in cropping intensity	5 - 22
Increase in gross income of the farmers	29 - 49

At present there are about 550,000 PTs operating in the country (Alam *et al.*, 2011). Dhaka based five large importers are the main source of supply of PTs to district wholesale and retail market. During 2004 to 2007 about 55,000 to 60,000 PTs were imported annually, with a brief period of recession in 2008-09 the import trend grow rapidly during 2010-11 and reached 130,000 units annually, worth of Tk.13,000 million (**Fig. 3**).

Today about 35,000 tractors are operating in agricultural sector, mainly in tilling and transportation purposes. In the year 2002, the number of tractors operating in the county was about 5,530 only (FAO, 2002). Since then the number of tractor import has been increasing rapidly and gradually replacing the use of power tillers in agricultural sector. Presently, on an average 6,200 tractors are being imported annually in the country (Fig. 4). Private companies like The Metal (Pvt) Ltd, ACI Motors Ltd., Mahindra Ltd., Corona Ltd, etc. are importing majority of the tractors and marketing through their dealers at different district towns and business centers.

At present there are about 1,425,136 shallow tube wells (STWs) and 150,613 low lift pumps (LLPs) in Bangladesh with an annual demand of 850,000 centrifugal pumps (**Table 2**). These are mostly manufactured locally. Present production volume of centrifugal pump is about 560,000. In terms of money value the growth of pumps for shallow tube wells is shown in **Fig. 5**.

All types of hand and foot spray-

 Table 2 Growth of irrigation pumps and tube wells

010
0,613
,102
5,136
7,851
2

Source: BADC (2010)

ers are produced locally. Only knapsack sprayers are imported from China, Korea, Brazil and India. The local manufacturers collect their raw materials from Dhaka market and sell their product 30 % to district market and 70 % to other subdistricts. The annual demand of locally produced hand and foot sprayers is about 300,000 pieces, worth of Tk.156 millions. The market size of imported knapsack sprayer is about

Fig. 3 Trend of power tiller market



Tk.30 million per annum (Alam *et al.*, 2011).

The numbers of open and closed drum threshers in the country already exceeded 150,000 and 220,000, respectively. The demand of thresher is increasing, having no competition from import. The annual demand of open and closed drum threshers is about 20,000 and 80,000 units, respectively worth of Tk.3320 millions (**Fig. 6**). A large number of reputed agricultural workshops at Bogra, Sylhet, Kishoreganj, Jessore, Netrokona, Jamalpur, Kushtia and Thakurgaon districts are manufacturing these threshers.

The demand of maize shellers is increasing rapidly with the increase in maize crop area and as well as increased land productivity. The present population of maize sheller in the country is about 18,100 with an annual demand of 6,500 units. The present market size of maize sheller is estimated about Tk.107 million per annum (**Fig. 7**).

In order to overcome scarcity of labour in harvesting and planting seasons of paddy and wheat, rice transplanter, self-propelled reaper and medium size combine harvester







have high demand among the farmers. Importers like ACI motors, The Metal (Pvt) Ltd. have started importing rice transplanter and combine harvester from Korea and popularizing among the farmers. Two engineering workshops namely Janata machine tools Ltd. of Jessore and Mahbub engineering workshop of Jamalpur fabricated few units of BAU model (Hossain, 2003) selfpropelled reaper for commercial purposes each costing Tk.75,000. The field capacity and efficiency of this machine is 0.21 ha/hr and 81 %. respectively with a cost saving of Tk.1475 /ha over manual harvesting of paddy. There is a huge demand of reaper in the country but the local manufacturers are facing difficulties in maintaining the precisions needed in manufacturing and thereby unable to meet the standard required for marketing of the reaper (Alam et al., 2011).

Other popular mechanical equipment in use on limited scale include zero till drill, bed former-cumseeder, drum seeder, seed-cum-fertilizer applicator, manual weeders, winnower and various hand tools.

 Table 3 Current statistics on farm machinery in Bangladesh

E M 1'	Number of
Farm Machinery	units
Power tiller	about 550,000
Tractor	35,000
Low lift pump	150,613
Shallow tube well	1,425,136
Deep tube well	32,102
PT operated seeder	30
Weeder	> 200,000
Guti urea applicator	5,200
Sprayer	1,250,000
Combine harvester	about 60
Reaper	about 140
Open drum thresher	> 150,000
Closed drum thresher	> 2,20,000
Winnower	about 500
Dryer	> 700
(includes rice mill dryers)	
Maize sheller	18,100
(power & hand)	11)

Source: Alam et al. (2011)

 Table 4
 Percent mechanization of rice production operation in Bangladesh, 2010

Percent mechanization of field operations (Approximate)						
Land preparation	Nursery raising & transplanting	Fertilizer application	Spraying	Harvesting	Threshing	Irrigation by pump
80	05	10	90	10	68	95

Table 5 Changing pattern of land utilization (in thousand acres)

Year	Cultivable waste	Single cropping	Double cropping	Triple cropping	Net cropping	Total cropped
Ical	area	area	area	area	area	area
2004-05	663	7,091	10,082	2,530	19,703	34,845
2005-06	640	7,041	9,841	2,407	19,289	33,944
2006-07	634	7,027	9,822	2,417	19,266	33,922
2007-08	592	6,917	9,447	2,823	19,187	34,280
2008-09	572	6,788	9,677	3,158	19,621	35,614

11) available statistics of farm ma-

chinery in Bangladesh is presented

Major Impacts of Agricul-

There are distinct visible changes

observed during last two decades

in Bangladesh in the arena of ag-

ricultural mechanization. To date

operation wise mechanization of

rice production in Bangladesh has

been estimated and is presented in

Table 4. The gradual penetration of

mechanization resulted in shifting

cultivable land from single cropping

tural Mechanization

Source: BBS (2011); Cultivable waste is the area suitable for cultivation but lying fellow for more than one year

in Table 3 below.

Some mechanical grain dryers, sugarcane crushers, solar vegetable and fish dryers, USG applicator, potato planter, potato digger, potato graders, etc. are also in use and these are gaining popularity as better quality items are gradually coming out of local manufacturers' shops.

Rice milling is almost fully mechanised now. More than 30,000 small scale parboiling and milling establishments in addition to a few dozen larger automated mills are in operation. A good number of mobile rice-hulling service providers are offering services to the farmers at a cheaper rate.

In a summary the currently (2010-





to triple cropping, mainly because of timeliness of operation. More cultivable waste areas are also being covered (**Table 5**).

Human Energy Saving in Rice Cultivation

Rice is a labour intensive crop. About 800 to 850 man hours of labour is required for cultivating one hectare. Transplanting, weeding and harvesting operations consume most of the labour requirement in rice cultivation and hence thrust has been given for mechanizing these operations in order to reduce the labour requirement in rice cultivation. High labour demand during peak periods adversely affects timeliness of operation, thereby reducing the crop yield. Mechanization at least partially has reduced the labour requirement thus reduced the input energy of human labour (Table 6).

The results presented in **Table 6** imply that mechanical cultivation of land is a labour saving as well as cost reducing technology for the farmers. As a result, many farmers prefer this new mechanical technology for land preparation to the traditional Draft Animal Power (DAP) technology. Another reason for preferring this technology is that there is a scarcity of draft animal power and human labour during the peak period of the concerned crop

Season	Power option	Gross return (Tk./ha.)	Gross cost (Tk./ha.)	Net return (Tk./ha)	Reduction of labour shortage (man-days/ha.)
Boro	PT using farm	39,230	26,645	12,585	152
	DAP using farm	38,655	29,073	9,582	179
	Impact on PT	+575	-2,428	+3,003	-27
Aman	PT using farm	27,160	12,728	14,432	127
	DAP using farm	26,860	13,447	13,413	141
	Impact on PT	+300	-719	+1,019	-14

Table 6 Impact of PTs on cost, return and reduction of labour shortage

Source: Miah (2000), [1 Tk = US\$ 0.0125]

 Table 7 Custom hiring rate during 2010-2011

Operation	Rates*		
Land tilling by power tiller using rotavator	Tk.700-800 per acre per pass		
Land tilling by tractor using rotavator	Tk.1000-1200 per acre per pass		
Spraying	Tk.150-200 per acre		
Pumping water by LLP	Tk.1800- 2000 per acre		
Threshing by pedal thresher	5-6 kg per 40 kg of threshed rice		
Threshing by power thresher	5-6 kg per 40 kg of threshed rice		
Transportation by PT trolley up to 5 km	Tk.200-300		
Transportation by PT trolley for 5 km to 20 km	Tk.400-1200		
* includes fuel oil and operator's costs: $[1 \text{ Tk} = \text{LIS} \ 0.0125]$			

* includes fuel, oil and operator's costs; [1 Tk = US\$ 0.0125]

seasons in almost all the selected villages studied by Miah (2000). Besides, the power tiller also facilitates planting and growing of additional crops, especially in the face of quick turn around period between crops. This in fact raises aggregate output and employment in the long run.

Relief from Drudgery

Transplanting, weeding and harvesting are done in the bending posture resulting in spinal cord related health problems including back pain, muscle pain headache of the workers. Mechanization of these field operations has made sufficient relief from drudgery to the farm workers.

Reducing Cost of Cultivation

Cost of cultivation could be reduced by using alternate techniques like direct sowing of rice by drum seeder. Use of Guti urea and its placement at an appropriate depth reduces volatilization and leaching losses and thereby saving urea up to 30 percent without compromising on the yield level. Custom hiring provision of agricultural equipment has already proved to be the most significant way of reducing input cost of cultivation.

Growth of Custom Hire Services

In Bangladesh, more than 88% of the operational land holdings are either marginal (<0.5 acre) or small (0.5-2.5 acre) in size (BBS 2011). Many studies have indicated that investment capacity of majority of the farmers in these categories of land holdings is poor. These farmers can not own expensive farm power units and machinery. Farmers with small holdings utilize selected improved farm equipment through custom hiring thereby reducing their cost of cultivation. Custom-hiring facility could be of significance to both unemployed youth and the farmers.

The spread of minor irrigation equipment and power tiller have helped to develop a market for custom hire services. In the prevailing irrigation service market, the pump owners usually install their wells or pumps on their own plots to irrigate their own fields and deliver excess water to other farmers' fields under varied contractual arrangements. Some private owners of power tillers (PT) and tractor provide tillage services on contract basis. Those owning several PTs and tractors in more concentrated areas send their machine and drivers to distant but less PT and tractor concentrated areas for the season and hire out tillage services through their appointed agents. The custom hiring rate prevailing in Bangladesh during 2010-2011 is given in **Table 7**.

Case Studies on Livelihood of Rural People

Case 1: A case study of a locally developed power thresher and livelihood impact on farmer's health, income and drudgery

GRAMUS, a local NGO in Mymensingh has introduced a paddy thresher locally developed by a national GO research institution on cost sharing basis through a subproject of REFPI (2003). Men and women equally liked the technology as it has provided a good number of benefits to them such as decreased working hours and drudgery by 80 %; increased income as grain quality improved and grain losses decreased. It is interesting to note that the farmers are better off and are free from stomach ache as they are consuming quality grain today. They had complain of stomach ache when they could not thresh their harvested grain in a day or two. As a result the wet grain started deteriorating the quality. They had to consume this low quality grain as it had low market price and suffered stomach ache. This is a clear example how mechanization has improved the livelihood of rural poor.

Case 2: A case study of a day labourer who established himself as a popular agricultural service provider

Akkas Ali, a man in his midforties was a day labourer in Muktagachha, Mymensingh. He came away with an idea of renting out a thresher to farm households and earn money out of it. Akkas Ali obtained a power thresher from a local trader on custom hire daily basis and started offering services to farm households nearby. He was able to save money equal to 50 % price of the thresher in one season. In the following season he bought a machine on credit from the same trader. In the year 2003 he became owner of two power thresher, two pumps and a rickshaw van. He is also an employer of operators of the machines. He is a happy man earning money renting out his machines to farmers. This is an example how mechanization has improved the livelihood of rural poor. This case was identified while REFPI project personnel made a field visit in Muktagachha in 2003.

Case 3: A case study of an agricultural engineer who established himself as an agricultural machinery service provider as well as an employer

Mr. Ayub Ali, an agricultural engineer, who obtained a degree in 1990 on agricultural engineering from Bangladesh Agricultural University (BAU), Mymensingh and established himself as an agricultural machinery service provider as well as an employer based in Muktagacha, Mymensingh. In 2001 he got a job in an NGO in Comilla. After only six months in 2002, he resigned the job and started an independent business of agrilcultural machinery service providers in Muktagacha. He initially purchased a thresher and started providing service to the farmers in the area. His services earn high reputation. Subsequently

with a bank loan he bought two tractors and a reaper to offer services to the rural people on demand. Mr. Ayub Ali become a successful employer too. He was the pioneer of introducing machinery rent-out service provider in Muktagacha and Mymensingh region. His business was highly profitable during 2003-2006. After 2006 his business has gradually gone down because of many service provider grew in and around Muktagacha. It is interesting to note that tractor owners along with their tractors come mainly from Jessore, Bogra and Dinajpur districts during the tillage seasons and offer services to the farmers of Muktagacha and returned back to origin in the off season. They offer services at a cheaper rate because of higher utilization of their tractors as well as they are ower-cum-mechanic.

Current Market Status of Agricultural Machinery

A recent study results on current market size of agricultural machinery, conducted by Alam *et al.* (2011) is presented in **Table 8**. It indicates that the annual estimated market size of agri-machinery and spare parts in the country is about Tk.71.16 billion with Tk.8.84 billion annual repair and maintenance service market, estimating an annual total agri-machinery market size of about Tk.80 billion of which local production market share is Tk.33.85 billion, about 42.30 % of the total market size.

Growth of Local Manufacturing Industry

During the last couple of decades, rapid growth and transformation in agriculture has triggered a significant expansion of rural non-farm activities (Hossain, 2002). The rapid growth of pump irrigation, power tillage, and threshing technologies has stimulated various manufacturing and services activities at the local level. These include manufacturing and trading of farm machinery and equipment spare parts, machinery installation, repair and maintenance services, inputs and grain trade, crop and food-processing, rural transport, rural trade and shop keeping,

Presently, Bogra is emerged as the largest agri-machinery industrial town in Bangladesh and manufacturing about 80 % of local machines and spare parts, especially irrigation pumps, threshers, maize shellers, piston, liner and numerous spare parts of small diesel engines and machines, casting of machine components etc. and counting about 80 % of the local production and Jessore is emerging next to Bogra. Other well known centers are also located in Dhaka, Chittagong, Comilla, Tangail and Kustia districts. The significant shift in the supply of spare parts in the country underlines the growth potential of the local spare parts manufacturing subsector and potential for substitution for imported spare parts. At present, there are about 70 foundries, 800 agri-machinery manufacturing industry and workshops, 1500 spare

Table 8 Annual market size of
agri-machinery in 2011

g				
Market size/yr (Million Tk.)				
13,000				
5,525				
21,600				
1,400				
3,320				
107				
126				
30				
54				
20,000				
6,000				
71,162				
8,841				
80,003				

Source: Alam *et al.* (2011), [1 Tk = US\$ 0.0125]
parts manufacturing industries and workshops and about 20,000 repair and maintenance workshops in the country In line with manufacturing of agri-machinery and spare parts, there are about 20,000 repair and maintenance workshops and about 500,000 mechanics are involved in repair and maintenance of engines and machines used in agricultural activities worth of about Tk.8841 million service market annually (Alam et al., 2011). Spare parts of power tiller, diesel engine and centrifugal pump are both imported and locally produced. This saves a huge amount of foreign currency and decrease dependency on imports. The spare parts sub-sector is employing a significant number of skilled and semi-skilled labour forces, and creates opportunities for further employment. However, this subsector is still lacking the attention of the policy planners of the country (Alam et al., 2011).

Beside, most common agrimachinery and spare parts production, a few items like drum seeder, push-pull weeder, potato harvester, potato grader, fish and poultry feed machine, rice grader, rice polisher, auto crusher machine, auto mixture machine, oil mill, chira/puffed rice mill, rice huller, hot mixture machine, cereal dryer machine etc. are being manufactured in the country. This sub-sector remains unexplored and there is a huge potential for

Table 9	Name and number of equipment	
to be offe	red with 25 % subsidy to farmers	s

	•
Name of equipment	Total number of
	equipment
Power tiller	22,000
Tractor	1,000
Hand Reaper	10,000
Power Thresher	10,000
Maize sheller	1,000
Combine harvester	140
Manual weeder	5,000
Sprayer	5,000
Guti urea applicator	10,000
Total	64,140

growth and employment generation.

Highlights of Recent Research Achievements

The following machines have been developed or adapted from foreign designs and tested by the R & D institutes (BRRI, BARI, BSRI, BINA, BAU, BCSIR) and produced by the private workshops/manufacturers (namely MAWTS, Alim Industries, Janata Machine, Mahabub Engg. and others). Some of them are being used in a limited scale because of low quality of fabrication. Some needs further improvement also.

- Power tiller (also imported)
- Tillage bed former-cum-seeder
- Zero till drill
- Bed former-cum-seeder
- Weeder (Manual & power)
- Treadle pumps
- Seed drill
- Guti urea applicator
- Reaper (for rice & wheat)
- Maize sheller (manual & power)
- Thresher (manual & power)
- Mechanical dryer and solar dryer
- Power tiller-operated potato planter
- Potato digger and potato grader

Promotion of Agricultural Machinery

Under the National Network, the National Research Institutes, such as BRRI, BARI, BSRI, BAU have established linkages with a good number of manufacturers, capable of fabrication and manufacturing of agricultural machinery. These private manufactures receive technical assistance i.e. prototypes, drawings and expert services from the national research institutes mentioned above. NGOs are also promoting machines by organizing landless farmers as a part of poverty reduction campaigns. CIMMYT and IRRI also supports mechanization in terms of demonstration and training in wheat and rice-wheat cropping systems.

Some project based attempts have

been made by DAE, BRRI, BARI, BAU, IFDC to popularise the machines which have been tested in different locations of the country and found suitable for specific socio-economic settings of the farming system. These specialized projects have been designed to provide special efforts for wider extension, adaptation and utilization some selected items of farm machinery.

Current Mechanization Programs of the Government of Bangladesh

Ministry of Agriculture has undertaken several programs in support of agricultural mechanization such as;

Machinery subsidy program:

About Tk.1500 million project is being implemented by DAE for promotion of agricultural machines such as power tiller, tractor, combine harvester (both new and reconditioned), reaper, power thresher, maize sheller, guti urea applicator, sprayer and weeder. 25 % government subsidy on purchase price of the machines is being offered to the farmers who are free to choose any of those machines from the selected machine suppliers/manufacturers. About 237 upzilas of 25 districts are covered under this program in which a total of 64, 140 different categories of the equipment are being sold to farmers at 25 % subsidized price. The aim of the program is to increase yield, reduce cost of production, increase cropping intensity and reduce losses of already produced crops of the farmers. The name and number of machines in this subsidy program is listed in Table 9, ebate for Irrigation: Farmers of Barind area enjoyed 100 hours of free irrigation water input during dry period of 2009. In addition 20% rebate has been given on the electric bill for the farmers who operate their motor operated irrigation pumps.

Credit support for purchase of diesel: During 2009-10 boro season 9,161,594 marginal, small and me-

dium farmers have enjoyed the benefit of getting credit support for purchase of diesel for irrigation pump. About 13.8 millions farm households have already received a card under this program. Each card holder open bank account with Tk.10.00 only through which they received a total of Tk.7,220 millions credit for purchase of diesel.

Constraints Affecting Mechanization

The barriers that impede the growth and sustainability of farm mechanization industry and programs can be classified into technological constraints, socio-cultural and behavioral, financial and economic and environmental. The major constraints against the growth of agricultural mechanization and better utilization of farm machinery in Bangladesh were discussed with different stakeholders including farmers of different categories (Farouk, 2007). It is sure that farm mechanization has shown good results as of raising labour productivity, timeliness of operation and increased comfort. But a number of constraints remain present in the sector such as:

- 1. Majority of small cultivators are poor who are not in a position to purchase and maintain costly equipment although some of them are capable to hire equipment like LLP. PT, thresher, sprayer etc.
- 2. Lack of repair and replacement facilities especially in the remote rural areas
- 3. Very low level of attention in

quality control of locally fabricated machines.

- 4. Inadequate service centers at village/union level and low growth of custom hiring services.
- 5. Lack of knowledge and skill for efficient use, proper maintenance and repair of machinery at all levels of users, artisans and traders.
- 6. Absence of any public sector agricultural extension activity involving farm machinery, mechanization and post harvest activities.
- 7. Low tariff on imported machines and high tariff on spare parts and materials need for fabrication (especially different kinds of steel).

Future Mechanization and Management

Future agriculture need is to increase the productivity and profitability of production and postproduction agriculture. Diversification of agriculture, need for and introduction of new machines and the trend among the farmers to use increasingly 4-wheel tractors will vastly expand the scope for custom hiring of farm equipment. In future multi-purpose use of 4-wheel tractor with custom hiring options will be the only way to keep the operating cost of farm equipment at a reasonable level.

Table 10 shows that during 1996-2005, number of marginal and small farm holdings have increased by 73.68 % and 23.99 %, respectively. While number of medium and large farm holdings have decreased by 24.87 % and 40.6 %, respectively. Furthermore, cultivatable land is decreasing by 1 % per year due to

 Table 10
 Change in farm holdings during 1996-2005

Earm holding	No. of farms (\times 1000)		
Farm holding	1996	2005	
Marginal farm holdings (0,05-0.49 acre)	3,356	5,829	
Small farm holdings (0.5-2.49 acres)	6,067	7,523	
Medium farm holdings (2.5-7.49 acres)	2,078	1,561	
Large farm holdings (above 7.50 acres)	298	177	

Source: BBS (2011)

urbanization and building of houses and other structures. This downward change of farm size clearly indicates that there would be an increased demand of farm machinery suitable for large group of marginal and small farm holdings. Farmers are left with less time for field operations. Younger generation does not want to work in the field. For these reasons development of remote controlled battery powered technologies for rice transplanter, guti urea applicator, weeder, seeder etc. will be appropriate. Very recently a project has started to develop a remote controlled guti urea applicator at Bangladesh Agricultural University (BAU), Mymensingh with the financial support of BARC. The key concept of undertaking the project of developing remote controlled devices is to reduce cost of cultivation with increased comfort of operator. If this effort be successful, the farmers will be relieved from drudgery of walking through muddy crop field thereby human input energy could significantly be reduced.

Recommendations

- 1. Manufacturers of locally developed machinery must take responsibility of quality inspection of the machine before delivery to farmers. If necessary any appropriate policy could be formulated to protect the farmer's interest.
- 2. Technical know-how on machinery use, repair and maintenance should be provided to the farmers, farm workers and local artisans.
- 3. Inclusion of agri-machinery subsector in to the BBS database.
- 4. Area coverage for Irrigation mechanization should be extended from 44 % to at least 60 %.
- 5. One stop credit support to unemployed youth should be formulated to encourage growth of custom hire service through establishment of village/union level agrimachinery and irrigation equipment service centers.

7. Establish a high level "Agricul-

tural Mechanization Advisory Committee" with representation from all stakeholders to advise the government on agricultural mechanization issues and policies.

- 8. Establish a "National Centre for Agricultural Machinery (NCAM)" in any (or in combination) of the GOB institutions for development, testing and evaluation of farm machinery, with technical facilities to serve the needs of the public and private sectors.
- 9. Review and rationalize the current tariff rates affecting import of agricultural machines and spare parts and the raw materials needed to manufacture those locally so that local manufacturers feel encouraged to work on competitive basis.
- 10. Facilitate local manufacture of agricultural machines (small sized diesel/ petrol/ CNG/ LPG engines, power tillers, pumps, and reapers), accessories and spare parts by encouraging and inducing the private sector for joint venture enterprise with established worldclass firms through credit/tax relief/industrial estate facilities and other effective incentives.
- 11. Actively participate in the programmes of the ESCAPestablished "Asia Pacific Centre for Agricultural Engineering and Machinery (APCAEM)"

REFERENCES

- Alam, M. M., M. A. Matin, M. H. Khan, M. N. I. Khan, I. N. Khan, C. K. Saha, and F. H. Khan. 2011.
 Agricultural Technology & Industrial Development of Bangladesh: Opportunities and Constraints.
 Keynote Paper presented in Agro Tech Bangladesh-2011 International Exhibition, RDA, Bogra, Bangladesh, 22-24 September 2011.
- BBS. 2011. Statistical Pocket Book Bangladesh. Population and housing census 2011 Bangladesh Bu-

reau of Statistics, Dhaka, February 2011.

- Farouk, S. M., A. T. M. Ziauddin, and S. Ahmed. 2007. Agricultural Mechanization Policies and Strategies for Employment Generation and Poverty Alleviation in the Rural Areas of Bangladesh. Paper presented in the National Workshop, BARC, Dhaka.
- FAO. 2002. Statistical data base of Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations. 2002.
- Hossain, M. 2002. Rural non-farm economy in Bangladesh: A view from household surveys, background technical paper prepared for the dialogue on "Promoting rural non-farm economy: Is Bangladesh doing enough?" Centre

for Policy Dialogue, July 18, 2002, Dhaka.

- Kulakarni, S. D. 2010. Mechanization of Agriculture –Indian Scenario. Central Institute of Agricultural Engineering (CIAE), Bhopal, India.
- Miah, T. H. 2000. Impact of Power Tiller Utilization on Crop Yield, Income and Employment of Farmers in Rural Bangladesh. in Mandal (ed.) Changing Rural Economy of Bangladesh, Mousshumi Printers.
- REFPI. 2003. Research and Extension in Farm Power Issues, Department of Farm Power and Machinery, Bangladesh Agricultural University, Mymensingh.

BADC	Bangladesh Agricultural Development Corporation
BARC	Bangladesh Agricultural Research Council
BARI	Bangladesh Agricultural Research Institute
BAU	Bangladesh Agricultural University
BBS	Bangladesh Bureau of Statistics
BCSIR	Bangladesh Council for Scientific and Industrial Research
BINA	Bangladesh Institute of Nuclear Agruculture
BRRI	Bangladesh Rice Research Institute
BSRI	Bangladesh Sugarcane Research Institute
CIMMYT	International Maize and Wheat Improvement Center
CNG	Compressed Natural Gas
DAE	Department of Agricultural Extension
DAP	Draft Animal Power
DTW	Deep Tube Well
ESCAP	Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
GO	Government Organization
GOB	Government of Bangladesh
IFDC	International Fertilizer Development Center
IRRI	International Rice Research Institute
LLP	Low Lift Pump
LPG	Liquefied Petroleum Gas
MAWTS	Mirpur Agrucultural Workshop and Training School
NCAM	National Centre for Agricultural Machinery
NGO	Non Government Organization
PT	Power Tiller
REFPI	Research and Extension in Farm Power Issues
STW	Shallow Tube Well
USG	Urea Super Granule

LIST OF ACRONYMS

Selection of Suitable Furrow Opener and Furrow Closer for Vegetable Transplanter



^{by} B. M. Nandede

Central Institute of Agricultural Engineering, Bhopal, Madhya Pradesh-462038, INDIA



H. Raheman



Agricultural & Food Engineering Department, Indian Institute of Technology, Kharagpur, West Bengal -721302, INDIA

Abstract

Experiments were conducted in a soil bin to evaluate the commonly used furrow openers (shovel type [SL]; shoe type [SE]; runner type [RR]) and two types of furrow closers (inclined mild steel plate [PC]; double disc closer [DC]) of semiautomatic vegetable transplanters. Criteria for selection of best combination of furrow opener and furrow closer were less draft and minimum soil coverage of 100 %. It was observed that both draft and soil coverage for all furrow openers tested with both furrow closers increased with increase in operating depth and at any speed of operation. However, Soil coverage was found to be decreased as the speed of operation increased. Using Duncan Multiple Range Test, SL opener with DC was found to be the best suitable combination of furrow opener and furrow closer as it was giving required soil coverage with slightly more draft than SL opener with PC. Maximum coverage (104.4 %) was found for 20 °C closer angle but its draft requirement was more. Hence, 15 °C closer angle was selected as it gave required minimum soil coverage with lesser draft compared to the closer angle of 20 °C.

Keywords: Furrow opener; Furrow closer; Draft; Soil coverage; Disc angle

Introduction

India is the second largest producer of vegetable after China. According to the National Horticulture Database, total vegetable production in India in the year 2009-2010 was 133.73 million tons grown over an area of 7.98 million hectares with a yield of 16.75 tons/ha (Anon., 2010). The estimated vegetables requirement in India by the end of 2020 will be 220 million metric tons (Pandey et al., 2004). Therefore, serious efforts have to be made to improve the productivity and production efficiency not only to meet the growing national demand, but also to contribute food and nutritional security and to keep India's position economically competitive in the global market (Saxena and Dhawan, 2006). Increase in crop yield and quality can be achieved by mechanized cultivation, along with other improved crop production practices (Nair, 2002; Srivastava, 1999; Clarke, 1997). Existing, commonly adopted practices for raising vegetable crops in India are either manual transplanting or mechanical transplanting. Manual transplanting is laborious, time consuming, tedious and costly. To overcome the problems in manual transplanting, mechanical transplanters were developed. Mechanical transplanters are of three types i.e. semiautomatic, automatic and robotic. Most important and common parts of a vegetable transplanter are metering devices, seedling delivery tube, furrow openers, furrow closers. Among all, furrow opener plays an important role in placement of seedlings for higher planting efficiency (Chaudhuri et al., 2000). The functional requirements of a furrow opener are to open a furrow to the required depth, to maintain uniformity of depth along the length of the furrow, to cause minimum disturbance to the seedbed and to prevent soil flowing back into the furrow before placement of seedlings, whereas furrow closer covers the seedlings with loose moist soil to promote and stabilize conditions conducive to rapid seedling establishment (Murray et al., 2006). Furrow openers and closes are a measure of the energy input and creation of better physical environment around the seedling. As these are directly related to the draft and better establishment of seedlings in the field, their assessment becomes a crucial factor in their selection. Very few studies have been done on selection of suitable furrow opener and closer and are limited to seed drills only. Various research institutions in India have developed semiautomatic and automatic transplanters listed in Table 1 along with the type of openers and closers provided in those transplanters. For vegetable transplanter so far developed in India, no research has yet been conducted to select suitable furrow opener and closer taking into considerations the availability of power source in terms of draft requirement and better soil coverage.

Therefore, a study was undertaken at Agricultural and Food Engineering Department, IIT, Kharagpur to select the suitable furrow opener and closer for vegetable transplanter with cup type metering mechanism.

Material and Methods

Developed Furrow Openers and Furrow Closers

From the literature reviewed, the commonly used furrow openers and furrow closers on semi-automatic vegetable transplanters were found to be shovel type (SL); shoe type (SE); runner type (RR) type and inclined mild steel plate (PC); disc type closers (DC). All these furrow openers and closers were fabricated as per standards in the workshop of Agricultural and Food Engineering Department, IIT Kharagpur and are shown in Fig. 1. The arrangement to attach furrow closer to the opener was made with the help of two angle iron sections attached to the shank of the opener. The holes were drilled in angle iron section at an interval of 10 mm for axial adjustment of furrow closer. Bush and solid circular rod were fabricated to ensure vertical adjustment of closers. Preexperimental trials were conducted to fix the furrow closer distance from the shank so that there is no clogging of soil. This distance was

found to be 19.5 cm. The disc angle of DC and PC were varied as 100; 150; 20 °C and 200; 300; 40 °C respectively, whereas tilt angle of 20 °C was kept constant for all experiments in case of DC. Markings were made on top side of the solid circular rod to adjust the disc angle of both furrow closers.

Experimental Set-up for Laboratory Tests

The experimental set-up for testing of different furrow opener and closer consisted of an indoor soil bin of size 15 m \times 1.8 m \times 0.6 m (A), a soil processing trolley (B), an implement trolley (C), a metering unit trolley (D), a speed measurement system, hydraulically operated cone index (CI) measurement system and a data acquisition system (DAS) shown in **Fig. 2**. All the three furrow openers SE, SL, RR and two furrow closers DC and PC were tested in the indoor soil bin at three operating depths (60, 70 and 80 mm) and four operating speeds (0.8, 1.2, 2.2 and 3.2 km/h) following a randomized block design with three replications. The soil in the soil bin was sandy clay loam with an average moisture content of 9.5 \pm 1 % (db). A multistage cup type metering unit setup of an automatic vegetable transplanter developed at IIT Kharagpur along with furrow opener and closer was attached to the implement trolley. Dummy seedling pots made of plastic of desired size and weight were used for conducting the experiments. Draft, speed, cone index and depth were recorded in the DAS. An extended octagonal ring transducer (EORT) was used to measure draft, whereas the potentiometer was used for depth measurement. An infrared moisture meter was used to determine the moisture content of soil. Before starting the test, the soilprocessing trolley comprising of ro-

Fig. 1 Developed furrow openers with closers





b) Shoe



c) Runner with disk closer





tavator and leveler was operated in the soil bin to prepare the soil bed. Cone index of about 225 ± 25 kPa and a bulk density of 1.2 ± 0.5 kg/ m^3 and moisture content of 9.5 ± 1 (d.b.) were maintained in the depth range of 0-80 mm of soil bed for each test. To ensure the uniformity of compaction, five observations of cone index were taken for each seedbed. Similarly, the soil variability and uniformity of moisture were checked by collecting five samples from each seedbed along the length of the soil bin and verifying the moisture content and bulk density.

Test Procedure

Each test was carried out for a test length of 5 m in the middle span of the prepared soil bed with three replicates. After selecting a gear to obtain the desired speed and fixing the desired depth of operation for the furrow opener, the inclined plate closer was lowered to ground level and was set at required angle by matching the markings on rod and bush connecting closer. EORT was attached to the cross bar of the implement trolley and the entire setup was pulled by the soil processing trolley in the soil bin. With the help of EORT and proximity switch, the data on draft and speed of operation were continuously recorded by DAS. After the test, amount of soil covering of the seedlings was measured and expressed as percentage of soil coverage by measuring the height of pot seedling covered with soil using a scale. At the end of each test, the soil bed was disturbed and was prepared again following the same procedure to maintain the desired soil conditions for conducting other tests.

Results and Discussion

The data collected on draft and soil coverage for different furrow openers and closers by varying the operating parameters were analyzed and are presented in two groups; one comprised furrow opener (SE, SE and RR) with PC and other comprised furrow opener (SE, SE and RR) with DC.

Effect of Speed, Depth and Closer Angle on the Draft and Soil Coverage of Different Furrow Openers with PC

Types of Furrow Opener

Figs. 3a, 3b and 3c and Figs. 4a,

4b and **4c** show the variations of draft and soil coverage of different types of furrow openers with PC at different depths, operating speeds and plate closer angles, respectively. Draft of all furrow openers was observed to be increased with increase in speed and depth of operation. Among the furrow openers tested, the draft of the RR type was found to be the highest, while the lowest draft was observed for the SE type

Fig. 3 Variations of draft of different types of furrow openers with plate closer at different depths, operating speeds and closer angles



for the entire ranges of speed, depth and closer angle tested. This could be due to highest and lowest cutting width obtained for the RR type and SE type furrow openers, respectively.

The soil coverage was found minimum i.e. 86 % for SE type furrow opener and it might be due to lesser width of cut obtained with SE type of furrow opener resulting in handling of lesser volume of soil as compared to other two furrow openers tested. The maximum soil coverage was obtained with RR type furrow opener i.e. 96.98 % due to maximum width of cut which allowed more volume of soil to cover the seedlings. Soil coverage with SL type furrow opener was 5.38 % lesser and 5.82 % higher than RR and SE type furrow openers, respectively.

Fig. 4 Variations of soil coverage in different types of furrow openers with plate closer at different depths, operating speeds and closer angles



Effect of Speed of Operation

Figs. 3a, 3b and 3c and Figs. 4a, 4b and 4c. respectively show the effect of speed of operation on the draft and soil coverage of furrow openers at different depths and plate closer angles. Draft of all furrow openers tested increased with increase in speed of operation. As the speed of operation increased from 0.8 to 3.2 km/h, the draft of SL, SE and RR type furrow openers with PC increased by 4.51 to 47.6 %. 15.3 to 48.8 % and 7.5 to 45.47 %, respectively. This was due to higher shear rate and increased soil-metal friction at higher speed of operation. However, the speed of 3.2 km/h was found unsuitable because seedlings were not vertically placed in the opened furrow due to inertia effect.

When speed of operation was increased from 0.8 to 2.2 km/h, the soil coverage was observed to be reduced by 7.32 %. Because at higher speeds, soil was thrown outside and less volume of soil was available for the plate closers to cover the seed-lings.

Effect of Depth of Operation

It can be seen from **Figs. 3** and **4** that both draft requirement and soil coverage obtained for all the furrow openers tested increased with increase in depth of operation. The obvious explanation for this could be higher volume of soil handled by the tools and increased soil strength with increase in depth of operation, thus leading to higher draft and availability of more volume of soil for higher soil coverage of seed-lings.

Effect of Closer Angle

It can be seen from **Figs. 3** and **4** that both draft and soil coverage of all furrow openers with PC increased with increase in angle of closer from 20 °C to 40 °C at any operating speed tested. Among the three angles tested, lowest i.e. 13 kg and highest draft values i.e. 44.4 kg as well as lowest i.e. 63.12 % and highest soil coverage i.e. 108.75 % were observed for 20 °C and 40 °C

angles of PC, respectively. This was due to more volume of soil handled by the plate closers with increase in closer angle.

Effect of Operating Speed, Depth and Closer Angle on the Draft and Soil Coverage for Different Furrow **Openers with DC**

Types of Furrow Opener

The variations in draft and soil coverage at different depths, speeds of operation and closer angles of different furrow openers are shown in Figs. 5a, 5b and 5c and Figs. 6a. 6b and 6c, respectively. The drafts of all furrow openers increased with increase in speed and depth of operation. Among the furrow openers tested, the draft of the RR type was found to be the highest, while the lowest draft was observed for the SE type furrow opener for the entire range of speed, depth and closer angle tested. This was due to highest width of cut for any depth of operation obtained with RR type furrow opener. The lowest width of cut was observed for the SE type furrow opener.

The soil coverage was found lowest, i.e. 94.5 % for SE opener because it was creating less soil disturbance: hence less volume of soil was available to cover the seedlings. However, highest soil coverage was observed for RR type opener due to maximum width of cut which made more volume of soil available to cover the seedlings.

Effect of Speed of Operation

The draft of all furrow openers with DC increased with increase in speed of operation as shown in Figs. 5a, 5b and 5c. The draft was found to increase from 25.73 to 104 %. 15.83 to 90.43 % and 7.46 to 125 %, when the speed of operation was increased from 0.8 to 3.2 km/ h. The possible reason behind this might be rapid acceleration of soil with increased normal load on soil engaging surfaces, thereby increasing the frictional resistance and also because of kinetic energy imparted

to the soil. Higher speed resulted in higher shear rate thus leading to higher draft. However, at 3.2 km/h speed, the seedlings were falling in the furrow with an angle of inclination more than 50 °C due to inertia effect. Hence, this speed was found unsuitable for vegetable transplanter with pot seedlings.

Soil coverage decreased by 9.44 % with increase in speed of operation from 0.8 to 2.2 km/h. Because

0.8

at higher speeds, soil was thrown outside so less volume of soil was available for DC to cover the seedling (Figs. 6a, 6b and 6c).

Effect of Depth of Operation

It can be seen from Figs. 5 and 6 that both draft requirement and soil coverage obtained for all furrow openers with DC increased with increase in depth of operation. The obvious explanation for this could be higher volume of soil handled by





Speed of operation, km/h b) 7 cm

1.2



the tools and increased soil strength with increase in depth of operation, thus leading to higher draft and availability of more volume of soil for higher soil coverage of seedlings.

Effect of Closer Angle

It can be seen from **Figs. 5** and **6** that both draft and soil coverage of all furrow openers with DC increased with increase in angle of closer from 10 °C to 20 °C at

any operating speed tried. Among the three angles tested lowest and highest draft values as well as lowest and highest soil coverage were observed for 10 °C and 20 °C DC angles, respectively. This was due to handling of more volume of soil by the disc closers with increase in closer angle.

Fig. 6 Variations of soil coverage in different types of furrow openers with disc closer at different depths, operating speeds and closer angles



Selection of Best Combination of Furrow Opener and Furrow Closer

The criterion for selection of best furrow opener and furrow closer was the combination which gave less draft and minimum required soil coverage, i.e. 100 %.

Effect of Opener Type on Draft and Soil Coverage

The results of statistical analysis (Duncan Multiple Range test, DMRT) was carried out to decide the best among the two groups of furrow openers with closer are given in Tables 2 to 4. It can be seen from these Tables that draft and soil coverage were minimum for SE opener and maximum for RR opener with both PC and DC. Draft for openers with PC was found lesser than openers with DC, while soil coverage was lesser than 100 % for all furrow openers with PC i.e. the seedlings dropped in the furrow were not covered properly (Fig. 7a). Hence, the next suitable furrow opener is SL type from the draft and soil coverage point of view. The draft and soil coverage of SL type furrow opener with disc closer were 28.1 N and 100.9 % (Fig. 7b) respectively as compared to 26.45 and 91.76 % with SL type furrow opener with PC. Though draft was 6.23 % higher but soil coverage was more than 100 %, hence, SL opener with DC was selected as suitable combination of furrow opener and furrow closer for vegetable transplanters with cup type metering mechanism handling pot seedlings.

Effect of Closer Angle of DC on Draft and Soil Coverage

The effect of closer angle on draft and soil coverage can be seen on DMRT output given in **Table 4**. From this table, it can be seen that both draft and soil coverage increased as closer angle of disc increased. Maximum coverage (104.4 %) was observed for 20 °C closer angle but with a higher draft requirement. Hence, 15 °C closer

		-	
Organisations	Transplanter and seedlings types	Type of furrow opener	Type of furrow closer
TNAU, Coimbatore	Three row, plug type, semiautomatic	Shoe	Press wheel
CIAE, Bhopal	2-row, semiautomatic, bare root seedling	Runner	Press wheel
IIT Kharagpur	Hand tractor operated, fully automatic, paper pot seedlings	Shovel	Inclined M.S. plates
Dr. PDKV, Akola	Semiautomatic, bare root seedling type	Shoe	Inclined M.S plates
PAU, Ludhiana	2-row, tractor mounted, bare root seedling	Runner	Press wheel
BCKV, West Bengal	One row, power tiller operated, bare root seedling	Modified vertical tool	Miniature mould board

Table 1 Vegetable transplanters along with the type of openers and closers

 Table 2 Duncan Multiple Range Test for effect of opener type on draft

	Openers with PC			Openers with DC		
Opener type		Subsets			Subsets	
type	1	2	3	1	2	3
SE	187.56			175.59		
SL		259.47			275.66	
RR			298.12			367.09

 Table 3 Duncan Multiple Range Test for effect of opener type

 on soil coverage

on son coverage							
	Openers with PC			Openers with DC			
Opener type		Subsets		Subsets			
type	1	2	3	1	2	3	
SE	86.71			94.5			
SL		91.76			102		
RR			96.98			103.7	

 Table 4
 Duncan Multiple Range Test for effect of closer angle on draft and soil coverage for disc closer

	Openers with PC					
Closer	Draft, N			Soil coverage, %		
angle, deg		Subsets			Subsets	
	1	2	3	1	2	3
10	227.29			94.94		
15		274.38			100.9	
20			316.76			104.4

Fig. 7 Pictorical view of the planted seedlings at various speeds





a) Plate closer at 2.2 km/h b) Disc closer at 2.2 km/h



c) At 3.2 km/h

angle of disc was selected as it gave the required soil coverage (100.9 %) with lesser draft compared to the draft at 20 °C closer angle.

Conclusions

- Draft and soil coverage increased with increase in operating depth for all furrow openers tested with both plate closer as well as disc closer.
- Draft increased with increase in operating speed for all furrow openers with both plate closer as well as disc closer, whereas soil coverage slightly decreased as speed was increased.
- Speed of operation 3.2 km/h was found unsuitable for vegetable transplanter with cup type metering mechanism handling pot seedlings because seedlings were not falling vertically in the furrow.
- Both soil coverage and draft increased with increase in disc closer angle. Disc closer angle of 15 °C was selected as it gave minimum required soil coverage (100.9 %) with lesser draft as compared to 20 °C closer angle.
- SL opener with disc closer was selected as the suitable combination of furrow opener and furrow closer for vegetable transplanter with cup type metering mechanism as it was giving required soil coverage of 100 %.

Acknowledgment

The financial support extended by Council of Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR), New Delhi to carryout this research work is gratefully acknowledged.

REFERENCES

- Anonymous. 2010. Indian Horticultural Database. National Horticultural Board, Ministry of Agriculture, Government of India, New Delhi.
- Pandey, U. B. and D. K. Singh. 2004. Status and need for mechanization of production and post production operations in vegetable crops in Maharashtra'. Proceedings of the National working group meeting on Mechanization needs of horticulture and hill agriculture for production and post production operations and value addition, 74-81.
- Saxena, S. and V. Dhawan. 2006. Changing scenarios in Indian horticulture. Plant biotechnology and molecular markers. Springer, Dordrecht, Netherland.
- Clarke, L. J. 1997. Agricultural mechanization strategy formulation. Agricultural Engineering Branch, Agricultural Support Systems Division, FAO, Rome, Italy.
- Srivastava, N. S. L. 1999. Role of agricultural engineering in doubling food production in next ten years'. Agricultural Engineering Today 23(1-2): 37-49.
- Nair, P. K. K. 2002. Creditable impact of tractors. The Hindu Survey of Indian Agriculture, M/ s Kasturi and Sons Ltd., Chennai, India.
- Chaudhuri, D., V. V. Singh, and A. K. Dubey. 2000. Refinement and adoption of mechanical vegetable transplanter for Indian condition. Agricultural Engineering Today. 26(5-6): 11-20.
- Murray, J. R., J. N. Tullberg, and B. B. Basnet. 2006. Planter and their components, types, attributes, functional requirements, classification and description. School of Agronomy and Horticulture, University of Queensland, Australia.



Performance Evaluation of Experimental Self-Propelled Double Row Sugarcane Harvester



by Vaibhav Suryawanshi Research Associate vaibhav4fpm@gmail.com

Surinder Singh Thakur Research Engineer ssthakur3@yahoo.com





Ankit Sharma Research Associate ankitagrineer@gmail.com

Abstract

India produces more than 340 millions tones of cane at an average rate of 70 tons per ha. It is grown by small, medium and big farmers, but 83 % of sugarcane growers fall in small holder category. Sugarcane harvesting is the single most expensive and labour intensive operation in sugarcane farming. Whole Stalk harvesting or Cut-chop harvesting are expensive systems and as such beyond the capacity of average farmer of developing countries. Most of the sugarcane farmers in developing countries use a handheld knife to cut the sugarcane stalks at the base level and green top by impact force. In some developing countries, including India, farmers are beginning to face labour shortages, because of recurring labour scarcity during harvest season. It is desirable to transport the harvested cane to the factory within 24 h, as the yield declines by 0.4 % per day after cutting. In this study an experimental self-propelled double row sugarcane harvester powered by an 8 hp diesel engine was used. The machine was evaluated for field capacity (ha/h), fuel consumption (L/h) and material capacity (t/h) as dependent parameters and forward speed (2 level), method of collection (viz. guide bar method and rope method) and cutter bar speed (3 level) as the independent parameters. The experiment was conducted for trench planted sugarcane crop. The optimum parameters were found at; forward speeds 1.0-1.4 km/h, guide bar and 1020 strokes/min of knife bar in trench plant cane.

Introduction

India is the second largest sugar producing country of the world. It occupies an area of about 4.41 mha (Anon., 2008a). India produces more than 340 million tonnes of cane at a national average of 70 tons per ha (Anon., 2008b). About 83 % of sugarcane growers are small farm holders (Sharma et al., 2006). Sugarcane plantations are concentrated mainly in nine Indian states, viz; Andhra Pradesh, Bihar, Gujarat, Haryana, Maharashtra, Punjab, Tamil Nadu, Uttar Pradesh, and Uttaranchal. The sugarcane harvesting season falls between August and January, but it varies from region to region, as India is a large country with two distinct climatic zones, one tropical and one subtropical, and sugarcane is grown differently in each of these zones.

Sugarcane harvesting is the single

most expensive operation in sugarcane farming. Sugarcane harvesting is done by skilled workers who are well experienced in harvesting the cane in order to maximize sugar yield, and without damaging the cane stumps at the ground level as these are essential for the ratoon sugarcane crop. Manual harvesting involves cutting the stalks and removing the green tops, detrashing, bundling and loading of cane in transport vehicle.

In some developing countries, sugarcane farmers face acute labour shortage, during harvest season. Farmer often uses strategy of early harvest and stock piling of the harvested cane before delivery date to the sugar processing mills. In this process, some of the cane deteriorates in quality. Hence, it is desirable to transport the harvested sugarcane to the factory within 24 h, since the yield decreases by 0.4 % per day after cutting (Bhaholyodin *et al.*, 1988).

Manual harvesting is also quite commonly used by Indian sugarcane growers. There is acute shortage of skilled manual labour, which is leading to considerable problems for Indian sugar mills. Sugarcane harvesting is a tedious task, and not very well paid. Hence, it is difficult for many plantations to find workers who can harvest the cane properly.

Mechanical harvesters are expensive to purchase, and also expensive to run. Mechanical cane harvesters are also large, heavy equipment that cause considerable soil compaction. Sugarcane needs medium to heavier soil in order to grow well. Cane harvesters also damage the roots of sugarcane far more severely and far more often than manual harvesters. Sugarcane roots are important, as they will sprout and grow again, sometimes up to twelve times, though this is an exceptional number and usually only associated with special strains of Brazilian sugarcane. The typical number of re-growth is between three and six. Destroying roots during the first harvest, therefore, represents a significant yield loss from a single planting. Sugarcane harvesting continues to evolve over time.

Cane harvesters are in wide use in countries like Australia, Brazil and

America. These are broadly of two types, namely, Sugarcane Combines and Wholestalk Harvesters. Functions performed by combine are detopping, base-cutting, chopping, the cane stalk into billets, trash removal, conveying and loading. The whole stalk harvesters detop, base cut and windrow the cane stalks. Loaders subsequently pick up the windrow cane manually or mechanically. These machines are usually operated after burning the cane to reduce the trash content.

Sugarcane combines are usually self-propelled and generally require over 100 kW engine (Briscoc. 1970). Sharma and Singh (1985) designed and developed a rear mounted tractor operated sugarcane harvester. It cuts cane with ground level and windrows the harvested stalk. The capacity of the machine was 0.25 ha/h. Gupta et al. (1996) developed a self-propelled single-axle sugarcane harvester powered by 6

 Table 1 Specifications of double row Self Propelled sugarcane harvester

Particulars	Dimension/type
Name and type of machine	Self propelled, walk behind type
Engine	Diesel engine
Power source and type of cooling	8hp and air-cooled
Number and types of blades	12, serrated blades
Width of cut, mm	1,000
Number of gear	3
Power transmission	From engine through pitman shaft, which in turn drive the cutter bar
Dimensions	Overall length: 1000 mm
	Overall width: 800 mm
	Overall height: 1000 mm
Traction device	Double wheel, 4-10 inch.
Starting	By using rope
Controls	Brake, clutch, Forward and Backward direction

Table 2	Machine	parameters
---------	---------	------------

Levels	Values	Dependent Parameters		
2	a) 1.00-1.40 km/h (F ₁)	Eval concumption (L/h)		
Z	b) 1.50-1.90 km/h (F ₂)	Fuel consumption (L/h)		
2	a) Guide bar method (M_1)		Field capacity (ha/h)	
Z	b) Rope method (M ₂)			
	a) C ₁ : 550Strokes/min (C ₁)			
3	b) C ₂ : 800 Strokes/min (C ₂)	Material capacity (t/h)		
	c) C ₃ : 1020 Strokes/min (C ₃)			
	2 2	$\begin{array}{c c} 2 & a) \ 1.00\ -1.40 \ \text{km/h} \ (\text{F}_1) \\ b) \ 1.50\ -1.90 \ \text{km/h} \ (\text{F}_2) \\ \hline 2 & a) \ \text{Guide bar method} \ (\text{M}_1) \\ b) \ \text{Rope method} \ (\text{M}_2) \\ \hline 3 & a) \ \text{C}_1: \ 550 \ \text{Strokes/min} \ (\text{C}_1) \\ \hline 3 & b) \ \text{C}_2: \ 800 \ \text{Strokes/min} \ (\text{C}_2) \end{array}$		

kW (8hp) gasoline engine. It was primarily developed for farmers of developing countries who cannot afford to purchase expensive sugarcane harvester used in developed countries. In the field test, the average field capacity of the machine was found to be 0.13 ha/h with average field efficiency of 71 %.

Thus, it may be appropriate to introduce a whole stalk harvester in view of its lower cost. However, this harvester may not include detopping because tops are used as an animal feed in many developing countries. Therefore, there is a need to develop a suitable harvester to suit local conditions and mechanize sugarcane harvesting in India.

Materials and Methods

A double row, self propelled, walk behind type sugarcane harvester was developed and evaluated in the Department of Farm Machinery and Power Engineering, Punjab Agricultural University, Ludhiana during the year 2008-09. The specifications of the equipment are given in Table 1. The independent and dependent parameters selected for the study are given in Table 2.

Methods of Planting

There are three methods of planting, viz, flat-planting, furrow-planting and trench-planting. Flat-planting

In this method, shallow furrows are opened with a desi plough, 80 to 100 cm apart; the setts are placed in the furrows end to end and covered with 5 to 7 cm of soil, and the field is leveled with a heavy plank (sohaga). Furrow-planting

Furrows are drawn by a ridger, about 10 to 15 cm deep, in northern India and about 20 cm deep in Peninsular India. Setts are laid end to end in the furrows and covered with 5 to 7cm of soil, leaving the upper portion of the furrows unfilled. After planting and covering the setts, water is let into the furrows. In some parts of Tamil Nadu, particularly in heavy clay soils, water is first let into the furrows to soak its bed thoroughly and the cane setts are then dropped into the furrow and pressed into the mud by feet. In the case of monsoon planting, as a precaution against the stagnant water in the furrows damaging the buds, the setts are placed inclined on the side of the furrow, instead of flat at the bottom of the furrows.

Trench planting

Trenches, 20 to 25 cm deep with rectangular or trapezoidal in section, are made either by manual labour or by a tractor-drawn ridger; the bottom of the furrow is loosened by digging (Fig. 3b). Shallow furrows are made in the bed of the trench and the setts are placed end to end in the furrows and covered, by soil as in the case of flat-planting. Water is then let into the trenches. Trench-making, setts planting applying fertilizer and pesticides and covering the setts in the trenches are done simultaneously by a tractordrawn planter.

In most parts of northern India and Bihar, and in the Malnad tract of Karnataka, cane is planted

Fig. 1 Sugarcane harvester

machine

on flatland. Furrow-planting is practiced in parts of eastern Uttar Pradesh and in Peninsular India. and trench-planting is done in some coastal areas where the crop grows very tall and the strong winds are liable to bend the cane and damage them. Planting is done dry or wet. In the canes of dry method, irrigation is not applied at planting time or immediately after that, the planted setts germinate in the comparatively dry soil. In wet planting, on the other hand, the field is irrigated just before or after planting or at both times so that setts germinate in wet soil. Whether the furrows are irrigated before or after planting makes little or no difference. Indeed, in most cases the planted field gets additional irrigations to keep it wet throughout the period of germination.

Constructional Description of the Harvester

A double row self-propelled walk behind harvester operated by 8 hp diesel engine was used to cut the sugarcane sticks of variety COJ-87 by using single acting reciprocating knife type cutter bar of 1m size. Power transmission to the cutter

bar was provided by a pitman shaft which was connected to the engine through clutch and gear box. The desired cutter bar speed was maintained by means of a engine accelerator placed near the handle. Cutter bar worked on the principle of shearing of the cane stalks and cut sugarcane stalks close to the ground to minimize the losses. As the machine moved along the row, the cut cane stalks were laid in windrow by using the rope and guide bar method. Power to the wheels was provided from the engine through clutch and gear box. These all are on handle for easy and safe operation. The stationary view of the machine is shown in **Fig. 1**.

Method of Collection and Planting

A rope and guide bar method was used for windrowing the cut sugarcane stalks. For using the rope method, the rope was always placed inside the row. Hence some idle time was required for cutting of each cane and five labours were required for the operator. To reduce this labour requirement and time, a guide bar to windrow the cut sugarcane crop was developed which helped in labour and time saving. For the de-



1. Guide bar, 2. Pnematic wheel, 3. Cutter bar, 4. Engine, 5. Break and, 6. Accelerator

Fig. 2 Schematic diagram of guide bar

50 .

m

50

460 mm





velopment of the guide bar, MS Flat of size $3" \times 1/4"$ and B class high pressure M.S. pipe of length 1.5 m length was used (**Fig. 2**). The field trials were conducted in a field with trench planted cane, with row to row spacing of 90 cm and 30 cm for alternate rows. A view of planting method is shown in **Fig. 3a**.

Experimental Layout and Evaluation Procedure

A 20 m long sugarcane row was selected for each cutting. Forward speed was selected along with the cutter bar speed and method of collection. Labour requirement was constant for rope and guide bar method, viz. 5 labours for rope method and 3labourers for guide bar method. Considerable time was required for providing the rope in the inter row spacing. The machine was run in the required speed in the chosen gear to cut the cane standing in row and required time to cut the row, fuel and weight of cut sugarcane stalk were recorded. Similar experiments were conducted on different combinations of parameters for cutting the sugarcane for every row in the sugarcane field. During field experiments, an auxiliary five litre fuel tank was fitted on the machine to monitor fuel consumption. The auxiliary tank was installed to a fixed mark on the tank before starting the operation in the field. After harvesting the plot, the machine was stopped and fuel tank was refilled to the fixed level with a 250 ml measuring jar. The quantity of fuel required for refilling was recorded and fuel consumption was calculated.

Results and Discussion

Effect of Forward Speed on Fuel Consumption

Effect of forward speed on fuel

consumption for different methods of collection and cutter bar speed are given in a Table 3 and trend shown in Fig. 5. In general, fuel consumption increased with the increase in forward speed. The maximum fuel consumption of 2.59 L/h was observed at forward speed between 1.50-1.90 km/h and at cutter bar speed of 1020 Strokes/min. The values of fuel consumption of 0.88 L/h and 0.92 L/h, were at observed at forward speed of 1.00-1.40 km/h and cutter bar speed 550 of strokes/min. The fuel consumption in trench planting was more because two rows of cane were cut at a time and the cane density was more.

Effect of Cutter Bar Speed on Fuel Consumption

Effect of cutter bar speed on the fuel consumption for different methods of collection and forward speed is given in **Table 3** and trend shown in **Fig. 6**. In general, fuel consump-

Forward speed	Method of	Cutter bar speed	Fuel consumption (L/h)			
(km/h)	collection	(Strokes/min)	i	ii	iii	Avg
		550	0.87	0.93	0.95	0.92
	Guide bar method	800	1.05	1.13	1.11	1.10
1.0-1.4		1020	1.66	1.80	1.54	1.66
(1st gear)	Rope method	550	0.87	0.85	0.93	0.88
		800	1.18	1.11	1.23	1.17
		1020	1.58	1.67	1.50	1.58
	Guide bar method	550	1.44	1.57	1.65	1.55
		800	1.86	1.83	1.96	1.88
1.5-1.9 (2nd gear)		1020	2.72	2.42	2.65	2.59
		550	1.38	1.54	1.46	1.46
	Rope method	800	1.77	1.76	1.92	1.82
		1020	2.17	2.35	2.27	2.29

Table 3 E	Experimental	data of fuel	consumption	of sugarcane	harvester in tre	ench planting
-----------	--------------	--------------	-------------	--------------	------------------	---------------





tion increased with increase in cutter bar speed for each method of collection and forward speed of the machine. The values of fuel consumption were 1.69 and 2.59 L/h at cutter bar speed of 1020 strokes/min with guide bar method. The fuel consumption varied between 0.88

and 1.55 L/h at cutter bar speed of 550 strokes/min with rope method and at 1.50-1.90 km/h forward speed.

 Table 4 Experimental data of Field capacity of sugarcane harvester in trench planting

Forward speed	Method of	Cutter bar speed	Field capacity (ha/h)				
(km/h)	collection	(Strokes/min)	i	ii	iii	Avg	
		550	0.055	0.055	0.054	0.055	
	Guide bar method	800	0.060	0.059	0.061	0.060	
1.0-1.4		1020	0.083	0.086	0.080	0.083	
(1st gear)		550	0.052	0.053	0.053	0.053	
	Rope method	800	0.064	0.063	0.061	0.063	
		1020	0.076	0.078	0.075	0.076	
	Guide bar method	550	0.075	0.079	0.074	0.076	
		800	0.083	0.085	0.082	0.083	
1.5-1.9 (2nd gear)		1020	0.112	0.105	0.107	0.108	
		550	0.069	0.071	0.070	0.070	
	Rope method	800	0.076	0.079	0.080	0.078	
		1020	0.096	0.094	0.092	0.094	

Fig. 6 Effect of cutter bar speed on fuel consumption in trench planting





Fig. 7 Effect of method of collection on material capacity in trench planting

Effect of Method of Collection on Fuel Consumption

Effect of method of collection on the average fuel consumption at different forward speed and cutter bar speed is given in **Table 3** and trend shown in **Fig. 7**. In general, fuel consumption was more in guide bar method. From the data presented in **Table 3**, it was concluded that at cutter bar speed of 550 strokes/ min and for guide bar method, when forward speed was 1.00-1.40 km/ h, fuel consumption increased from 0.92-1.66 L/h. and at forward speed of 1.50 -1.90 km/h, fuel consumption increased from 1.55-2.59 L/h. Similarly for rope method, at forward speed of 1.00-1.40 km/h, fuel consumption increased from 0.88-1.58 L/h and at forward speed of 1.50-1.90 km/h, fuel consumption increased from 1.46-2.29 L/h.

Effect of Forward Speed on Field Capacity

Effect of forward speed on field capacity for different methods of collection and cutter bar speed is shown in **Table 4** and trend depicted in **Fig. 8**. In general, the field capacity increased with the increase in forward speed. The values of field



capacity were 0.076-0.108 ha/h at forward speed of 1.50-1.90 km/ h and at cutter bar speed of 1020 stroke/min. The values of field capacity was 0.053-0.076 ha/h at forward speed of 1.00-1.40 km/h and cutter bar speed of 550 Strokes/min.

Effect of Cutter Bar Speed on Field Capacity

Effect of cutter bar speed on the field capacity for different methods of cane collection and forward speed is depicted in **Table 4** for flat bed

planting, and trend shown in **Fig. 9**. In general, field capacity increased with the increase in cutter bar speed for collection and forward speed of the machine. The values of field capacity were 0.076 to 0.108 ha/h at cutter bar speed of 1020 strokes/ min, for the guide bar method and forward speed of 1.50-1.90 km/h. The values of the field capacity varied from 0.053 to 0.076 ha/h at cutter bar speed of 550 strokes/min for rope method and at forward speed of 1.50-1.90 km/h.

Effect of Method of Collection on Field Capacity

Effect of method of collection on the field capacity at different forward speeds and cutter bar speed is shown in **Table 4** for flat bed planting, and trend shown in **Fig. 10**. The maximum values of field capacity was 0.083 ha/h and 0.108 ha/h at cutter bar speed of 1020 strokes/min for guide bar method at forward of speed 1.50-1.90 km/h. The minimum values of the method of collection varied from 0.053 ha/h and

Table 5	Experimental	data of materia	al capacity of suga	arcane harvester ir	trench planting
---------	--------------	-----------------	---------------------	---------------------	-----------------

Forward speed	Method of	Cutter bar speed	Material capacity (t/h)				
(km/h)	collection	(Strokes/min)	i	ii	iii	Avg	
		550	11.09	11.54	11.58	11.40	
	Guide bar method	800	12.53	11.36	12.59	12.16	
1.0-1.4		1020	16.39	18.29	17.35	17.34	
(1st gear)	Rope method	550	11.07	11.00	11.60	11.22	
		800	13.78	13.94	11.83	13.18	
		1020	15.67	16.69	14.09	15.48	
		550	15.53	14.77	14.28	14.86	
	Guide bar method	800	17.39	17.80	15.77	16.99	
1.5-1.9 (2nd gear)		1020	25.63	22.60	21.43	23.22	
		550	13.29	14.45	15.01	14.25	
	Rope method	800	16.47	15.47	16.58	16.17	
		1020	19.67	18.51	18.62	18.93	

Fig. 11 Effect of forward speed (Strokes/min) on throughout capacity in trench planting



0.070 ha/h were found at cutter bar speed of 550 strokes/min with rope method at 1.00-1.40 km/h.

Effect of Forward Speed on Material Capacity

Effect of forward speed on material capacity for different method of collection and cutter bar speed is shown in a **Table 5** and trend shown in **Fig. 11**. In general, material capacity increased with the increasing forward speed and cutter bar speed. The values of the material capacity varied between 18.93-23.22 t/ h at forward speed 1.50-1.90 km/ h, at cutter bar speed 1020 strokes/ min. The values of material capacity were 11.22 t/h and 11.40 t/h, at forward speed 1.00-1.40 km/h, cutter bar speed at 550 strokes/min.

Effect of Cutter Bar Speed on Material Capacity

Effect of cutter bar speed on the material capacity corresponding to different method of collection and forward speed is indicated in **Table 5** of ridge bed planting and trend shown in **Fig. 12**. In general, material capacity increased with the increase in cutter bar speed irrespective of method of collection and forward speed of the machine.

Effect of Method of Collection on Material Capacity

Effect of method of collection on average material capacity at different forward speeds and cutter bar speed is shown in **Table 5** and trend shown in **Fig. 13**. In general, material capacity was more for the guide bar method. The values of material capacity for guide bar method were 17.34-23.22 t/h and for rope method 15.48-18.93 t/h, at 1.50-1.90 km/h at cutter bar speed of 1020 strokes/ min. The values of material capacity for guide bar method varied between 11.40-14.86 t/h and for rope method between 11.22-14.25 t/h, at 1.00 to 1.40 km/h and cutter bar speed 550 strokes/min. The optimum operational parameters are shown in **Table 6**.

Conclusions

1. The experimental sugarcane harvester worked satisfactorily for ridge planting method.The fuel consumption was 1.53 L/h, field capacity 0.065 ha/h and throughput capacity was 9.87 t/h, at forward speed 1.00-1.40 km/h for the guide bar method.

 Table 6
 Optimum parameters for experimental sugarcane harvester

Trench planting							
Forward speed (km/h)	Method of collection	Cutter bar speed (Strokes/min)	Fuel consumption (L/h)	Field capacity (ha/h)	Material capacity (t/h)		
1.00-1.40	Guide bar	1020	1.66	0.083	17.34		
1.50-1.90	Rope method	1020	2.29	0.094	18.93		



- 2. There was significant effect of forward speed on fuel consumption of the machine and it also increased due to increase in crop density. Field capacity and throughput capacity also increased with increase in forward speed.
- 3. Guide bar method of collection consumed more fuel than rope method, but the labour requirements (5 man^{-h}/ha for rope method and 3 man-h/ha in guide bar method) were reduced by 66 %. This system comprised simple bar mechanism for guiding of cut stalks to one side to stop being crushed under the tires. The time required to insert the rope inside the crop was more; due to this the labour required in case of rope method was always more than that of guide bar method of handling the harvested cane stalks.
- 4. The harvesting operation was affected due to cane leaves, uneven row on ridge were major obstacle in the harvesting operation, while the lodged and irregular shape of stalk produced more split stalks.
- 5. The throughput capacity increased with the increase in the yield of sugarcane.
- 6. This harvester could cut the canes stalks, but labour was still required for detrashing operation.
- 7. The optimum operational parameters were, forward speed of 1.00 -1.40 km/h, guide bar method and cutter bar speed of 1020 strokes/ minute.

REFERENCES

- Anonymous. 2008a. www.ficciagroindia.com/general/agriculturestatistics. A site registered with main library, Punjab Agricultural University, Ludhiana (Date of visit: 15th APR, 2009).
- Anonymous. 2008b. www.indiastat. com. A site registered with main library, Punjab Agricultural University, Ludhiana (Date of visit:

15th April, 2009).

- Bhaholyodin, B., K. Prasarn., K. Kazumoto, and G. Yoshiaki. 1988. Study on some physical properties of sugarcane for whole stalk harvester design. J Kasetsart 22: 88-90.
- Briscoc, J. M. 1970. M. F.-201 Trials in Mexico and Jamaica. Sugar Y. Azucar 65(9): 23-24.
- Gupta C. P., L. Lwin, and T. Katiwat. 1996. Development of a selfpropelled single-axle sugarcane harvester. Trans ASAE 12: 427-34.
- Sharma, M. P., S. R. Misra, and A. K. Mishra. 2006. Recent developments in sugarcane mechanization in India. Agricultural Mech anization in Asia, Afrrica and Laten America (AMA) 37: 33-35.
- Sharma, M. P. and K. Singh. 1985. Design and development of rear mounted tractor operated sugarcane harvester. Agricultural Mech anization in Asia, Afrrica and Laten America (AMA)16: 47-50.

Development and Evaluation of a New Double-Row Sugarcane Billet Planter with Overlap Planting Pattern

by

Moslem Namjoo Instructor, Agricultural Machinery Department, University of Jiroft, P.O. Box: 364, Jiroft, IRAN moslem.namjoo@ag.iut.ac.ir

Jalil Razavi

Assistant Professor, Farm Machinery Department, College of Agriculture, Isfahan University of Technology, Isfahan, IRAN

Abstract

A reduction in the amount of billet used in mechanized planting of sugarcane is very important. In this research a new billet planter which plants billets with an overlap planting pattern was fabricated. Array of cupboards attached on chain conveyor were used on two metering devices for transportation of billets to the furrows. The mechanism used to exclude extra billets was effective and at the same time simple in design and construction. Chain conveyor system enabled the timing of the billet travel to provide desired planting with the recommended billet overlapping. Ground-driven power train was used to run the metering devices, hence providing a constant billet overlap planting pattern according to the changes of forward speed. The planter was evaluated in the field based on the on cupboards filling percentage, over-overlapping and underoverlapping as affected by planting speeds (2.59, 3, 3.5, 4 km/h), cane varieties (CP69-1062 and CP57-614) and angles of the chain conveyor structure from vertical line (10, 15, 20 degree) with three replications. A factorial experiment in a completely randomized design was used to determine effect of planting speed and chain conveyor angle on cupboards

filling percentage, over and underoverlap indexes. The results indicated that the chain conveyor angle and planting speed have significant effects on cupboards filling percentage. An increase in planting speed and chain conveyor angle decreased the percentage filling of cupboards. The best performance of the metering unit designed was obtained at a planting speed of 3.5 km/h for both varieties with a 20 degree conveyor chain angle.

Keywords: Billet Planter, Metering Unit, Overlap, Planting Uniformity and Sugarcane

Introduction

Sugarcane (Sacharum Officinarum L.) is a biennial crop and native of warm climates. The most important part of sugarcane is its stalks of which sugar is extracted [5]. Overall, 62 % of world sugar produced comes from sugarcane and 38 % from sugar beet ^[13]. Depending on geographical and climatic location, sugarcane may be harvested up to six years. Seed planting sugarcane is for developing new varieties while hole stalk and/or billet planting is for the purpose of sugar and byproducts production ^[2]. In billet planting often billets having 3 to 5 nodes are selected. At each

node on the billets buds will appear from which stalks are grown and tillers may result. Billets placement on the planting rows inside furrows may be overlapped or none overlapped. None overlapping is when billets are placed horizontally on the soil surface one after another with longitudinal overlapping. If billets are placed with some degree of covering a part of each other, then the planting is the type of an overlapping pattern. The advantage of overlapping planting pattern is that if and when cutting stalks takes place between the nodes (internodes cutting), a 10 to 15 cm overlapping would result in a more uniform crop coverage after germination ^[6]. The number of billets planted per hectare depends on various factors including environmental conditions, variety, rate and method of irrigation, planting method and usually may amount to 15 to 20 thousands billets per hectares ^[2]. Planting may take place manually or by machine. Manual planting takes time and increases production costs. Because of labor shortages nowadays, manual planting only is practiced in small scale farming or for re-plantation of areas left with gaps; therefore, mechanized planting has become a necessity. Various planters are used for sugarcane planting. These mainly are billet planters and cutterplanters. In cutter planters whole stalk cane are fed to rotary cutters by labor and cut into certain desired length and then are placed on furrows. These machines may or may not make furrows and distribute fertilizers ^[12]. In billet planters equal length billets cut by harvester drum cutters go through metering devices which then transfer billets to ground surface. Metering devices are two types of precision meters and nonprecision meters. Depending on metering device used on planters, billets are either planted uniformly (precision metering) or planted with a mixed or irregular pattern (nonprecision metering).

Rajamohan (2002) developed a sugarcane planter in India which was of pulled type and had three separate holding tanks for pre-cut billets which were fed through a drop tube by three labours towards ground surface [11]. Tajuddin and Kavitha (2003) designed a pulled type planter with a field capacity of 2.5 to 3 ha/day. The metering device had two rotating drums capable of cutting whole stalk cane. Canes were fed to the drum through an inclined channel by labour. Drums holding cutters were powered by tractor PTO shaft. Billets planted were covered by soil after placement on the furrows by disk covers. Average billet length was 350 to 360 mm and average overlap length of consecutive billets placed on soil surface varied from 150 to 180 mm ^[15]. A one row planter with a tank holding 750 kg of sugarcane billets and 75 to 150 cm row width was designed in Egypt. The amount of overlap of billets planted was 25 % of the billets length [7]. In Pakistan, a planter was designed and developed to mechanize sugarcane planting operations. This machine was equipped with furrow opener and disk covers to cover billets planted with soil. Its metering device was capable of receiving billets from the tank and putting them on the soil surface in the furrows ^[16]. The

Australian company, Austoft, developed a pull type double row planter having 2 ton capacity and capable of planting some 8 ton/ ha of sugarcane billets. The metering device was ground wheel driven and had a one meter belt on which metal cupboards to pick up billets from the tank were fastened. The cupboards were 50 cm in length and had 4 cm height ^[6].

Billet length is a factor which affects planting process and impacts mechanical damage to billets and tillers on them. As the length increases, the damage decreases. Damage to billets with an average length of 50 cm in manual planting is reported to be 11.4 % less compared to mechanized planting of billets with average length of 25.5 cm ^[14]. Use of overlap planting pattern besides accelerating germination process, would contribute to reduction or elimination of replanting operations if and when poor plant coverage due to gaps is observed. The rate of billet dropping by the metering device of any planter is an important factor from an economic stand point. Over dropping or over consumption of sugarcane billets is uneconomical simply because additional billets consumed may be processed to sugar with higher economic value. On the other hand, higher billet consumption results in less planting spacing and would require thinning later after germination which would increase production costs; while lower consumption reduces yield per area planted ^[1]. The aim of this research was to design and develop a new billet planter which plants billets of 50 cm length with an overlap planting pattern. The objectives of the research were:

- To reduce production costs by total mechanization of sugarcane planting operation,
- To reduce billet consumption,
- To reduce mechanical damage to billets.

Material and Methods

Chassis Design

Design of agricultural machinery with specific goal of offering a solution for current problems in an agricultural region should consider certain important factors. The machine being designed should have simple flexible mechanisms with high degree of reliability and the least production costs. In next step, each and every component of the machine should have enough strength and be able to hold various loads exerted on them and at the same time have a good appearance in construction. In order to have a better design and higher fabrication quality, Solidworks software was used to model all parts and mechanisms [12]. Having considered the total geometry and dimensions based on holding tank volume and mass of each component, the assumed load on each part was entered into the model. Based on field conditions and each mechanisms type of work, the proper safety factor was considered in design having in mind the type of material being used in fabrication of the parts.

The chassis is considered to be as the main holding component of the planter various parts besides connecting to the tractor drawbar (Fig. 1). It should be designed in such a way that all other segments such as billet holding hoppers, metering devices, axels and wheels and power train are positioned in proper relation to each other. Since the chassis is faced with varying load exertion, selection of suitable material and shape and dimension for it is of great importance. Stress analysis should be applied to locate each and all parts and sections of the

Fig. 1 Modelling of billet planter's Chassis in Solidworks software



planter on the chassis. The chassis was designed to stand all bending and twisting loads. To increase its bending strength, its sectional momentum of inertia in line with the direction of bending was increased and for this purpose, length of the chassis was minimized, forces were concentrated close to the axle and C channel sections of were used in design of the chassis ^[13]. To avoid twisting of the chassis closed sections were used and longitudinal and cross anchors were applied deemed necessary ^[14].

Metering Device Design

А

Metering device is the most important part of any planter because it should precisely count and uniformly distribute the seeds or in this case the billets. For billet planters, they should be able to plant billets with an overlap pattern or without any overlap. A metering device based on the mentioned goals and objectives above was designed and developed (**Fig. 2**). Each metering device

В

consisted of two upper and lower chassis hinged in the middle to each other. This provided the possibility of changing the vertical angle of the upper chassis related to lower chassis which facilitates detachment of extra billets on each cupboard and transferring to holding tank. Timing of billets placement on furrows as desired with necessary overlap was made possible by combination of cupboards and chains matched with upper and lower chassis. The cupboards on conveyor chain had the job of carrying billets. Each billet was singularly picked up from the holding secondary tank and if more than one billet was in the cupboards, the additional one would be dropped out and returned back to the tank as the cupboard reached the middle section of the two chassis. When each billet reached top section of the upper chassis, it would drop on the back of the previous cupboard to be conveyed towards the soil surface. In this way, the job of detachment of extra billets would take place only in one point and by changing the vertical angle of the upper chassis [10]

Required Mechanical Power of Metering Device

Maximum power required to run the conveyor chain should be calculated when the chain system is at the position as shown in **Fig. 3**. To select power train components, mechanical power (Pm) required by conveyor chain was calculated using **Eqn. 1**^[8].

 $P_m = 2vL_cW_cF_c + Q(LF_m + H). (1)$ Where:

v: Linear chain speed (m/s)

- *L_c*: Laid out horizontal length of the chain (m)
- *W_c*: Chain conveyed mass per meter (N/m)
- *F_c*: Chain rolling frictional coefficient

Q: Chain carrying capacity (N/s)

L: Laid out length of chain section under load (m)

 F_m : Coefficient of friction of billets and metal surface

H: Height of billet conveyance (m). Linear speed of the conveyor chain at its highest level was considered to be 0.54 m/s equivalent

1. Chain wheel,
2. Secondary billet hopper,
3. Bottom chassis,
4. Cupboard,
5. Chain sering,
7. Top chassis,
8. Tensile bearing,
9. Idle chain wheel

Fig. 2a Schematic of metering unit and mechanism used for extra billets omission 2b Different parts of metering units to 4 km/h for the planting speed on which all experiments were to be conducted. Linear mass of the chain was calculated using **Eqn. 2**.

 $W_c = (2L_cw_c + nw_l) / L_c = (2 \times 4.584 \times 1.96 \times 9.8 + 24 \times 3.39) \times 9.8 / 4.58 = 212.26 (N/m) .(2)$

Where:

- L_c : Length of the chain (m)
- *n*: Number of cupboards carrying billets
- *w_l*: Mass of each cupboard (N).

Billet carrying capacity for 30 billets in 10 cupboards is calculated using **Eqn. 3** in which W_s is average mass of each billet.

 $Q = 30 w_s / t = (30 \times 0.4 \times 9.8) /$

3.56 = 33.03 (N/S)(3) Having coefficient of friction for billets on metal surface (0.42) and rolling coefficient of friction for the chain (0.39) and substituting for all variables in **Eqn. 1**, we will have power needed to run the conveyor chain as being:

 $P_m = (2 \times 0.54 \times 1.2 \times 212.26 \times 0.39) + [33.03 \times (1.127 \times 0.42 + 1.88)] = 0.185 (kW) \dots(4)$

Power Train System

Power train system provides the required power for running the metering units, engagement and disengagement of the power and a change

Fig. 4 Different parts of the power train system



1. Hydraulic cylinder, 2. Clutch, 3. Chain sprocket, 4. Universal joint, 5. Differential, 6- Drive wheel



Fig. 5 Different parts of evaluated billet planter:

Drawbar, 2. Furrower, 3. Hydraulic cylinder, 4. Billet hopper,
 Metering unit, 6. cupboard, 7. Chassis, 8. Differential, 9. Ground wheel

in sprocket ratios and reverse motion of the machine. **Fig. 4** shows various parts of the power train designed for the planter which transmits power from ground wheels to drive shaft of the metering units chains.

A clutch system has been used to engage and disengage power transmission from ground driven wheels to metering units and to protect the chains if they were in any cases overloaded. The clutch mechanism was selected to transmit the required power by metering units' chains and to engage and disengage as quickly as possible.

The gear ratio selected for the power train enabled to use 50 cm billets with an overlap of 12.5 cm as the billets were placed on the soil surface in the furrows. **Fig. 5** shows all sections and different parts of the planter designed and fabricated in this research.

Field Evaluation

Field evaluation of the planter was done in experimental farm of the Isfahan University of Technology. For the purpose of evaluation of the fabricated sugarcane planter were considered in a randomized experimental design. Experiments were performed in three replications in plots of meters. After completion of each experiment, a measuring tape was used from the beginning to the end to record coordinates of each billet dropped on soil surface on a 20 meter length swath. Factors under consideration were:

A- Forward speed

Four forward speeds (2.59, 3, 3.5 and 4 km/h) was considered in this research.

B- Sugarcane variety

Billets used in this research were from two sugarcane varieties of CP69-1062 and CP57-614, the first having no debris and the second having debris.

C- Metering device's angle related to vertical angle

Performance of the metering de-

vice's conveyor chain angle at three levels of 10, 15 and 20 degrees from vertical angle was evaluated. **Fig. 6** shows the holes on the link which provided for change in angle.

Biophysical Properties of Sugarcane Billets

To design the metering device for billet planter, certain biophysical properties of sugarcane billets were required. Fifty billets from two varieties were randomly selected and their weight, diameter and length were measured. Then, weight and average diameter were measured using **Eqns. 5** and **6**.

Where: *m_i*: billet weight (kg) *l_i*: billet length (m)

 d_i : billet diameter (mm)

Mean and standard deviation for length, diameter and weight of billets used in experiments are given in **Table 1**.

Uniform spacing or placement of the billets on the planting row and pertaining overlap are important considerations in evaluation of billet planters. This relates to elimination of thinning or replanting operations which are costly. Several factors af
 Table 1 Summary of some physical properties of sugarcane billets

Itemu	CP57-614	CP69-1062
Billet Length (cm)	51.8 ± 2.45	52.1 ± 3.44
Billet Diameter (mm)	26.9 ± 2.16	27.4 ± 3.02
Billet mass per length (kg/m)	0.569 ± 0.18	0.612 ± 0.13

fect billets spacing from each other. The metering device might miss picking up billets from the holding tank or being unable to release it on the furrow at proper time which results in gaps between billets planted (under-overlap). On the other hand, the metering device might pick up a number of billets and deliver them to be placed on the soil surface which results in over-overlap planting pattern. In this research for each experiment after placement of the billets on the furrow, a tape was used to record beginning and end part of the billets to determine their longitudinal coordinates (Fig. 7). The power train system for the metering device mechanism was designed to provide 12.5 cm overlap as normal pattern of planting. The overlap pattern of planting of sugarcane billets lowers the risk of missing germination at nodes and therefore minimizing the cost of filling the gaps by labor in the later stages of plant growth. Values higher and lower than 12.5 cm would result in over-overlapping and under-overlapping, respectively. The aim of this research was to minimize these

two patterns and bring it as close as possible to normal pattern. **Fig. 8** demonstrates three patterns of billet placement on the furrow.

Over-overlapping

According to **Fig. 9**, if the end coordinates of billet i was (X_2) i and beginning coordinate of next billet $(X_1)_{(i+1)}$, then the overlap would be:

 $P_i = (X_2)_i - (X_1)_{(i + 1)}$(7) If the spacing was greater than this value, it would be considered over overlapping and can be calculated by **Eqn. 8**.

$$O_{Over} = \begin{pmatrix} \sum_{i=1}^{53} \left((X_2)_i - (X_1)_{(i+1)} \right) - 12.5 \\ 950 \\ \times 100, \\ if [(X_2)_i - (X_1)_{(i+1)}] > 12.5......(8) \end{pmatrix}$$

Under-overlapping

If the spacing was lower than 12.5 cm, it would be considered under overlapping and can be calculated by **Eqn. 9**.

$$O_{\text{Under}} = \left(\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{53} \left(12.5 - \{(x_2)_i - x_1_{(i+1)}\} \right)}{2000} \right)$$

Fig. 6 Adjustment link for upper chassis angle



Fig. 7 Billets placement after delivery on furrow



Fig. 8 Patterns of placement of billets on the furrow



× 100. $if [(X_2)_i - (X_1)_{(i+1)}] \le 12.5 \dots (9)$

Filling Percentage of Cupboards

An important parameter in evaluation of precision planters which plant one by one either seeds or billets is the filling percentage of the cupboards receiving from the holding tank. After each experiment number of billets on the furrow was counted on a distance of 20 meters which based on the design of the metering units and the power train should have been 53 billets as seen in Eqn. 10. The equation is used to calculate the filling percentage of each metering unit in which N is the number of the billets placed on the furrow.

Filling Percentage = $(N/53) \times 100$

N = number of billets fallen on the furrow.

After calculation of research parameters, data was analyzed by SAS

Fig. 9 Calculation of under and over-overlapping





ab

3.00

x

h

3.50

Planting Speed (km/hr)

4.00

 Table 2 Results of ANOVA test for factors affecting filling percentage,
 under and over-overlapping

Source of	16	Sum of Squares				
variation	df	Filling percentage	Under Overlapping	Over Overlapping		
Angle (A)	2	243.55**	23.31	82.05		
Variety (V)	1	262.83	186	1.7		
Speed (S)	3	1063.52**	758.67	52.4		
A^*S	2	15.45	1.27	5.82		
V^*S	3	56.77	34.22	4.97		
V*A	6	303.6	104.68^{*}	15.5		
V*A*S	6	9.25*	10.5	1.16		
error	48	40.09	3.84	5.87		

**And, *indicate significance at 1 and 5 % probability level.

and MSTAT-C software and results were compared using LSD at 5 % level statistical significance.

Results and Discussion

Table 2 presents results of analysis of variance for the effect of forward speed of planting, angle of the metering device conveyor chain and sugarcane variety on filling percentage, over-overlapping and underoverlapping.

Filling percent of cupboards

Among factors affecting filling percentage of cupboards, effect of conveyor chain angle and planting forward speed was highly significant (P = 1 %) and interaction effect of all factors became significant at 5 % probability level. Effect of sugarcane variety on filling percentage was not significant. This may be explained by the fact that the size of cupboards was selected properly to hold billets firmly inside and with desirable stability until they are delivered to furrow, thus, no considerable effect on filling percentage due to changes in physical shape of billets as a result of sugarcane varietals characteristics.

Fig. 10 shows effect of planting speed on filling percentage of cupboards. As forward speed increases from 2.59 to 3 km/h, filling percentage decreases about 2.5 % which was not significant. However, as speed reaches 3.5 km/h, reduction in filling percentage becomes significant at 5 % level. Between speeds of 3.5 and 4 km/h the reduction in

Fig. 11 Effect of chain conveyor angle on cupboards filling percentage. Percentages followed by the same letters

are not significantly different at the 5 % level by LSD test



90

85

80

70

65

Filling (%) 75 9

2.59

	Experimental factors	Under Overlapping	Over Overlapping
	2.5	10.08 ^a	8.43 ª
Speed of planting	3	10.00 ^a	8.17 ^a
(km/h)	3.5	10.17 ^a	7.94 ª
	4	9.12 ^b	8.40 ª
	10	9.29 ª	8.35 ^{ab}
Angle of chassis (degree)	15	9.96 ab	7.68 ª
(degree)	20	10.23 ^b	8.66 ^b
Variaty	CP69-1062	9.92 ª	8.49 ª
Variety	CP57-614	9.72 ª	7.98 ª

 Table 3 Mean comparison of under and over-overlapping as affected by experimental factors

filling percentage was also significant. As a whole, due to increase in forward speed from 2.5 to 4 km/ h, filling percentage showed a 13 % reduction. This reduction may be as a result of lesser time given to each cupboard to pick up billets from the holding tank.

Fig. 11 shows the change in filling percentage of cupboards based on chain conveyor angle. An increase in angle of chassis from 10 to 15 degrees decreased filling percentage by 0.5 % which was not significant. But from 15 to 20 degrees an increase in filling percentage of 10.5 % was observed which was significant at 5 % level.

Percentage filling of cupboards at 20 degree angle of upper section of metering unit compared to 10 and 15 degrees angle was higher. The

explanation for this condition is that at 20 degree angle may be more than one billet sits in the cupboard and also as the conveying chain rotates and any given cupboard passes the point of deflection where the lower and upper chassis are joined together, possibility of detachment of extra billets from the cupboard dimensions as compared to 10 and 15 degree angle. Transfer of more than one billet by each cupboard would increase filling percentage statistically^[9].

Under-overlapping

Mean comparison of under overlapping as affected by experimental factors are given in **Table 3**. Only the interaction effect of forward speed and chain angle was significant at 5 % probability level. An increase in forward speed from 2.5 to 4 km/h resulted in 0.98 % reduction in under overlapping which was a significant difference. **Fig. 12** shows changes in under-overlapping under the influence of planting speed.

Over-overlapping

Mean comparison of over overlapping as affected by experimental factors are given in Table 3. According to the table, difference in mean over overlapping for various speeds did not become significant. Use of convevor chain as compared to other mechanism and also installation of short distance cone shaped dropping tube has contributed to delivery of billets without any delay. Billets preparation during harvest operations for planting purposes is critical in terms of planting uniformity and cupboards filling percentages.

Billets should be of equal size in order for the cupboards to be able to pick them up at the right time without any restrictions. Cupboards designed and used in these experiments were able to pick up billets with various sizes. It should be noticed that placement of the billets on extreme right or left side of the cupboards would affect overlapping patterns under field conditions. Therefore, length of the cupboards should be enough to hold billets with different sizes.



Fig. 12 Interacting effect of planting speed and chain conveyor angle on under overlapping

Angle 20 degree 🗌 Angle 15 degree 🔲 Angle 10 degree

Conclusions

The Results of Field Tests on a Billet Planter Indicated that:

Increase in planting speed would result in reduction of cupboards filling percentage. In this research increase in speed from 2.5 to 4 km/ h resulted in 13 % in filling percentage.

An increase in metering device chain angle from 10 to contributed to increase in filling percentage of cupboards as much as 11 %.

The highest mean values obtained

for filling percentage and lowest mean values for under overlapping considering lower over overlapping, was with chain angle of 20 degrees and 4 km/h forward speed for without derbies billets. For billets with debris speed of 3.5 km/h is more appropriate to obtain better performances. Sugarcane variety had no significant effect on experimental factors.

REFERENCES

- 1. Anonymous. 1997. Ministry of Agriculture, Iran Statistics Office. Four Agricultural/Industrial Crops (sugar beet, cotton, sugarcane and sunflower).
- 2. Anonymous. 1999. Ministry of Agriculture, Iran Statistics Office.
- 3. Eugot, E. 1972. Handbook of Cane Sugar Engineering. 2th ed., Elsevier Publishing Company.
- 4. Henderson, S. M. and R. L. Perry. 1976. Agricultural Process Engineering. 3rd ed. Avi Publication Company.
- 5. Khajepour, M. R. 2004. Industrial Crops. Jihad Daneshgahi Printing Office, Isfahan University of Technology Branch, Iran (In Farsi).
- 6. Khani, A. 2007. Design, Development and Evaluation of a Metering Unit for a Sugar Cane Billet Planter with Overlap Planting Pattern. M. Sc. thesis. Faculty of agriculture. Isfahan University of Technology, Isfahan, Iran. (in farsi)
- 7. Ksayed, G. E. and A. F. El-Sahrigi. 1999. A Modified One Row Cane Planter Suitable for Egyptian Farming Conditions. Agricultural Mechanization Research Institute, Egypt.
- 8. Majzoobi, G. 1998. Strength of Materials. Booali Sina University Publications, Hamadan, Iran (In Farsi).
- 9. Namjoo, M. and J. Razavi, 2010. Determination of Forward Speed Effect on Planting Uniformity in

Sugarcane Billet Planter. XVIIth World Congress of the International Commission of Agricultural Engineering (CIGR). Canada.

- Populin, P. and L. Populin. 1976.
 Sugar Cane Planting Apparatus. United State Patent. 3,943,862.
- 11. Rajamohan, S. 2002. Tractor-Drawn Equipment for Planting Sugarcane. Superintendent of the Sugarcane Breeding Institute (SBI), Coimbatore.
- 12. Reisi Nafchi, A. R. 2005. Evaluation, Design and Optimization of a Billet Metering Device in a Sugarcane Planter. M. Sc. Thesis. Faculty of agriculture. Isfahan University of Technology, Iran (In Farsi).
- 13. Sadeghi Forooshani, M. 1991. Sugar, World Commodity Trade Publications. Tehran, Iran (In Farsi).
- 14. Soraghi, A. and H. Parian. 2005. Study of Mechanical Damages to Sugarcane Billet Buds. Shekarshekan, Sugarcane Development Co. News Bulletin, No.95, pp. 12-17, Tehran, Iran (In Farsi).
- 15. Tajuddin, A. and R. Kavitha. 2003. Tractor Drawn Sugarcane Planter. Zonal Research College Centre College of Agricultural Engineering Tamil Nadu Agricultural University Coimbatore-641003.
- 16. Zahid, M. and Z. Humayum. 2000. Development and Testing of a Sugarcane Planter. Department of Agricultural Engineering, NWFP University of Engineering and Technology, Peshawar, Pakistan.

Development of a Mechanical Harvesting Aid for Prickly Pear Cactus Fruit

by H. Ortiz-Laurel Professor Campus Cordoba Postgraduate College Cordoba, Veracruz MEXICO hlaurel@colpos.mx

Abstract

Mexico is the major global producer of cactus prickly pear fruit, harvesting 510,000 tonnes per year. Insufficient technology to bridge the gaps on production chain halts this agroindustry to reach its full potential. Hand harvesting of cactus fruit is greatly inefficient; it is slow and expensive, field conditions are arduous, unsafe and risky. Cactus plant is entirely covered with thorns, while cactus fruit has easily detachable microscopic hairs that stuck in bare skin; scaring off untrained workers. Inexpert handling of cactus fruit encourage injuries and yield losses amount up to 10 %. During hand harvesting, ripe fruits are grabbed by workers wearing rubber or leather gloves. Fruits are detached from the cactus plant by sliding a knife through the fruit's pedicel and then be dropped into buckets, conveyed from plant to plant until filled and then unloaded into pallet boxes for transport to storage. An innovative mechanism was designed which is assisted by a pneumatic system for creating a vacuum pressure inside a hose. When sucking, a yielding doughnut made of a thin flexible rubber placed at hose's end performs a gentle but firm grabbing rounding of the fruit, so bending tunas for cutting is

easier and safer. Labourer does not touch the fruit at all. Glochids, although imperceptible they are vacuumed through the hose and trapped in a filter. All gears were installed over a trailer and the apparatus can couple four harvesting mechanisms without affecting pressure, allowing unrestrained movement of workers, simultaneously and independently of each other, and released them from the burden of carrying the bucket the whole harvesting day. Since apparatus is pulled between rows; workers walk along both sides of row, so labour productivity is increased up to four times. Mechanised harvesting of prickly pear cactus fruit, secures a safer work environment for labourers, increase labour producctiviy and higher income resulting in better quality fruit -being is delivered to the market.

Introduction

Cactus prickly pear fruit is named "*Tuna*" in Latin America. Worldwide, Mexico is the largest producer and consumer of cactus fruit. Around 20.000 small growers farm cactus prickly pear on 74,500 hectare in the low-rainfall regions of Mexico. Average yield of cactus fruit ranges from 7 to 8 tonnes per ha, with an annual production

D. Rössel-Kipping Professor Campus San Luis Potosi Postgraduate College Iturbide 73, Salinas de Hgo., SLP. 78600 MEXICO edietmar@colpos.mx

> of 51,0000 tonnes (Flores Valdez, 2010). Marketable Tunas are typically 20-70 mm in diameter, round-, pear- or fig- shaped, and colour ranges from yellowish green to dark purple (Fig. 1) (Enríquez, 1994; Pimienta Barrios, 1994). Around 99 % goes to the fresh market, both domestic and international, and the remaining is utilized as raw feedstock for small food cottage industries to produce alcoholic beverages, sweet pancakes, jams and jellies (De la Rosa and Santamaría, 1998; Flores Valdez and Corrales García, 2000; Granados Sánchez and Castañeda Pérez, 1991). Yields of 25 tonnes or higher per ha could be obtained through good crop management and mechanized practices.

> At present cactus plant management has progressed due to crop protection and fertilization because of mechanized technology (Gallegos Vázquez and Méndez Gallegos, 2000; García Herrera et al., 2003). Cactus plantation establishment has gone through a major change; four decades ago crop density was 2,000 plants per ha, leading to low yields, unbearable harvesting operation and poor pest control while nowadays a population of 625 plants per ha is the most well-liked array. Accordingly, each plant can produce from 30 to 40 kg of fruit per year; harvest is improved as well as fruit

quality. Although, it is not hard to find other plantation arrays, which vary from separation between plant to plant along the row and distance between rows, so that, whatever the farmer's selected array it allows some mechanised operations. Several key factors have contributed to this break through in way of production; climate, environment, new varieties and better soils knowledge all coupled by scientific research for improving cultivation management, fertilizing, pest control, crop handling and storage, and government support to enlarge planted land, irrigation schemes and marketing for decision making in order to achieve profitability from this industry.

Despite those efforts, this agroindustry has not reached its full potential; its main weakness is short supply of adequate technology to bridge the gaps along the production-consumer chain (Lara López et al., 1986; Rössel et al., 2004). Alongside, domestic and international markets require both higher tonnage and better quality produce (Flores Valdez, 2009). Consequently, in order to assure required demand, production of Tuna is steadily growing in South America and North African countries, Israel, Italy, South Africa and Unites States.

Hand Harvesting of "Tunas"

In order to keep fruit harvest by hand, maximum height of cactus

plant is kept at 1.8 m and diameter at 2.0 m through pruning. Cactus and cladodes (leaves or pads) are covered with stiff thorns all around, while Tuna has easily detachable microscopic hairs named glochids that easily stuck in bare skin; scaring off untrained workers (Fig. 2). Moreover, only "Tunas" of satisfactory size and maturity are selected for harvesting and have to be targeted and sorted out immediately (González Galván and Lara López. 1991). Thus, hand harvesting is dangerous for pickers because they have to manoeuvre around cactus and have to keep away from thorns while locating ripe prickly pear fruit ready to be detached (Escamilla Martínez and Lara López, 1991; Lara López, 1993). Furthermore, labourers do not wear any sort of protection for hands, arms or face at all. Therefore, harvesting is slow and expensive, also field conditions are arduous, unsafe and risky, and skilled labour is required for this operation.

Pickers prefer collecting *Tunas* early morning hours as soon as daylight allows them to manoeuvre safely all-round cactus plants for locating *Tunas*, because windless and misty conditions reduce the chances of glochids separation from fruit. Moreover, at that time of the day loose glochids are limp and harmless. Harvesting season extends from June to October, so shortage and extra demand for trained labour increases production costs (Méndez Gallegos *et al.*, 1995). Losses up to 10 % are due to inexpert fruit handling which reduces storage self life, damage during transport and visual appearance, reduces farmers' income. On already established commercial cactus plantations harvesting costs represent 16-25 % of *Tuna's* production cost.

Harvesting costs vary according to productive region, on low yield plantations a worker can be paid USD \$0.90 per each 25 kg fruit filled box (Flores Valdez, 2009). During hand harvesting, ripened Tunas are grabbed by workers wearing their sole safety outfit; rubber or leather gloves for handling the fruit. Two carry off methods apply; firstly, Tunas are grabbed and detached from the cactus pad by twisting them off gently breaking the fruit's pedicel, taking care not to damage the connecting pads and secondly, by holding the fruit, slightly bending it and sliding a knife through the connecting base to the cactus' cladode (Rössel et al., 2004). Once fruit is in the picker's hand, these are dropped it into buckets that they carryy from plant to plant until filled and then unloaded into field measuring boxes, ready for transportation to the selection, packaging and storage facility.

Knifed fruit separation from cactus is neatly performed and fruit was found with much lesser injuries than by twisting (Flores Valdez,

Fig. 1 Some varieties of cactus prickly pear fruit available in Mexico varying in size and colour

Fig. 2 Cactus's plants and fruit conditions for tuna harvesting



2010; Gallegos Vázquez and Méndez Gallegos, 2000). Fruit of good quality depends on reducing; skin and joint base damage while cut, height for fruit dropping, height for pouring the bucket and intense sweeping during removal of thorns and glochids (Escamilla Martínez and Lara López, 1991; Lara López et al., 1986; Lara-López et al., 1999; Méndez et al., 1995; Rössel et al., 2004). Therefore, it was necessary to design, manufacture and evaluate a sturdy, simple, more efficient and less fruit damaging harvesting aid mechanism in order to assist Tuna pickers safely perform their work, increase work productivity and consequently their harvesting income (Rössel et al., 2003; Rössel et al., 2008a; Rössel et al., 2008b).

Materials and Methods

Design for the Harvesting Aid Mechanism

Thus, the main criteria for developing a conceptual design prototype were (Rössel *et al.*, 2003): 1. picker had to separate *Tuna* from cactus prickly pear without getting in touch with fruit, 2. increase harvesting capacity compared to hand harvesting, 3. damage to fruit has to be less or equal compared to hand harvesting, 4. low weight for the tool, 5. simple design for ease manufacturing, 6.tolerate unrestrained movement by pickers, 7. moveable, 8. reliable, 9. simple to use and repair, 10. low maintenance costs, 11. safe to operate, 12. feasibility of adding mechanical features, 13. feasibility of complete automation, 14. feasibility for developing a harvesting robot.

After a technological analysis pertained to customary engineering drive application and assessing its forthcoming economical and performance at field conditions, a pneumatic gear was chosen to be the central module for the whole system (Rössel et al., 2003). Pneumatics had been assumed to reduce damage significantly to the fruit and it could be the main component to begin with for an efficient semi-mechanized system and in the near future to be able to automate Tuna harvesting. Some major requirements for the machine were ease to adjust, to operate and maintain under actual Mexican field conditions (Rössel et al., 2008a).

All of those previous restrictions were studied and new approaches were sought to overcome them, especially to guarantee pickers a better and safer work environment. Beginning with that essential principle, an original mechanism was designed which consisted of a plastic nozzle closely coupled to a plastic pipe integrating a valve for altering air flow path and those were connected to a flexible hose (**Fig. 3**). Basically, for functioning the equipment required a vacuum effect inside a retaining hose which was generated by pneumatics gear. Accordingly, glochids problem either still attached to *Tunas* or freely flying on the air was significantly reduced. Labourer holding the suction hose and by just making a simple fling around and close to the *Tunas*, glochids are vacuumed, transported inside the hose and trapped in a filter (Rössel *et al.*, 2008b).

The patented design mechanism nicknamed "kissing nozzle" performs two main functions (Rössel and Ortiz Laurel, 2009). The first one consists on making contact with the fruit which has to be as delicate as possible, likely to a smooth kiss. Contact is realized when a ringshaped doughnut made of flexible rubber resembling a mouth with spongy lips, allows it to cover a larger surface around the fruit than the grip points made by the picker's fingers securing greater adherence to Tunas (Fig. 4). The second one, aided by vacuum suction, the tool makes a firm grabbing of the fruit which facilitate its manipulation, so it is safely bent to slice a knife between the portion that joins it to the cactus (Rössel et al., 2004). A good gripper ought to preserve the quality of the fruit. Position of "kissing nozzle" around fruit varying in size does not make unwanted effect when bending for knife cutting (Fig. 5). Once fruit retained by the nozzle has been separated from cactus, both are shifted over the collecting trays and fruit is release by closing





Fig. 4 "Kissing nozzle" holding a ripe tuna. Note size of fruit grabbed by the nozzle



the vacuum port through the valve.

Results and Discussion

Overall Construction and Field Testing

All elements for the prototype "Kiss Me" harvester were fitted together and installed over a wheeled trailer, with two wide open folding arms to carry the hoses high enough to pass over the cactus plant (Rössel et al., 2008a; Rössel et al., 2008b). The arms can be folded back according to harvesting needs and for road transport. Thus, additional cost of using a farm tractor or any other kind of motor vehicle for pulling the *Tuna* harvester between cactus rows is relatively low. Accordingly, this pick-up type vehicle is a common sightseeing in rural areas of Mexico because of its utilitarian character. Additionally, because of Tuna harvester has been provided with its own energy source for powering the pneumatics gear, its draught requirement is small and it is moving at a very low pace and it has to make continuous stops along the rows, eventually, it might be pulled by a pair of draught animals.

The whole assembly on the trailer consists of a gasoline engine, an air compressor, an accumulator for pressurized air, filters, pressure gauges, one-way-pass and safety release valves, pipes and hoses, collecting trays and all related accessories, as well as couplings for hoses and gripping nozzles positioned at hoses' ends (**Fig. 6**). The trailer platform has been adapted to be utilized as a field container for harvested fruit, so labourers are relieved from the burden of carrying a bucket that they have to convey from plant to plant.

This "Kiss Me" harvester has a cost of USD \$4,200 to build. From an economic analysis for investment return, it was found that because of shortness of harvesting season, depreciation of machine can be securely achieved through an annual use on 50 ha and its expectance usage life extends for 5 years.

The apparatus accepts coupling up to four harvesting aid mechanisms without compromising air pressure, allowing four workers operate simultaneously and independently of each other. With this configuration each worker can have up to 2.0 meters autonomy away from the connecting socket. Since, harvester is pulled between rows; workers can be positioned along both sides of cactus rows. In this way, labour productivity is increased up to four times compared to hand harvesting (Rössell *et al.*, 2008b).

Conclusions

It was acknowledged that whatsoever instrument was built, it had to be manipulated by the labourer walking in the field around the plant and capable of operating a knife for cutting the fruit's segment attached to cactus. However, labourer does not touch the fruit at all. The kissing gripper guarantees a firm grip without damaging the fruit and serves in fact as the mouth of a vacuum cleaner. The resistance, capacity and size for all the harvester's components were chosen in order to allow attaching up to four harvesting mechanisms without compromising vacuum pressure, allocate four workers that operate simultaneously and independently of each other. From the technological aspect, results obtained reassured the advantages of mechanised harvesting of prickly pear cactus fruit, as well as granting a safer work environment for labourers, increase productivity as well as profitability and high quality fruit delivered to the market. However, by adopting innovation technology for harvesting of cactus prickly pear will require major changes on cactus plantations.

REFERENCES

- De la Rosa, H. J. P. and A. D. Santamaría. 1998. El Nopal: usos, manejo agronómico y costos de producción en México. CONA-ZA-UACH-CIESTAAM. México. 182p.
- Enríquez, L. J. 1994. Participación de la secretaria de desarrollo rural

Fig. 5 Kissing instrument can rest anyplace round the cactus fruit



Fig. 6 Whole assembly for mechanical harvesting aid for tunas in the field



del gobierno del estado de Zacatecas en la producción de *Tuna*. Proceedings of Aportaciones Técnicas y Experiencias de la Producción de *Tuna* en Zacatecas (Esparza, F. G. and S. J. Méndez G. eds). Zacatecas, México.

- Escamilla Martínez, A. and A. Lara López. 1991. Optimización conceptual y paramétrica de una herramienta para el corte de *Tuna*. Proceedings of the 1er. Congreso Nacional de Ingeniería Agrícola. Chapingo, Texcoco, Edo. de México. México. 15p.
- Flores Valdez. C. A. and J. Corrales-García. 2000. Tendencias actuales y futuras en el procesamiento del nopal y la *Tuna*. Reporte de Investigación No. 49. Universidad Autónoma Chapingo. Centro de Investigaciones Económicas, Sociales y Tecnológicas de la Agroindustria y la Agricultura Mundial (CIESTAAM). México. 59 p.
- Flores Valdez. C. 2009. Manejo y explotación de plantaciones de nopal tunero. Revista de Salud Pública y Nutrición (RESPYN). Edición especial No. 2-2009. VII Simposio-Taller Producción y aprovechamiento del nopal en el noreste de México. 135-141.
- Flores Valdez. C. 2010. Producción y comercialización de la *Tuna* y el nopalito en México. Revista de Salud Pública y Nutrición (RESPYN). Edición especial No. 5-2010. VIII Simposio-Taller Nacional y 1°. Internacional sobre Producción y aprovechamiento del nopal. 85-92.
- Gallegos Vázquez, C. and S. J. Méndez Gallegos. 2000. La *Tuna*: criterios y Técnicas para su producción comercial. Universidad Autónoma Chapingo/Fundación Produce Zacatecas/Colegio de Postgraduados. México. 164p.
- García Herrera, E. J., I. Hernández Ríos, L. A. Tarango Arámbula, Ma. E. Torres Torres, J. J. Becerra Rivas, F. J. Pastor López, O. Martínez Castañeda, A. Valverde

Castañeda, J. P. García Ramírez, A. Espinoza Ramírez, I. Cedillo Martínez, D. Talavera Magaña, A. R. Quero Carrillo, A. Amante Orozco, D. Rössel Kipping, H. Ortiz Laurel, and A. B. Tiscareño Ramírez, 2003. Caracterización de la cadena agroalimentaria de nopal tunero e identificación de sus demandas Tecnológicas. Reporte Etapa II. Programa Estratégico de Necesidades de Investigación y Transferencia de Tecnología en el Estado de San Luis Potosí. Fundación Produce San Luis Potosí/Colegio de Postgraduados - Campus San Luis Potosí. 80p.

- González Galván, E. J. and A. Lara López. 1991. Módulo para cosecha no selectiva de *Tunas*. Proceedings of the XVII Congreso de la Academia Nacional de Ingeniería, A. C. 11-14.
- Granados Sánchez, D. and A. D. Castañeda Pérez. 1991. El nopal: historia, fisiología, genética e importancia frutícola. Editorial Trillas. México. 227p.
- Lara López., A., J. Manríquez Yépez, and Z. Torres L. 1986. Desarrollo de dispositivos para la cosecha de *Tunas*. Proceedings of the XII Congreso de la Academia Nacional de Ingeniería, A. C. 16-20.
- Lara López, A. 1993. Herramientas para la cosecha de *Tunas* (higos chumbos). Máquinas y Tractores Agrícolas. Año 2 No. 10. Edagricole. 4(6): 68-70.
- Lara-López, A., J. Manriquez-Yepez, and A. Escamilla-Martinez. 1999. Hand tools for harvesting prickly pear fruits. Agricultural Mechanization in Asia, Africa and Latin America (AMA). 30(3): 34-36.
- Méndez Gallegos, S. J., H. Ortiz Laurel., and D. Rössell. 1995. Diseño y pruebas de una cosechadora neumática de *Tunas*. Proceedings of the 6 to Congreso Nacional y 4 to Congreso Internacional (Pimienta-Barrios, E., C. Neri-Luna,

A. Muñoz-Urias y F. M. Huerta-Martinez eds): Conocimiento y Aprovechamiento del Nopal. Guadalajara, Jalisco, México. 141-146.

- Pimienta Barrios, E. 1994. Perspectiva general de la producción de *Tuna* en el mundo. Proceedings of Aportaciones Técnicas y Experiencias de la Producción de *Tuna* en Zacatecas (Esparza, F. G. and S. J. Méndez G. eds). Zacatecas, México.
- Rössel, D., S. J. Mendez Gallegos, H. Ortiz Laurel, and N. Kanswohl. 2003. Konstruktion und erptobung einer pneumatischen erntemaschine für nopaltunafrüchte in México. Beiträge des Innovationsund Bildungszentrums Hohen Luckov e. V. 11(4): 67-78.
- Rössel, D., H. Ortiz-Laurel, and H. M. Duran Garci. 2004. Mechanization for harvesting and processing dryland plants. J. of Food, Agriculture & Environment. 2(1): 317-321.
- Rössel, D., H. Ortiz Laurel, S. J. Méndez Gallegos, and N. Kanswohl. 2008a. Evaluación técnica en campo de una máquina cosechadora de *Tunas*. Proceedings of the VIII Congreso Latinoamericano y del Caribe de Ingeniería Agrícola –CLIA 2008. Managua, Nicaragua. 10p.
- Rössel, D., H. Ortiz Laurel, S. J. Méndez Gallegos, and N. Kanswohl. 2008b. Development and technical evaluation of a prickly pear fruit harvester. Proceedings of the International Conference on Agricultural Engineering, AgEng 2008. Crete, Greece. 5p.
- Rössel, D. and H. Ortiz Laurel.
 2009. Herramienta neumática para la cosecha de tuna (Pneumatic tool for tuna harvesting). Register of invention No. 2098. Patent application file: PA/u/2004/000006.
 Awarded date: October 15th, 2009. Mexico.

The Effect of Tractor Load and Trafficking on Wheat Crop Yield







Asstt. Professor, AAU, Anand, Gujarat, INDIA skpaau@gmail.com Indra Mani

Principal Scientist, IARI, New Delhi INDIA

A. P. Srivastava

Abstract

An experiment was conducted to study the tractor tire load and its frequency on wheat crop yield. A 39 plot experiment consisting of 13 treatments: a control with zero traffic and 12 treatment combinations made up of three normal loads, e.g. 4.40, 6.40 and 8.40 kN on tractor tire and four number of tractor passes i.e. 1, 6, 11 and 16 were used in the experiment. The experiment was laid using a completely randomized block design in a uniform field with sandy loam soil with alluvial texture. Wheat crop was sown after tilling the soil in the top 15 cm of soil. The crop parameters such as germination count, tiller count, plant height and crop yield were measured. After 18 days after sowing the germination count was same (40 number) in all plots as compared to control plots in each treatment. The number of tiller, plant per meter row and height decreased with increase of tractor tire load and its frequency and also significant at 1 % level of confidence interval. The influence of varying number of passes as well as normal load on grain yield was significant at 1 % level of confidence.

Key word: Sub-soil, Tractor load, trafficking, Wheat, crop yield,

Introduction

Proper plant growth requires good physical soil properties including texture, structure, organic matter content and high strength is needed. The major soil parameters that affect uptake of moisture as well as nutrient and in turn, plant growth, are bulk density, hydraulic conductivity and soil strength. The desired soil density for appropriate growth of different crops ranges between 1.4 to 1.80 Mg/m³ for different soil types. Higher the soil compaction more is the bulk density as well as soil strength (Arvidsson et al., 2001; Ishaq et al., 2001). Compaction alters many other soil physical conditions in the field e.g. decreased total porosity, size and continuity of the pores (Hillel, 1982; Smucker and Erickson, 1989; Servadio et al., 2001) limited nutrient uptake, reduced water infiltration and its uniform redistribution. Parameters like air exchange, seedling emergency and root development (Dürr and Aubertot, 2000, Arvidsson et al., 2001; Ishaq et al., 2001) get diminished with increase in compaction resulting in decreased yields (Arvidsson et al., 2001; Radford et al., 2001; Dauda and Samari, 2002). However, it is less clear to what extent high soil strength can be considered as a primary constraint to crop growth. Evidence that this is the case has been obtained from sand-culture experiments (Materechera et al., 1991; Whalley et al., 2006), where soil strength was adjusted independently of water stress, and also from experiments where the confining pressure in the root zone was increased during plant growth (Young et al., 1997). Interpretation of plant responses is complicated by the fact that soil strength and water stress (matric potential) are highly correlated (Whalley et al., 2007; Taylor and Ratliff 1969), making it difficult to identify whether the plant is responding to low water availability or to high soil strength (Whalley et al., 2006). The aim of the paper is to test the hypothesis that sub-soil compaction reduces the crop yields.

Materials and Methods

Experimental Site

A study was undertaken to determine the effect of tractor tire loads and its frequency on wheat crop yield. A 39 plot experiment consisting of 13 treatments was laid using a randomized complete-block design in a uniform field of the experimental field during the period of 2006-07 and 2007-08. The experimental site is situated at 28.38 °N, 77.2 °E and is at an altitude of 228.7 m above sea level. The climate of the experimental site is semi-arid and subtropical with hot summers and cool winters. The mean monthly maximum and minimum temperatures during the year range from 3.9 °C to 45.0 °C and 6.0 °C to 8.0 °C. respectively. There is an occasional occurrence of frost in December and January. The annual normal rainfall is 708.6 mm of which on an average 597 mm (84 %) is received from June to September. The soil of the experimental site has been classified as alluvial soil group and is of sandy loam texture. The major characteristics of this soil are given in Table 1.

Experimental Procedure

To achieve different sub-soil compaction level, tractor was run for different number of passes in the field on the same track and at varying normal loads on the rear tire. These 12 treatment combinations and a control of zero traffic were used in three replicates of a randomized block design. A factorial randomized block design was followed in laying the experiment and care was taken that all 13 treatments and their replications were included in field experiments. The plots of dimension 10×5.0 m were separated by alleys of 10×1.00 m. Before sowing the crop, soil was tilled the top 15 cm of soil. The sowing of wheat crop PBW 343 was completed in the experimental. Standard agronomical recommendations were followed for the application of fertilizers (NPK-120, 60 and 40 kg/ha). No variation in input rate was allowed among the plots and the only variation was of compaction level due to varying

level of load and passes, The crop parameters such as germination count, tiller count, plant height, crop yield and root length density were measured. The germination count was recorded after 18 days of sowing. Number of plant per meter row and number of tiller per plant were counted after 90 days of sowing in respective plots. The grain yield was measured after harvesting the crop. A crop cutting experiment was conducted to determine the grain yield from different plots.

An analysis of variance was conducted to determine influence of study variables and their interaction on performance parameters using an SPSS programme. The F-value and thus test of significance of the study variables i.e. normal load, number of passage and their interactions on crop parameters were also evaluated.

Results and Discussion

A germination count of wheat crop was observed after 18 days after sowing. It was observed that the germination count was same (40 number) in all plots as compared to control plots in each treatment this was due to the fact that before sowing the wheat crop soil was tilled to a depth of 15 cm and all other crop inputs were same in all different plots.

The number of plant per meter row decreased with increase of normal load and number of passes. The number of plants per meter 90 days after sowing were 133 and 127 in the plots with 4.40 kN load of tractor tire for 6 and 16 pass of tractor tire, respectively in the same order (Table 2). Similarly, number of plants per meter row were 132 and 126 at 6.40 kN load on tire-soil interface for 6 and 16 pass of tractor tire, respectively. In case of 8.40 kN load of tractor tire for 6 and 16 pass of tractor tire were 131 and 125 plants per meter row, respectively. The plant per meter row decreased because initially all the seeds got germinated but 90 days after sowing growth of the crop diminished due to less sub-surface water availability due to poor root growth in compacted plots. It was observed that the plant per meter row due to number of passes was significant at 1 % level.

Number of Tiller per Plant

The number of tiller per plant decreased with increase in sub soil compaction level (**Table 3**). The total number of tillers per plant was measured at 90 days after sowing. The number of tiller per plant were observed as 3.8 and 3.5 in the plots for 4.40 kN normal load and test tractor run of 6 and 16 number of

Table 2 Number of Plant per meter row

Passes		Number of pl	ant per meter				
Nor- mal load, kN	1	6	11	16			
4.40	135	133	130	127			
6.40	134	132	129	126			
8.40	132	131	128	125			

Table 1 Particle size distribution (sandy loam to loam)

Depth, cm	Bulk density, Mg/	Coarse sand, %	Fine sand, %	Coarse silt, %	Fine silt, %	Clay, %
0-21	1.41	0.95	49.00	24.05	11.50	12.75
21-52	1.41	0.50	54.35	22.70	8.50	12.25
52-93	1.41	0.60	53.75	20.50	9.63	13.00

Passes				
Nor- mal load, kN	1	6	11	16
4.40	4.0	3.8	3.8	3.5
6.40	3.8	3.5	3.3	3.3
8.40	3.5	3.5	3.3	3.3

 Table 3
 Number of tiller per plant Passes

Table 4 F- value for crop parameters

Source	df	Soil depth, cm			
		Plant/m row	Number of tiller	Height	Grain yield
load	2	1.997	1.964	36.451**	6.243**
pass	3	10.360**	1.246	23.968**	12.059**
load* pass	6	0.049	0.106	0.748	0.139

**significant at 1%, *significant at 5%, others non significant

passes, respectively (Table 3). The number of tiller per plant also followed similar trend and in general, the number of tiller per meter decreased with increase in tractor load and number of passes. When compared with tiller per plant in control plot, a maximum of 17.5 % decrease in germination count was observed due to 8.40 kN normal load and 11 pass of tractor tire. No difference in tiller per plant was observed in case of 1 pass and 4.40 kN load when compared with control plot. Thus, although marginal difference in number of tillers per plant was observed but statistically there was no significance difference in tiller per plant due to different level of subsurface soil compactions in the field (Table 4). This was due to the fact that variation in tiller per plant was not large in absolute term but that didi not reduce the scope of adverse effect of compaction on total plant population once considered on per hectare basis.

Plant Height

Akin to other plant growth parameters, in general, a decrease in plant height was observed in the plots with large number of passes and higher amount of loads in tractor tire load as well as number of passes of tractor. A maximum of

12.53 % and minimum of 1.26 % decrease in plant height was observed at the time of harvesting due to application of sub-surface soil compaction caused by 8.40 kN load on tractor with 16 pass and 4.40 kN load on tractor for 1 pass of tractor, respectively in the same order (Table 5). For a load of 8.40 kN normal load with 1 pass of tractor the plant height was 80.4 cm followed by 78.4, 77.5 and 76.3 cm at 6, 11, 16 pass of tractor tire, respectively. At the time of harvesting the maximum plant height of 87.2 cm was observed in control plot whereas in highly compacted plot the same was 76.3 cm. The compaction level (combination of load and number of passes) on plant height was significance at 1 % level of confidence interval (Table 4). The treatment of

less sub-surface soil compaction gave comparative height with control plot. In fact, the differences in loads and passes were not very large that is why statistically there was not much difference.

Grain Yield

The yield from different plots having treatments of varying normal load on tractor and different levels of passes was determined. The grain yield data were recorded after harvesting the crop by taking sample from per square meter area. Similar to other plant growth parameters the wheat yield decreased with increase of sub surface soil compaction. The maximum grain yield of 5,149 kg/ha was obtained in control plot. The yield decreased with increase in number of passes even at no additional load on tractor i.e. normal load of 4.40 kN. The observed wheat yields in the plots with 6 and 16 number of passes were 4,732 and 4,324 kg/ha, respectively (Fig 1). At 6.40 kN normal load a maximum 17.01 % decrease in yield was observed when the yield from the plot with 1 pass was compared with the yield of plot with 16 pass: the difference was 16.40 % when a normal load of 8.40 kN was considered for the same change in passes. From statistical analysis angle, the influence of varying number of passes as well as normal load on grain yield was significant at 1 % level of confidence interval but the interaction of normal load and number of passes on grain yield was not significant. In fact, crop growth and yield were influenced by many other soil and climatic factors hence direct correspondence in compaction



72
Treatment		40 DAS	60 DAS	80 DAS	100 DAS	120 DAS
Control		32.7	46.7	67.9	83.7	87.2
4.40 kN	1 Pass	32.0	45.9	66.2	83.0	86.1
	6 Pass	31.0	43.7	64.6	81.6	84.5
	11 Pass	30.5	42.9	63.0	78.4	82.1
	16 Pass	30.0	42.5	62.5	76.8	80.1
6.40 kN	1 Pass	29.4	41.7	63.4	81.4	84.3
	6 Pass	29.1	41.3	60.8	77.1	80.6
	11 Pass	28.9	41.2	59.6	76.1	79.2
	16 Pass	28.6	41.0	58.5	74.7	77.5
8.40 kN	1 Pass	28.9	41.4	59.9	77.1	80.4
	6 Pass	28.0	40.7	57.8	75.4	78.4
	11 Pass	27.9	40.2	57.3	74.6	77.5
	16 Pass	27.4	39.9	56.1	71.4	76.3

Table 5 Plant height at the interval of 20 DAS

and yield was not obtained however, the increasing level of compaction did influence the crop growth parameters including yield.

Conclusions

- 1. Compaction did not affect germination. After 18 days after sowing the germination count was same in all plots as compared to control plots in each treatment.
- 2. A maximum of 17.5 % decrease in germination count was observed due to compaction by 11 passes of tractor with 8.40 kN normal load at soil tire interface.
- 3. The yield decreased with increase in number of passes at all load and pass combinations. The observed wheat yields in the plots with 6 and 16 number of passes were 4,732 and 4,324 kg/ha, respectively
- 4. A maximum 17.01 % decrease in yield was observed at 6.40 kN normal load when the yield from the plot with 1 pass and 16 pass plot.
- 5. The difference was 16.40 % when a normal load of 8.40 kN was considered for the same change in plot which has 1 pass and 16 pass.
- 6. The influence of varying number of passes as well as normal load on grain yield was significant at 1 % level of confidence interval.

REFERENCES

- Aggarwal, P. and N. K. Sharma. 2002. Water uptake and yield of rainfed wheat in relation to
- Arvidsson, J., A. Trautner, J. J. H. Akker, and P. Schjønning. 2001. Subsoil compaction caused by heavy sugar beet harvesters in southern Sweden. II. Soil displacement during wheeling and model computations of compaction. Soil Till. Res. 60: 79-89.
- Dauda, A. and A. Samari. 2002. Cowpea yield response to soil compaction under tractor traffic on a sandy loam soil in the semiarid region of northern Nigeria. Soil Till. Res. 68: 17-22.
- Du"rr, C. and J. N. Aubertot. 2000. Emergence of seedlings of sugar beet (Beta vulgaris L.) as affected by the aggregate size, roughness and position of aggregates in the seedbed. Plant Soil 219: 211-220.
- Hillel, D. 1998. Environmental soil physics. Academic Press, a division of Harcourt Brace and Company, San Diego, CA, USA.
- Ishaq, M., M. Ibrahim, A. Hassan, M. Saeed, and R. Lal. 2001.Subsoil compaction effects on crops in Punjab, Pakistan: II.Root growth and nutrient uptake of wheat and sorghum. Soil Till.Res. 60: 153-161.
- Materechera, S. A., A. R. Dexter, and A. M. Alston. 1991. Penetra-

tion of very strong soils by seedling roots of different plant species. Plant Soil 135: 31-41.

- Radford, B. J., D. F. Yule, D. Mc-Garry, and C. Playford. 2001. Crop responses to applied soil compaction and to compaction repair treatments. Soil Till. Res. 61: 157-166.
- Servadio, P., A. Marsili, M. Pagliai, S. Pellegrini, and N. Vignozzi. 2001. Effect of some clay soil qualities following the passage of rubber tracked and wheeled tractors in central Italy. Soil and Till. Res. 61: 143-155.
- Smucker, A. J. M. and A. E. Erickson. 1989. Tillage and compactive modifications of gaseous flow and soil aeration. In: W. E. Larson, Blake, G. R., Allmaras, R. R., Voorhees, W. B., and Gupta, S. C. (editors). Mechanics and related process in structured agricultural soils. NATO Applied Sciences 172. Kluwer Academic Publishers, The Netherlands. pp. 205-221.
- Taylor, H. M. and L. F. Ratliff. 1969. Root elongation rates of cotton and peanuts as a function of soil strength and soil water content. Soil Sci 108: 113-119.
- Whalley, W. R., L. J. Clark, D. J. G. Gowing, R. E. Cope, R. J. Lodge, and P. B. Leeds-Harrison. 2006. Does soil strength play a role in wheat yield losses caused by soil drying Plant Soil 280: 279-290.
- Whalley, W. R., Kay B. D. ToJ, and A. P. Whitmore. 2007. Prediction of the penetrometer resistance of agricultural soils with models with few parameters. Geoderma 137: 370-377.
- Young, I. M., K. Montagu, J. Conroy, and A. G. Bengough. 1997. Mechanical impedance of root growth directly reduces leaf elongation rates of cereals. New Phytol 135: 613-619.

Design, Development and Evaluation of Self Propelled Garlic (*Allium Sativum* L.) Clove Planter



by Brajesh Nare M. Tech, Department of Farm Machinery and Power Engineering, JNKVV, Jabalpur, INDIA brajeshagengg@gmail.com



Atul Kumar Shrivastava Professor and Head, Department of Farm Machinery and Power Engineering College of Agricutural Engineering JNKVV, Jabalpur, M P INDIA atul_jnkvv@yahoo.com



Rajesh Kumar Naik Scientist, Faculty of Agricultural Engineering Farm Machinery and Power IGKVV, Raipur, Chhatisgarh INDIA rknaik1@rediffmail.com



Apoorv Prakash

Department of Farm Machinery and Power Engineering, JNKVV, Jabalpur, INDIA apoorv_007@yahoo.com

Abstract

The planting of garlic was still not mechanized due to the lack of appropriate planting, cultivation and harvesting machinery. Hence the crop is grown in relatively small fields by using traditional methods, which, requires about 60 to 65 mendays for sowing one hectare and costing around Rs. 5,200/ ha. In this study an innovatively designed self propelled precision garlic planter capable of planting three rows of garlic cloves at a spacing of $10 \times$ 15 cm was designed, fabricated and tested. It is developed in the workshop of Department of Farm Machinery and Power Engineering, CAE, JNKVV, Jabalpur. The theoretical seeding rate and seeding mass rate was calculated to 6,66,667 cloves/ha and 0.573 t/ha by taking crop geometry of 10×15 cm. Auto-CAD design and drawing was used for the fabrication of the machine. The overall length \times width \times height of the machine is $1.937 \times 620 \times 922$ mm. Twelve elliptical spoons having 180 fitted in round plate of diameter

200 mm were used for metering of cloves. A 3 hp diesel engine was used as prime mover of the garlic planter. The theoretical field capacity (TFC) was calculated as 0.081ha/ h, at a speed of 1.8 km/h, whereas, the actual field capacity (AFC) was found to be 0.065 ha/h with field efficiency of 79.84 %. It was observed that the placement of garlic cloves were at uniform depth under a range 4.2 cm to 5.2 cm with a minimum SD and CV of 0.33 cm and 6.92 % respectively. The miss index, multiple index and seed damage was found to be only 2.67, 8.0 and 1.46 % respectively, which was within acceptable limit. Operating cost per hour of the machine was calculated as Rs.151.00/h. For sowing one ha of land the planter required Rs. 2,321.50 /ha which was much more less as compared to manual dibbling method which required 65 man days and required additional of Rs. 2,878.00. Thus, the newly developed machine saves 55.35 % of money over traditional methods.

Introduction

Garlic (Allium sativum L.) is very precious spice crop having with its spices and medicinal values. India is largest producer of spice crops. The production of garlic in India is 0.677 million tonne. The farmers are generally sowing garlic by manual method, which is highly labour intensive and time consuming. It requires about 60 to 82 mendays to sow one hectare of land by maintaining row to row spacing by 15 cm and plant to plant spacing by 10 cm for better plant population. Due to high labour intensive works and higher wage rate the garlic cultivation is discouraged by farmers day by day. Though manually operated machines are fabricated but it is not so popular among the farmers due to its low field capacity. To overcome such circumstances there is an urgent need to mechanize the planting techniques for the farmers. The main objective of the study is to design and develop a self propelled garlic planter capable of singulating and planting garlic cloves at pre determined depth, row and plant spacing.

Rocha et al. (1991) designed and developed a manually operated planter for garlic bulbs mounted on two bicycle wheels and equipped with toothed rubber belt using the sponge teeth 25×47 mm and 25mm high. In field tests using the prototype equipment, bulbs were spaced at 5 bulbs per m. Jarudchai et al. (2002) designed and developed a garlic planter in Thailand. This study followed research after the 3 types of garlic planter viz. (1) inclined metering plate garlic planter (2) vertical metering plate garlic planter and (3) spring plate garlic planter. The new prototype garlic planter had 12 rows and was attached to 5 HP power tiller. Masoumi (2004) developed a roller-type metering device for a laboratory prototype single row garlic planter consisting of a seed hopper, a vertical roller-type seed plate driven by an electric motor and a seed counter. Some laboratory tests were conducted to investigate the effects of roller speed and size of seed cavities (cells) on the percentage of seed singulation and cell filling performance. Maheswarr and Verma (2007) modified and evaluated a garlic planter at Etawa, UP, India. The speed of planter was 1.8 km/h, actual operating time in 24.6 minute was required to cover area of 0.01 ha with field capacity of 0.0181 ha/h and field efficiency was 78 %. Bakhtiari and Loghavi (2009) designed, fabricated and tested a tractor-mounted, ground-wheel drive, triple unit, row crop precision planter capable of planting three rows of garlic cloves on each raised bed. The results showed that the new machine was capable of planting 2, 20,000 plants ha-1 at the seeding depth and spacing of 12.3 and 22.7 cm, respectively. Also, miss index, multiple index and seed damage were measured as 12.23, 2.43 and 1.41 percent, respectively. Park et al. (2000) developed a garlic clove

planter which planted garlic in upright position with its blunt root portion directed towards the ground in USA. Singh et al. (2006) evaluated the field performances of manually operated garlic planter at Jabalpur. The cost economics and labour requirement of the planter with the traditional method were compared. It was calculated that about 60 to 82 persons were required to sow one hectare of land because to maintain row to row spacing by 15 cm and plant to plant spacing by 7.5 cm for better plant population which costs around Rs.5658 /ha.

Material and Methods

A self propelled garlic (clove) planter was designed and fabricated at the Department of Farm Machinery and Power Engineering, College of Agricultural Engineering, JNKVV, Jabalpur. The design of machine components were based on the principles of operations, tested and compared with the conventional method to give a correct shape in form of prototype. The following test were conducted for design and evaluation of the garlic clove planter.

Theoretical Seeding Rate (R_{st})

The number of garlic cloves planted per hectare was calculated by using the following relationship.

 $R_{st} = 10^8 / (W \times X_s)$(1) Where,

 R_{st} = Theoretical seeding rate (seed ha⁻¹);

W = Row width (cm); and

 X_s = Seed spacing along the row (cm).

Seeding Mass Rate (R_{sm})

The total mass of garlic cloves planted per hectare expressed in Mg ha⁻¹ was calculated by using the following relationship.

 $R_{sm} = [M / (W \times X_s)] \times 100 \dots (2)$ Where,

 R_{sm} = Seeding mass rate, (Mg ha⁻¹);

- M = Average mass of one seed;
- W =Row width; and
- X_s = Seed spacing along the row.

Miss Index (MI)

Skips or misses are created when seed cells fails to pick up and deliver seeds to the drop tubes. The missing percentage is presented by an index called the Miss Index (MI) (Bakhtiari and Loghavi, 2009) which is the percentage of spacing greater than 1.5 times the theoretical spacing. Smaller values of MI indicate better performance.

Multiple Index (DI)

Multiples are created when more than one seed is delivered by a cell. The multiples percentage is represented by an index called Multiple Index (DI) (Bakhtiari and Loghavi, 2009) which is the percentage of spacing that are less than or equal to half of the theoretical spacing. Smaller values of DI indicate better performance.

Seed Damage

In three randomly selected one kilogram samples taken from a bulk of garlic cloves passed through the metering drums and seed tubes, the number of cloves that were damaged mechanically including any significant bruising, skin removal or crushing were counted and their percentage was calculated as the seed damage percentage (Bakhtiari and Loghavi, 2009).

Coefficient of Variation (CV)

This represents the overall difference between the actual and nominal seed spacing in a percentage along a randomly selected for 5 rows of 2 m length of each planted row (Bakhtiari and Loghavi, 2009).

$$CV \% = \{ \sum (|D - L_{j}| + |D - L_{j}| + ... |D - L_{n}|) \} / (n \times D) \} \times 100$$

.....(3)

Where,

- D = Nominal seed spacing, mm;
- L = Actual seed spacing, mm; and
- n = Total number of seed spacing

measured (20).

Hoppers for Cloves and Fertilizer

Hoppers were designed to cover full width of the machine and located above the main frame. The hexagonal cross section of the seed box was usedn. The bottom was kept usually flat and rounded at the corners. A separate fertilizer box was provided and kept larger than that of seed because of higher application rates. Boxes were provided with a proper cover to avoid seepage of rain water and spilling of seed and fertilizer. The location of hopper in garlic-clove planter varied from 40 cm above the ground level. The capacity of box was determined by keeping the balance between the weight of material filled (as it affects draft) and the field efficiency of the machine. Application rates and field capacity values had to be taken into consideration

Seed Metering Mechanism

A metering device draws seed from bulk and delivers them at the desired rates in the seed tubes for planting of garlic cloves in soil uniformly. A vertical plate cup or spoon type picking device was employed as metering mechanism in the planter. As per recommendation for clove to clove spacing i.e. 10 cm; the ground wheel of 38.18 cm diameter was used giving the circumference of 120 cm. Therefore, in one revolution the ground wheel would cover 120 cm distance dropping 12 garlic cloves.

Fertilizer Metering Mechanism

A spur gear having 12 grooves (as number of spoon on the garlic metering mechanism was 12) was selected in the present design. The orifice diameter of 12 mm was usedfor metering of fertilizer. Additional arrangement was given to calibrate the fertilizer by sliding arrangement of plates just below the hole.

Furrow Opener

The minimum clearance H_1 between the land surface and the lower edge of the frame was kept at 200 mm. **Fig 2** shows dimensions and forces acting on the furrow opener.

The height of tine (H) of furrow opener was calculated as (Varshney, *et al.*, 2004):

 $H = a_{max} + H_1 + \Delta H_{\dots}$ (4) Where,

 a_{max} = depth of tool = 11.5 cm H_1 = length of tine = 20.0 cm

 $\Delta H =$ length of time used for fastening with frame = 4.0 cm

- So, H = 11.5 + 20.0 + 4.0
- H = 35.5 cm

The tine of the furrow opener was exposed first to bending due to soil resistance. The soil resistance (F_x) is horizontal and acts in the axis of symmetry of shoe. The soil resistance was assumed to be 3 to 5 times higher than actual average soil resistance (P_k) offered by the particular soil (**Fig. 1**). The value of the actual average soil resistance is obtained by the formula:

 $F_x = a \times W_w \times P_k$(5) Where,

- *a* = Effective working depth of tine = 5 cm
- $W_w =$ Effective working width of tine = 5 cm
- P_k = Specific soil resistance for the medium soil

Specific soil resistance P_k when sowing to a depth of 15 cm under different soils is:

Light soil: 0.12 kg/cm²

Medium soil: 0.15 kg/cm²

Heavy soil: 0.20 kg/cm²

Very heavy soil: 0.25 kg/cm² Therefore.

$$F_x = 5 \times 5 \times 0.15 \times 9.81 = 36.78$$
 N

The soil resistance is assumed to be 3 to 5 times higher than actual average soil resistance (F_x)

Draft at the tip of tine (D_t) = 36.78 \times 3 = 110.36 N

Stress (σ in Pa), causing the tine to bend was calculated as (Varshney, *et al.*, 2004):

$$\sigma = \frac{6D_t \left(H_l + a_{max}\right)}{th^2} \times 10^4 \dots (6)$$

Where,

 D_t = draft at the tip of tine, N;

t = thickness of the tine, cm and

h = width of tine, cm

It is to be assumed that the thickness (t) and width (h) of tine were 1.0 and 4.0 cm respectively. Hence,

 $\sigma = 130.3 \times 10^5 Pa$ (Pascle)

Now, Torsional stress (τ in Pa) is calculated as:

$$\tau = \frac{9D_t \left(W_w\right)}{8 \times ht^2} \times 10^4 \dots (7)$$

Where,

 W_w = Effective working width of tine, cm; and

Thus,

$$\tau = 15.5 \times 10^5 \, Pa$$

Then, the reduced stress (δ in Pa) was calculated as:

 $\delta = \sqrt{\sigma^{2} + 4\tau^{2}}....(8)$ $\delta = 10^{5} \times \sqrt{(130.3)^{2} + 4} \times (15.5)^{2}$ $\delta = 133.93 \times 10^{5} Pa$

The factor of safety has been taken 5 times more than that of the



Fig.1 The soil reaction and isometric view

actual stress,

Therefore, the stress = $133.93 \times 10^5 \times 5 = 669.65 \times 10^5 Pa$

The allowable stress of 40C8 steel is 400 MPa (IS-5517-1993) which is more than the designed stress 1268.05. Hence, a spring steel of dimension (L × B × T) of 42.0 cm × 4.0 cm × 1.0 cm had been taken for the machine. There was a provision of 4 holes of diameter 10 mm at equal distance for lowering tine upto a depth of 8 cm.

Supporting Frame

The components of the garlic planter were mounted on the main frame (chassis) which was supported by two gauge wheels. The machine was also connected to the rigid hitch point of the prime-mover. Mostly hollow square frames made up of mild steel were used in the sowing machines. The frame was subjected to torsion and bending moment due to 3 tines arranged on one line. The material taken for the frame was of size $4 \text{ cm} \times 4 \text{ cm}$ square section with thickness of material of 0.5 cm.

Depth Control-Cum-Transport Wheel

Two depth control of 25 cm diameter made out of $3.0 \text{ cm} \times 0.5 \text{ cm}$ flat and 1.2 cm diameter spokes were fitted at the axle of the transport wheel. A shaft of 1.2 cm diameter supported by a square section (32 $cm \times 2.5 cm \times 2.5 cm$) attached the wheel in perpendicular direction, which was also used for lowering the machine to a proper depth as required. It can be lowered upto 8 to 12 cm as and when required.

Drive Wheel

Ground drive wheel of 38.12 cm diameter, having width 3 cm and thickness of 0.5 cm was provided below the main frame of the machine. Twelve spikes $(3.7 \text{ cm} \times 3.0 \text{ cm} \times 0.5 \text{ cm})$ were provided on the outer periphery of the wheel to develop sufficient grip for power transmission.

Power Transmission from Ground Wheel to Metering Device

The power was transmitted through the drive wheel to the seed metering device and fertilizer metering device with the help of two set of chain and sprocket mechanism for the accurate power transmission. The power from the drive wheel drives the idler gear then transmits the power to the shaft of seed and fertilizer metering device simultaneously.

Stability of Machine

The machine was checked for stability to work in field without any up draft load to the operator. The calculation was based on simple lever formula (Kurmi, 2000) taking pivot point as traction wheel/cage wheel of the prime mover. The weight of the engine with front chassis (W_{en-} _{gine}), distance between the centre of engine and pivot point (De), weight of the planter (full of fertilizer + garlic cloves) with back chassis = W_p kg, Additional weight acting towards furrow = W_{furrow} , Distance between the centre of planter and pivot point ($D_{planter}$) i.e. 93.5 cm.

So,

$$(W_p - W_{furrow}) \times D_{planter} = W_{engine} \times D_e$$

 $W_{furrow} = 6.90 \ kg$

 $W_{furrow} = 6.90$ which will help the machine for opening the furrow and no additional load was required to the operator. After calculations and design of each parts of garlic planter with the ergonomical and mechanical point of view the self propelled garlic clove planter was fabricated with the use of AUTO- CAD design and drawing (**Fig. 2**).

Field Test

For each treatment 30×7 meter plot were taken in the College of Agricultural Engineering research farm. Three randomized plot were taken for three different methods of planting, i.e.

T₁: Self propelled garlic clove planter,

 T_2 : Manual garlic clove planter and

 T_3 : Manual sowing of garlic cloves by hand dibbling. The soil beds

Fig. 2 Isometric view and assembled view of the self propelled garlic clove planter



were prepared with two passes of cultivator and one pass of rotavator.

Result and Discussion

Theoretical Seeding Rate (R_{st}) and Seeding Mass Rate (R_{sm})

The number of garlic cloves planted per hectare was calculated by taking row width 15 cm and clove spacing as 10 cm to 6,66,667 cloves per ha. The total mass of garlic cloves planted per hectare expressed in Mg ha⁻¹ was calculated to 0.573 M/ha by taking average mass of single clove as 0.86 g. The amount of garlic cloves planted per hectare was calculated was found to be 0.573 tonne ha⁻¹ which was under acceptable limit as recommended (0.5-0.7 tonne ha⁻¹) and still saving of garlic cloves up to 22 % from traditional practices. The sample collected from the three delivery unit during calibration, were nearly same and there was very little deviation among the sample i.e. 3.96 to 5.97 g. The coefficient of variance (CV) was also very less about 1.17 % on average. Hence, it was found that the machine metered the garlic uniformly.

Field Performance of the Machine

The machine was tested in well prepared land and following data were obtained. The bulk density of soil was observed as 1.60g/cm³ at 19.50 percent moisture content. The variety of the garlic cloves taken for study was Yamuna-Safed white. It was observed that the machine was operated at a speed of 1.8 km/h and no skidding was observed during experiment. The theoretical field capacity was calculated as 0.081 ha/ h, whereas, the actual field capacity was found to be 0.065 ha/h. 20.16 percent time was loss during filling of the seed and fertilizer box, clogging of residues in boot, turning of machines and other extraneous unavoidable circumstances.

The test result shown in **Table 1** reveals the planter has effective field capacity of 0.065 ha/h with field efficiency having 79.84 %. It was also calculated that the machine required 15.47 hours to complete 1 hectare of land. The results indicated that the self propelled garlic clove planter requires only Rs.2,321.00 per ha for planting of garlic whereas, manual garlic planter and manually by hand dibbling requires Rs.3,604.00 and Rs.5,200.00 respectively.

Table 1 Comparison of different method of planting of garlic cloves

I S S S						
Mathad of planting	AFC, ha/h	Labour	Cost, Rs			
Method of planting	AFC, IId/II	required	Per h	Per ha		
Self propelled garlic planter	0.065	2 men	150.90	2321.00		
Manual garlic planter (without fertilizer application)	0.015	2 men + 3 men	24.06 + 30.00 = 54.06	3604.00		
Manual by hand	0.0019	65 men days	10.00	5200.00		

S No.	Seed placement depth, cm	Fertilizer placement depth, cm	Average distance between seed and fertilizer, cm	Seed bouncing (left – ve and right + ve), cm
Mean	4.79	9.53	4.75	0.28
SD	0.33	0.67	0.55	1.21
Range	4.2-5.2	8-10.5	3.7-5.5	-1.8 to 2.0
CV	6.92	7.01	11.55	439.01

Planting Depth of Seed/Fertilizer

It was revealed from the Table 2 that the placement of garlic cloves were at uniform depth within a range 4.2 cm to 5.2 cm on a average of 4.79 cm with a minimum SD of 0.33 cm. The coefficient of variation was found to be 6.92 %, indicates that the cloves were placed very close to the target depth of 5 cm with an acceptable limit and uniformity. Similarly the machine was designed to place fertilizer at a depth of 10 cm. The data reveal that an average depth of 9.53 cm with minimum standard deviation of 0.67 cm (coefficient of variation 7.01 %) for fertilizer placement was achieved by this planter. It was also observed that the difference between the seed and fertilizer was within the acceptable limits of 4.75 cm on average. It increase the crop yield reduce the rotten percentage due to fertilizer contamination.

The data in **Table 2** also reveals that there was no deviation in path (along the row) due to bouncing of seed. It may be due to the placement of cloves very close to the ground surface and it was not bounce either left or right side. The range of bouncing was varies from -1.8 to 2.0 which was acceptable. Hence, the machine performance was very good in field and the placement of seed as well as fertilizer was within acceptable limit.

Miss Index (MI)

Skips or misses created when seed cell fail to pick up and deliver seeds to the drop tubes. It was observed that the percentage of spacing greater than 1.5 times the theoretical spacing. In present study smaller values of the miss index i.e. 2.67 % indicate better performance of the machine, which was under acceptable limit. These missing were perhaps due to the jerk or vibration which produced empty spoons during operation. It also may be due to the clogging/segregation motion of cloves along the crop tubes for a little time.

Multiple Index (DI)

Multiples were created when more than one seed is delivered by a spoon. The seed fall at a distance of ≤ 5 cm indicate one multiple as clove to clove distance is found to be less than the theoretical spacing of the cloves. The average multiple index for the data taken along the planted rows was found to be 8 percent. The level of multiple index is considered to be low and acceptable as it doesn't affect the vield. The multiple index may be due to the small size of cloves, as compare to the spoon designed. Overall the data indicates that the machine performance was better if graded seed of bold quality were used by farmer.

Coefficient of Variation

The overall differences between the actual and theoretical seed spacing along a randomly selected 2 m length was calculated. It was observed that the seeds were placed on average of 10.12 cm distance, which was much closer to the designed spacing with SD 1.56 and coefficient of variation of 15.36 %.

Seed Damage

The average percent of garlic clove damage were calculated by collecting seeds along the rows for a span of 15 m randomly. The number of cloves that were damaged mechanically including any significant bruising, skin removal or crushing was observed only 1.46 percent which was considered to be very low and within acceptable limit.

Cost Economics

The cost of operation of the machine per hour as well as per ha was presented in **Table 1**. The machine cost was taken including the primemover cost, which may be used in other farm operation also. The annual use of the machine was taken only 200 h/year, which may be increased by changing only metering unit of the machine and can be used for other crops like maize, groundnut, soybean etc.

It was found that cost of operation of the machine mainly depends upon its annual use. In present assumption of 200 h use annually, the fixed cost was found to be Rs. 91.00 whereas, operational cost as Rs.60.00. Including both fixed and operational cost the machinery cost per hour was Rs.151.00/h. For sowing one ha of land the planter required Rs.2,321.50/ha which was less compared to manual dibbling method which required 65 man days and required additional of Rs.2,878.00. Thus the newly developed machine would save 55.35 % of money over traditional methods.

Conclusions

The actual field capacity (AFC) was found to be 0.065 ha/h with field efficiency of 79.84 %. It was observed that the placement of garlic cloves were at uniform depth under a range 4.2 cm to 5.2 cm with a minimum SD and CV of 0.33 cm and 6.92 % respectively. The miss index, multiple index and seed damage was found to be only 2.67, 8.0 and 1.46 % respectively, which was within acceptable limits. The machinery cost per hour was calculated as Rs.151.00 /h. For sowing one ha of land the planter required Rs.2321.50 /ha which would save 55.35 % of money over traditional methods.

REFERENCES

- Bakhtiari, M. R. and M. Loghavi. 2009. Development and evaluation of an innovative garlic clove precision planter. J. Agric. Sci. Technol, 11: 125-136.
- IS: 5517-1993. 1993. Indian Standard, Steel for Hardening and Tempering –Specifications, Bureau of Indian Standard, New

Delhi.

- Jarudchai, Y., K. Snoluch, and B. Jiraporn, 2002. http://www. pcarrd.dost. gov.ph/cin/agmachin/ garlic%20dumaoal.htm
- Kurmi, R. S. 2000. A text book on engineering mechanics. Sultan Chand and Co. Ltd., New Delhi.
- Maheshwarr, T. K. and M. R. Verma. 2007. Modification and performance evaluation of garlic planter, Agricultural Engineering Today, 31(2).
- Masoumi, A. A. 2004. Determination of physical properties, design and fabrication of a precision planter's feeding unit and development of a mathematical model for garlic cloves. Unpublished Ph. D. Thesis, Department of Agricultural Machinery, Faculty of Agriculture, Tehran University.
- Park W. K, D. K. Choi, S. C. Cho, J. Y. Kim, S. H. Kim, and C. K. Kim. 2000. Development of Garlic Clove Planter, ICAME 2000, The Third International Conference On Agricultural Machinery Engineering, Proceedings vol. II of III, pp. 438-445 (Nov. 13, 2000).
- Rocha, F. C., T. Tsujimoto, S. J. Menezes, and R. F. DeCastro. 1991. Garlic planters with toothed belt type mechanism. Informe- Agropecuario, 15: 37-39.
- Singh, V. C., A. K. Shrivastava, and A. Dubey. 2006. Feasibility evaluation of manual garlic planter. Annual report of FIM scheme, CAE, JNKVV, Jabalpur, pp: 1-12.
- Varshney, A. C., U. Kumar, and R. K. Naik. 2004. Sowing and planting equipment, Data Book for Agricultural machine Design, CIAE/2004/01, pp: 210-245.

Drying of Dates Using Multiple Collectors Areas Followed by Equal Drying Areas in a Solar Tunnel Dryer



M. A. Basunia

H. H. Al-Handali

M. I. Al-Balushi

Department of Soils, Water and Agricultural Engineering, CAMS, Sultan Qaboos University, P.O. Box 34, Al-Khod123, Muscat, Sultanate, OMAN basunia@squ.edu.om

Abstract

A 12 meter long and 2 meter wide tunnel was designed and constructed to analysis the performance of a solar tunnel dryer using multiple drying and collector sections instead of continuous single collector section followed by a single continuous drying section. The area of each solar collector section was 2 \times 2 m followed by an equal drying area. Thus there were three drying zones and three collector zones over the entire tunnel base. The drying air was forced from the collector regions (north side) to the drying regions (south side) of the half circled tunnel where the product was dried. The drying temperature could be easily raised by some 5-30 °C above the ambient temperature inside the tunnel at an air velocity of approximately 0.25 m/s. The test was conducted with 136.0 kg freshly harvested dates with initial moisture content of 39.98 % (wet-basis). The dates were dried to a final moisture content of 16.80 % (wet-basis) within a day (12 hours). The results indicated that the drying was faster in the multiple collectors zones arrangement followed by equal multiple drying zones than the single continuous collector zone followed by single continuous drying zone. It was possible to reach the moisture content level for safe storage within a day (12 hrs) with multiple collectors and drying areas whereas it required two days (20 hrs) in a single continuous collector and drying areas. The improvement in the quality of dates in terms of color, brightness, flavor, and taste and food value was distinctly recognized than the open air natural drying method.

Keywords drying, dates, multiple collector zones, multiple drying zones, solar tunnel dryer, moisture content.

Introduction

Demand of dried food products is increasing because dried foods are tasty, nutritious, lightweight, easyto-prepare, easy-to-store and use, and the energy input is less than what is needed to freeze or can. Also the storage space is minimal compared with that needed for canning jars and freezer containers. So the drying is an important operation in agriculture because it is the cheapest, easiest and most common method of preserving and storing of perishable agricultural products. Solar energy is a renewable resource, non-polluting and friendly to the environment. Today rising oil prices is a major frustration on many government as well as individual levels. The use of solar thermal systems in drying is practical, economical and the responsible approach. The availability of good information is lacking in many parts of the world where solar food processing systems are most needed.

There are various methods and techniques available to dry fruits, grain and other agricultural products. Each method has its own advantages and limitations.

Annual production of dates in Oman is estimated about 200,000 tones (Ampratwum, 2003). Freshly harvested dates with high moisture content must be dried to preserve them unless they are to be consumed within a few hours of harvesting or placed in low temperature storage. Most of the dates are still dried by traditional method of open air natural sun drying in Oman. This method of drying normally takes 14 to 21 days (Ampratwum, 2003). The traditional open air natural sun drying methods often yield poor quality. In most cases the drying yard is not properly fenced. So the product is not protected against dust, rain and wind, or even against insects, birds, rodents and domestic animals while drying. Soiling, contamination with microorganisms and infection with disease-causing germs are taking place during drying by these methods. Dew may accumulate on the surface of the dates and causes mold growth if the date is not covered properly at night. Color change occurs and drying becomes slow (Ahmed and Mirani, 2008). The quality of dried dates is likely to be varied by partial over drying and possible contamination by dust, sand and insects infestation. The solar drying system provides higher temperature compared to

Fig. 1 A rough sketch of a solar tunnel dryer used in this study



 Air inlet to the tunnel, 2. AC fan, 3. Light-weight metallic net, 4. Dryer section (Ds),
 Air outlet from the dryer, 6. Bricks supports, 7. Wooden frame to support aluminium bends; 8. Wire mesh net over wooden base in dryer parts only (not visible),
 Absorber plates (black plastic board, not visible, Cs).

Fig. 2 Arrangement of dryer and collector zones over the almost airtight base of the tunnel (C = collector zones, D = drying zones)



(a) Single collector zone followed by a single collector zone

2 m	>		1.00	Air flow	1
D	c	D	C	D	с
<				2 = 2 m	2 × 2 n
	Air flow			1	

(b) Arrangement of multiple collector and drying zones

open air natural sun drying, and the temperature in solar drying system is controllable. In general, the dates producing countries receive a high amount of solar radiation. The solar drying facilities combine the advantages of traditional and industrial methods, namely low investment costs and high product quality.

Ampratwum (2003) reported the construction procedures and test results of a natural convection solar dates dryer in Oman, but due to lower drying rates and capacity, it did not gain popularity. A successful new solar tunnel dryer was designed and developed at the University of Hohenheim, Germany, to meet the drying requirements of small farmer cooperatives (Lutz et al., 1987; Esper et al., 1994, 1996). This dryer is classified as a solar dryer that have been successfully tested under field conditions in about 30 countries under different climatic conditions in drving various agricultural products (Schrimer et al., 1996; Mastekbayeva et al., 1998; Bala and Mondal, 2001; Basunia and Abe 2001a, 2001b, Basunia et al., 2009; EI-Sebii et al., 2002; Bala et al., 2003). Unfortunately, solar tunnel dryer has not yet been established for drying dates in Oman where solar energy is abundant and can be used for drying of dates and other agricultural products. Basunia et al. (2009) reported the performance of a solar tunnel dryer in drying dates using single continuous collector and drying areas. This study was conducted to analyze the performance of the solar tunnel dryer using multiple collector areas followed by equal drying areas at the Department of Soils, Water and Agricultural Engineering, Sultan Qaboos University, Oman.

Materials and Methods

The prototype solar tunnel dryer consists of multiple flat plate air heating solar collectors and drying areas, fabricated as a single unit (Fig. 1). The tunnel is 2.0 m wide and having a length of 12 m. The light-weight aluminum frames were used as the upper structure for the entire tunnel to support the transparent plastic cover. The tunnel was placed on concrete block substructures 500 mm above the ground surface. The ply wood planks (0.9×2.0) m) of thickness 4 mm were used as the bed for the entire tunnel to make the base of the tunnel almost air tight. The air tight base of the tunnel was divided into six equal zones (three drying and three collectors) each having an area of 3×2 m (Fig. 2). Over the wooden base, black painted metallic sheets of thickness 0.25 mm were used as the absorber plate in the collector sections of the tunnel. They were arranged in such a way that each collector zone was followed by a drying zone starting with collector zone from the north side of the tunnel. Thus there were three drying zones and three collector zones over the entire tunnel base (Fig. 2). This arrangement helped to expose the whole product to almost same temperature instead of exposing the product to variable temperatures as in a continuous single collector zone followed by a single drying zone. The steel wire mesh nets were spread over the drying

zones to dry the desired product. A 0.2 mm thick UV stabilized colorless polvethylene sheet was used as the transparent cover over the entire tunnel. The entire tunnel became almost air-tight except the inlet opening (north side) for fixing a fan and the exit side (south side) for the moist air. The light weight (30×1) mm) aluminum flat bars were cut into pieces of each having a length 3.14 m. These pieces were bent into half-circles before fixing with the wooden base of the tunnel. Two solar powered fans (40 W) one at each side of the tunnel were used to force the drying air to flow over the product and passed through the exit. The fans were installed at the holes made on the wooden cover plat, 150 mm above the base of the tunnel. Thus the drying air was forced from the collector regions to the dryer regions where the product is to be dried. The fan has an air handling capacity of 7.3 m³/min against a maximum static pressure of 157 Pa (16 mm H_2O). Prior to the operation of the dryer thermocouples were installed to record the temperatures at different locations within the tunnel. Nine thermocouples were connected within the tunnel; three at each of the mid-points of the collector zone at the air entrance side, dryer zone at exit and as well as the whole tunnel. The moisture content of whole dates was determined by using oven drying method. The sample of whole dates was kept at 100 °C for 20 hours (AOAC, 1984).

Results and Discussion

No-Load Tests (Test Without Product)

The no-load tests with and without fan were conducted to detrmine the thermal characteristics of the whole tunnel at different weather conditions and also, the temperature gradient both in the collector and dryer regions of the tunnel. Fig. 3 shows the variations of ambient, collector and dryer temperatures with time of the day. The drying air temperature could be easily raised by some 5-30 °C above the ambient temperature at an air flow rate of 0.15-0.25 m/sec. The difference between the drying air temperature and ambient temperature gradually increased from morning till mid-day then gradually decreased in the afternoon (Fig. 3). The highest temperature 69 °C was observed at around 1 PM. This indicated that solar tunnel dryer can be easily used to dry dates. In no load tests the maximum difference between the average temperatures of the dryer and collector parts was

Fig. 3 Variations of ambient, dryer and collector air temperatures with time of the day (August 8-9, 2008) under no load condition

Fig. 4 Variations of ambient, dryer and collector temperatures with time of the day (August 10, 2009) in drying freshly harvested dates at an average air flow rate of 0.20 m/sec



about 2 °C. This indicated the uniformity of temperatures inside the entire tunnel except at entrance side of the collector.

There was almost no temperature gradient found in the vertical and horizontal directions of the whole tunnel. A no-load test was conducted without using fan. It was observed that the highest temperature inside the tunnel reached 75 °C when the fan was not in operation. The difference between the average temperatures inside the tunnel without and with fan was about 10 °C. This indicated the operation of the dryer without fan would cause over drying of the product particular during 11:00 AM-3:00 PM. The average solar irradiance was about 500 w/ m^2 .

Test with Freshly Harvested Dates

The full load test with 136.0 kg freshly harvested dates (khalas variety) was conducted to study the dryer performance on August 10, 2009. The average initial moisture content of the freshly harvested dates collected from the Agricultural Farm of the University was 39.98 % (wet-basis). The dates were spread on three drying zones of the tunnel in a single layer thickness. The drying was started at 6:30 AM and continued till 6:30 PM. The approximate sun rising and setting time was 6:00 AM and 7:00 PM, respectively. The moisture content was reduced to 16.80 % from initial 39.98 % wet-basis within 12 hours. Samples were collected for moisture content determination at the end of drying period. The final moisture content at the end of one day drying was found 16.80 % (wet-basis).

The variations of the tunnel exit (dryer exit), tunnel inlet (collector entrance) and ambient air temperatures with drying time (6:00-19:00 hr/day) have shown in **Fig. 4**. The variations of the solar radiation with drying time are shown Fig. 5. The average drying air and ambient temperatures were 52.0 °C and 36.20C, respectively, and the average total radiation on a horizontal surface was 589.2 w/m². The average temperature in the collector part was lower than the average temperature in the dryer part because of the presence fan at the air entrance side of the collector.

To compare the drying rates of the solar tunnel dryer and the natural convection open air sun drying, a separate tests was conducted with about 100 gm samples under the same weather conditions. The samples from the solar tunnel dryer and the open air natural sun drying were taken at one to three hour intervals of drying starting from 6:30 AM and continued till 6:30 PM on each day. The moisture removal rate was much high in solar tunnel dryer than the open air natural sun drying method (Fig. 6). It took only one day (12 hours) to reduce the moisture content to safe storage level (16.80 %) in solar tunnel drving system, whereas it was reduced to 30.5 % (w.b.) only in the same time in natural open air sun drying method. It was considered that there was no moisture addition to or subtraction from the products during the overnight as the products were covered by plastic sheets. It took almost seven days to reduce the moisture level to 16.8 % (w.b.) in natural open air sun drying method.

Conclusions

This paper describes the design, construction and experimental investigation of a solar tunnel dryer with multiple collector zones followed by equal drying zones over the air tight base of a tunnel. The no-load tests clearly indicated that the drying temperature could be easily raised to some 5-30 °C above the ambient temperature while the average air flow velocity inside the tunnel was 0.15-0.25 m/s. The aver-







age drying air temperature inside the tunnel could be easily attained 45-55 °C. The experiment was carried out with 136 kg freshly harvested dates and the performance of the solar tunnel dryer was compared to single and continuous collector followed by a single continuous drying area over the tunnel base. A considerable reduction in drying time was obtained using multiple collector areas instead of a single collector area. It was possible to reduce the moisture content level to safe storage (16.80 % w.b.) within one day (12 hours) with multiple collectors, whereas it took two days (20 hours) in single collector. The comparison also showed that drying in solar tunnel drver was much faster than the natural convection open air natural sun drying both in single and multiple collectors. These investigations show that solar tunnel dryer can be used for low temperature drying of dates and other agricultural products in the rural areas of Oman where electricity is not available.

Acknowledgement

The financial support by the IG/ AG/SWAE/08/01 for this study at the College of Agricultural and Marine Sciences, Sultan Qaboos University is greatly acknowledged.

REFERENCES

- Ahmed, M. and A. A. Mirani. 2008. Development and performance of a solar-cum-gas fired dates dryer. Agricultural Mechanization in Asia, Africa and Latin America, 39(4): 63-68.
- Ampratwum, D. B. 2003. Development of solar technology for drying dates. Final research report, Sultan Qaboos University, Muscat, Oman.
- A.O.A.C. 1984. Official methods of analysis (14th edition) Association of the Official Analytical Chemists .Washington D.C.
- Bala, B. K. and M. R. A. Mondal.

2001. Experimental investigation of solar tunnel dryer. Drying Technology, 19(2): 1-10.

- Bala, B. K., M. R. A. Mondal, B. K. Biswas, B. L. Das Choudhury, and S. Janjai. 2003. Solar drying of pineapple using solar tunnel dryer, Renewable Energy, 28: 183-190.
- Basunia, M. A. and T. Abe. 2001a. Thin-layer solar drying characteristics of rough rice under natural convection. Journal of Food Engineering, 47: 295-301.
- Basunia, M. A. and T. Abe. 2001b. Design and construction of simple three-shelf solar rough rice dryer. Agricultural Mechanization in Asia, Africa and Latin America, 32(3): 54-59, 66.
- Basunia, M. A., H. H. Handali, M. I. Al-Balushi, M. S. Rahman, and O. Mahgoub. 2010.
- Final research report on "performance evaluation of a solar tunnel dryer for drying dates and fishes in Oman" Project No. IG/ AGR/SWAE/08/01. Department of Soils, Water & Agricultural Engineering, Sultan Qaboos University, Muscat, Oman.
- EI-Sebaii, A. A., S. Aboul-Enein, M. R. I. Ramadan, and H. G. El-Gohary. 2002. Empirical correlations for drying kinetics of some fruits and vegetables. Energy, 27: 845-859.
- Esper, A., W. Muhlbauer, W. Rakwchian, and S. Janjai. 1996. Introduction of Solar Tunnel Dryer for Drying Tropical Fruits in Thailand, Paper presented in the International Seminar on Financing and Commercialization of Solar Energy Activities in South and East Asia, Kunming, China, August 24-31.
- Esper A., O. Hansel and W. Muhlbauer. 1994. PV-driven solar tunnel dryer, Agricultural Engineering Conference, Bangkok, December 6-9.
- Mastekbayeva, G. A, M. A. Leon, and S. Kumar. 1998. Performance evaluation of a solar tunnel dryer

for chili drying, paper presented at the ASEAN seminar & Workshop on drying technology, Phitsanulok, June 3-5.

- Lutz, K. W. Muhlbauer, J. Muller, and G. Reisinger. 1987. Development of Multi-purpose solar crop dryer for arid zones. Solar and Wind technology, 4: 417-428.
- Schirmer, P. S. Janjai, A. Esper, R. Samitabhindu, and W. Muhlbauer. 1996. Experimental investigation of the performance of the solar tunnel dryer for drying bananas, Renewable energy, 2: 119-129.

EVENT CALENDAR

ADAGENG 2014

—12th International congress on mechanization & Energy in Agriculture— June 3–6, 2014, Cappadocia, TURKIYE http://www.adageng2014.com

DLG-Feldtage 2014

—One of the largest agricultural machinery exhibition in Germany— June 17-19, 2014, Hannover, GERMANY

http://www.dlg-feldtage.de/en.html

First International Field Days for crop production and agriculture machinery

July 2–4, 2014, Volga Region, RUSSIAN http://www.dlg.org/news_agriculture_pl.html?detail/dlg. org/1/2/6256

AgEng 2014 Zurich

—Engineering for improving resource efficiency— July 6–10, 2014, Zurich, SWITZERLAND http://www.AgEng2014.ch

Canadian Society of Biosystems Engineers CSBE

—Joint International Meeting with ASABE— July 12-16, 2014, Montreal, CANADA www.asabemeetings.org/ Conference 2014 The 5th International Workshop:

—Applications of Computer Image Analysis and Spectroscopy in Agriculture—

The CIGR Working Group on Image Analysis for Agricultural Products and Processes is organizing the conference to increase the collaboration between institutions, academia, government, industry and individuals in the field of computer vision and image analysis for food and agriculture.

The conference is open to all researchers interested in optical systems for agricultural products and processes.

http://www.asabe.org/meetings-events/2014/07/2014-applications-of-computer-image-analysis-and-spectroscopy-inagriculture.aspx

2014 International Symposium on Flexible Automation (ISFA 2014)

July 14–16, 2014, Hyogo-ken, JAPAN http://www-dsc.mech.eng.osaka-u.ac.jp/ISFA2014/

12th International Congress on Mechanization & Energy in Agriculture

September 3-6, 2014, Cappadocia, TURKEY http://www.adageng2014.com/

18th World Congress of CIGR

—International Commission of Agricultural and Biosystems Engineering & CIGR Section III ATOE (Automation Technology for Off-road Equipment) Conference— September 16-19, 2014, Beijing, CHINA http://www.cigr2014.org

Agro Tech Russia 2014

October 3-6, 2014, Moscow, RUSSIA http://www.dlg-international.com/392.html

XI Latin American and Caribbean Congress of Agricultural Engineering 2014

October 6-10, 2014, Cancun, MEXICO

The XI Latin American and Caribbean Congress of Agricultural Engineering (CLIA) 2014 will be held in Cancun, Mexico, from October 6th to 10th, 2014. This focuses on agricultural and biological engineering in area of agriculture, livestock and forestry to improve life of farmers and food producers, with sustainable systems and to protect environment.

http://chapingo.mx/dima/clia2014/

ICoME-2014

-the 5th international conference on mechanical Engineering-

December 17-19, 2014, Chiang Mai, Thailand http://me.eng.kmitl.ac.th/icome2014/

XXXVI CIOSTA CIGR V Conference 2015

—Environmently Friendly Agriculture and Forestry for Future Generations—

May 26-28t, 2015, Saint-Petersburg, RUSSIA

CIOSTA- Commission Internationale del' Organization Scientifique du Travail en Agriculture was founded in 1950 and has organized many conferences, seminars, workshops and other meetings on the optimization of bio-production management and work, system engineering and innovative technologies. The theme of the Conference 2015 is "Environmentally Friendly Agriculture and Forestry for Future Generations" and is now calling for papers.

info@ciosta2015.org.

10th ECPA Meeting

-Conference theme: Precision agriculture for efficient resources management under changing global conditions-

July 12-16, 2015, ISRAEL

ABSTRACTS

The ABSTRACTS pages is to introduce the abstracts of the article which cannot be published in whole contents owing to the limited publication space and so many contributions to AMA. The readers who wish to know the contents of the article more in detail are kindly requested to contact the authors.

1143

Studies on Environmental Parameters, Energy Requirement and Techno-Economics of Capsicum Grown under Greenhouse: J. C. Paul, Associate Professor, College of Agricultural Engineering and Technology, Orissa University of Agriculture and Technology, Bhubaneswar -751 003, INDIA; J. N. Mishra, Associate Professor, same; P. L. Pradhan, Associate Professor, same.

An experiment was conducted during winter 2007-08 in a semi-cylindrical greenhouse of size 4 m \times 25 m for cultivation of capsicum at Bhubaneswar in coastal Orissa, India. Greenhouse was effective in raising the temperature during cold night period inside the greenhouse thereby creating a better microclimate for production of higher yield and quality fruits than open field cultivation. The growth and vield of capsicum was better under greenhouse than open field cultivation. The yield of capsicum per sq. m. inside the greenhouse was 2.17 times more over open field condition. The study indicates that the input energy per unit of capsicum produce is 3.38 MJ/kg under open field condition and 4.1 MJ/kg under greenhouse cultivation. The higher energy requirement for greenhouse cultivation is mainly due to the framed structure and the glazing materials used in the greenhouse. The assessment of input energy establishes the priorities for input energy optimization. The greenhouse was evaluated in terms of its techno-economic analysis, which was carried out by using different economic indicators such as Net Present Value, Benefit Cost Ratio, Internal Rate of Return and Pay Back Period and compared with open field cultivation. The net present value of investment made on greenhouse for cultivation of capsicum was Rs.119,110 as compared to Rs.43,239 when grown in the open field. The benefit cost ratio for greenhouse was 2.61 and 2.58 for open field cultivation. The internal rate of return for greenhouse was 40 and 35 percent for open field cultivation. The pay back period for capsicum under greenhouse was 4 years. It was observed that, techno-economically; cultivation of capsicum in winter under greenhouse will be acceptable by the farmers of Orissa.

1215

Preparation of Barley Chips and its Packaging and Storage

Jyoti Prakash, Department of Post Harvest Technology, Sher-e-Kashmir University of Agricultural Sciences and Technology, Kashmir, Jammu and Kashmir, INDIA; H. R. Naik, same; Syed Zameer Hussaina, same, zameerskuastj@rediffmail.com; Baljit Singh, Department of Food Science and Technology, Punjab Agricultural University, Ludhiana

The aim of the present study was to evaluate the effect of salt concentration and packaging materials on the quality characteristics of barley chips during the storage under ambient conditions. An increase in moisture content, total sugars and amylose was observed during 180 days of storage period and the increase was found more in chips packed in polyethylene packages. However, a decreasing trend was observed in ash content, fat, protein, starch, dietary fibre and in amylopectin content during the storage and the decrease was observed more in chips packed in polythene packages. Further, the colour difference (ΔE) and the crispness in chips was found to be decreasing during the storage. With the increase in salt concentration (1 and 2 percent) moisture content and ash content of chips was found to be increased, while as fat content and crispness decreased. The overall acceptability score decreased significantly during the storage (3.77 to 3.08). The chips with 2 percent salt and packed in aluminum based laminates obtained high mean score. Among the different formulations T₂ (2 percent salt, polyethylene) recorded lowest breakeven point (24.03 kg) and highest margin of safety (125.97 kg), whereas T₃ (1 percent salt, laminate) recorded highest breakeven point (28.94 kg) and lowest margin of safety (121.06 kg).

ABSTRACTS

The ABSTRACTS pages is to introduce the abstracts of the article which cannot be published in whole contents owing to the limited publication space and so many contributions to AMA. The readers who wish to know the contents of the article more in detail are kindly requested to contact the authors.

1217

Effect of Spade Angle and Spading Frequency of Spading Machine on Specific Soil Resistance and Pulverization

Ritu Dogra, Associate Professor, Dept. of Farm Machinery & Power Engineering, Punjab Agricultural University, Ludhiana (Pb) –141004, ritudogra@pau.edu; Baldev Dogra, Research Engineer, same, brhdogra@gmail.com; Pawan Kumar Gupta, Prof. & Dean (Retired), College of Agricultural Engineering & Technology, same; BD Sharma, Professor, Dept. of Soils, same

The effect of spade angle and spading frequency on various dependent variables, i.e. specific soil resistance encountered, energy consumed per unit volume of soil moved, weighted mean clod size, soil bulk density, soil cone index and cone index ratio were studied. The experiments were conducted in soil having 15.7 % clay, 53.6 % silt, and 30.7% sand. During experimentation, moisture content of soil was maintained between 13 and 14 %. The spade angles used were A1 (straight), A₂ (15°) and A₃ (30°). Four levels of bite lengths viz. 4, 6, 8 & 10 cm at travel speed of 18.47 cm/sec were selected for the study. These corresponded to four levels of spading frequencies namely F₁ (1.85 cycles/s), F₂ (2.31 cycles/s), F₃ (3.08 cycles/s) and F₄ (4.62 cycles/s). The spading frequency was determined by dividing the travel speed by the bite length. The dependent variables decreased with increase in spade angle and spading frequency. However, the cone index ratio increased with increase in spade angle and spading frequency. Therefore, for maximum pulverization and optimal specific soil resistance and energy consumption, larger spade angle and higher spading frequency were considered to be desirable.

Pongratulations!

100th Publication of CIGR Newsletter

CIGR's quarterly *newsletter* published its 100th issue in December 2013. CIGR started publishing its newsletter about 30 years ago and has offered information on member associations, members, sections, working groups and future events via post and its website. This year CIGR will change its publication from paper to electronic format and will be available immediately to people all over the world.

Please see further information at http://www.cigr.org/

Dr. Mohammad Ali Basunia won the KIDPA-2014 in Best New Technique



Dr. Mohammad Ali Basunia (co-editor of AMA representing Oman, Assistant Professor at Sultan Qaboos University, Sultanate of Oman) won the KIDPA (Khalifa International Date Palm Award)-2014 in Best New Technique (2nd winner) to develop solar date dryer at Sultan Qaboos University, Oman. The KIDPA was established under the patronage of His Highness Sheikh Khalifa Bin Zayed Al Nahyan, President of the UAE as the date palm has long been an important part of the lives in the region. This award has been set up as a platform to recognize and reward individuals and institutions all around the world who have contributed significantly to the dates palm field.

The prize is 200,000 UAE Dirham (\approx 55,000 USD) in addition to an official certificate and a crest. This prize was given in Emirate Palace Hotel, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirate on March 16, 2014.

NEW BOOK



LAUNCHED E-COURSES FOR AGRICULTURAL ENGINEERING "e-Courses for Bachelor of Tech. (Agricultural Engineering)" on moodle platform delivered on-line & off-line

by National Agricultural Innovation Project, Indian Council of Agricultural Research

The classes on Agricultural Engineering are offered online and offline in India. This course was developed by Anand Agricultural University, Indian Institute of Technology Kharagpur, Punjab Agricultural University, and Tamil Nadu Agricultural University. The course comes with 4 CDs; the topics are dairy & food engineering, workshop technology, soil & water conservation engineering and applied electronics and instrumentation. It provides easier and accessible study opportunities.

For more details, Indian Council of Agricultural Research http://www.icar.org.in/en



FAO'S PUBLICATION IN 2013 Integrated Crop Management Vol. 20-2013 "Mechanization for Rural Development"

—A review of patterns and progress from around the world: Plant Production and Protection Division—

This publication presents a kaleidoscopic view of agricultural mechanization experiences from all over the world and provides its issues for third world countries focusing on many specific sites/ regions to promote sustainable mechanization technologies.

The list of the chapters is as follows:

[Africa] 1. Investing in Agricultural Mechanization for Development in East Africa/ 2. Agricultural Mechanization in Southern African Countries/ 3. Agricultural Mechanization in West and Central Africa [Asia] 4. Rural and Agricultural Mechanization in Bangladesh and Nepal: Status, processes and outcomes/ 5. Agricultural Mechanization in India (Gajendra Singh)/ 6. China Development of Farm Mechanization and the Agricultural Machinery Industry (Maohua Wang) [Near East] 7. The Near East Region (Bassam A Snobar and El Hassane Bourarach) [South America] 8. The Development of Farm Mechanization in Brazil [Transition Countries of Eastern Europe and Asia] 9. Agricultural Mechanization in Countries in Transition in Eastern Europe and Central Asia [Cross-cutting themes] 10. Agricultural Mechanization and the Environment/ 11. Agricultural Mechanization Strategies (John Ashburner and Reynaldo Lantin)/ 12. Agricultural mechanization in development: A donor's view (Tokida Kunihiro) [Integrated Crop Management 13. Off-farm use of agricultural machinery/ 14. Agricultural Machinery Manufacturing and Supply [Information Exchange] 15. Investing in Information Dissemination and Exchange/ 16. Information Exchange and Networking: the RNAM Experience (Reynaldo Lantin)

For more details, FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations) http://www.fao.org//home/en/

NEW BOOK



Precision in Crop Farming

Site Specific Concepts and Sensing Methods: Applications and Results Heege, Hermann J. University of Kiel, Kiel, Germany (Ed.)

About this book

- Interdisciplinary approach that pervades all chapters
- The concept to deal with complicated topics simply

High yields and environmental control in crop farming require thorough study of the local growing conditions. Large machines are useful for some large fields but may not be efficient for other fields. Also, because of the recent advances in agricultural mechanization, some farmers feel the loss of the immediate and close contact with soils and crops.

The modern advanced technology, proximal sensing and signals from satellites can solve this deficit because it can adjust farming operations of small to large fractions. This can be used in various areas such as soil cultivation, sowing, fertilizing and plant protection.

This book offers the ideas of effective crop farming for Japanese agricultural engineers, too.

Popular Content within this Publication

Introduction: Heege, Hermann J./ Site-Specific Soil Cultivation: Heege, Hermann J./ Site-Specific Weed Control: Gerhards, Roland/ Heterogeneity in Fields: Basics of Analyses: Heege, Hermann J./ Site-Specific Sowing: Heege, Hermann J.



CONFERENCE MINUTES PRINTED

"48th Annual Convention of Indian Society of Agricultural Engineers (ISAE) and Symposium on Engineering Interventions in Conservation Agriculture"

-Organized by ISAE and College of Technology and Engineering, Maharana Pratap University of Agriculture & Technology—

The ISAE celebrated its 50th anniversary this year and had 48th Annual Convention from February 21- 23 in Udaipur, India. The convention was attended by agricultural engineers not only from India but also from several countries such as USA, Canada, Thailand, and Japan. It provided an opportunity for learning and interaction among them sharing the common interest in the development of the third world countries.

Some of abstracts of the papers on the convention

[Energy in Agriculture and Other Areas] i. Biomass Conversion Technology/ ii. Other Renewable Energy Technology [Farm Power & Machinery] i. Tillage, Tractor and Agri Mechanization/ ii. Sowing Planting, Intercultural and Plant Protection Equipment. iii. Harvesting Threshing Ergonomics Agri Machinery [Soil and Water Engineering] i. Application of Remote Sensing & GIS in Agriculture/ ii. Use of Mathematical Simulation Models in Agriculture/ iii. Micro Irrigation System/ iv. Climate Change and its Effect on Water Resources/ v. Conservation Agriculture and on Farm Water Management/ vi. Artificial Groundwater Recharge and Watershed Management

For more information, ISAE (New Delhi) http://www.isae.in

New Co-operating Editors



Kamaruddin Abdullah

- Nationality: Indonesia
- Present Post: Director at Darma Persada University Postgraduate School
- Qualifications: 1976 Ph.D.(Ag.Eng.) University of Tokyo
- Education: 1976 Ph.D at Tokyo University of Agriculture and Technology in Indonesia
- Experiences:
- 2007-2011 President of Darma Persada University Postgraduate School

1977-2007 Lecturer/ Researcher at the Agricultural Engineering Department of Bogor Agricultural University

- Awards:
- 2008 & 2009 The best 100 and 101 Indonesian developers on solar drying
- 2008 CAFEO honorary fellow
- 2002 CIGR fellow
- 2001 Kishida International Award
- Publications: H.T and Kamaruddin Abdullah, 2010. Energy Analysis On Simultaneous Charging And Discharging Of Solar Thermal Storage For Drying Application, Drying Technology, International Journal, Vol.28 No.9. among others



Brian G. Sims

- Nationality: UK
- Present Post: FAO Agricultural Mechanization Consultant.
- Education: 1972 MSc (Agricultural Engineering) at University of Reading and National College of Agricultural Engineering, Silsoe, UK

• Experiences:

2003-present the Food and Agriculture Organization of United Nations

Leader of the International Development Group at Silsoe Research Institute

- 2002 Received AMA Kishida International Award
- 1985 Invited as a visiting researcher at Stanford University
- Publications:
- Technical Editor of Agriculture for Development (Ag4Dev) the Journal of TAA among others
- Website: www.engineering4development.co.uk



Oyelade Opeyemi Adeniyi

- Nationality: Nigeria
- **Present post:** Obtaining Doctor of Philosophy in Agricultural and Biosystems Engineering at University of Ilorin, Ilorin, Kwara State, Nigeria
- Education: 2011 Master of Engineering (M. Eng.) in Agricultural Engineering at University of Ilorin, Ilorin, Kwara State, Nigeria
- Experiences:

2002-presentDepartment of Farm Power & Machinery; National Centre for Agricultural Mechanization (NCAM)2001-2002Development Finance Office, Central Bank of Nigeria (CBN), Abeokuta Branch

- Publications: K. C. Oni and O. A. Oyelade (2014): Mechanization of Cassava for Value Addition and Wealth Creation by the Rural Poor of Nigeria. AMA. 45 (1): 66-78. among others
- Membership to Prefessional Societies: Member of the Nigerian Institution of Agricultural Engineers (NIAE) in 2004/ Member of the International Soil Tillage Research Organization (ISTRO) in 2007/ -Engineering Registered by the Council for the Regulation of Engineering in Nigeria (COREN) in 2008

Co-operating Editors

I K Djokoto

ΑH

Abdoun

D K Some

A B Saeed

R J Bani

ΝG

Kuyembeh



B Kayombo M F Fonteh



AAK

El Behery

U L Opara





K C Oni



-AFRICA-

Benedict Kayombo

Assoc. Prof. of Soil and Water Engg., Dept. of Agric. Engg. and Land Planning, Botswana College of Ag-ric, Univ. of Botswana, Private Bag 0027, Gaborone, BOTSWANA. TEL+267-3650125, bkayombo@bca. bw

Mathias Fru Fonteh

Assoc. Prof. and Head, Dept. of Agril. Engg., Faculty of Agronomy and Agril. Sciences, Univ. of Dschang, P.O. Box 447, Dschang, West Region, CAMEROON. TEL+237-7774-0863, matfonteh@yahoo.com

Said Elshahat Abdallah

Assoc. Prof. of Agril. & Fish Process Engg., Dept. of Agril. Engg., Faculty of Agric., Kafrelsheikh Univ., Kafr Elsheikh 33516, EGYPT. TEL+20-473-22-4949, saidelshahat@agr.kfs.edu.eg

Ahmed Abdel Khalek El Behery

Agric Engg. Research Institute, Agril. Reserch Cen-ter, Nadi El-Said St. P.O. Box 256, Dokki 12311, Giza, EGYPT. behery28@yahoo.com

Richard Jinks Bani

Lecturer & Co-ordinator, Agric. Engg. Div., Faculty of Agric., Univ. of Ghana, Legon, GHANA

Israel Kofi Djokoto

Prof., Israel Kofi Djokoto, Associate Prof. Univ. of Science and Technology, P.O.Box 420 ust, Kumasi, GHANA, profdjokoto@yahoo.com

David Kimutaiarap Some

Eng. Prof. Dept. of Agril & Biosystems Engg., School of Engg Chepkoilel University College of Moi Univ., P.O. Box: 2405-30100, Eldoret, KENYA, dkimutaisome2@gmail.com

Karim Houmy

Prof. and head of the Farm Mechanization Dept., Institute of Agronomy and Velerinary Medicine II, Secteur 13 Immeuble 2 Hay Riad, Rabat, MOROC-CO. TEL+212-7-680512, houmy@maghrebnet.net. ma

Oyelade Opeyemi Adeniyi

Obtaining Doctor, Farm Power and Machinery Department, National Centre for Agricultural Mechanization (NCAM), P.M.B. 1525, Ilorin, Kwara

























K Houmy



ΟA



A I Khatibu

Solomon Tembo 52 Goodrington Drive, PO Mabelreign, Sunridge, Harare, ZIMBABWE.

-AMERICAS-

Hugo Alfredo Cetrangolo

Full Prof. and Director of Food and Agribusiness Program Agronomy College Buenos Aires Univ., Av. San Martin4453, (1417) Capital Federal, ARGEN-TINA. TEL+54-11-4524-8041/93, cetrango@agro. uba.ar

Irenilza de Alencar Nääs

Prof., Agril. Engg. College, UNICAMP, Agril. Con-struction Dept., P.O. Box 6011, 13081 - Campinas-S.P., BRAZIL. TEL+55-19-788-1039, irenilza@agr. unicamp.br

Abdel E. Ghaly

Prof., Biological Engg. Deparment Dalhousie Univ., P.O. Box 1000, Halifax, Nova Scotia, B3J2X4, CANA-DA. TEL+1-902-494-6014, abdel.gahaly@dal.ca

Alamgir Khan

Candidate Ph. D. Environmental Engg., School of Engg., Univ. of Guelph, 50-Stone Road East, Nig2w1 Guelph, Ontario, CANADA, alamgir@uoguelph.ca

Edmundo J. Hetz

Prof., Dept. of Agric. Eng. Univ. of Concepcion, Av. V. Mendez 595, P.O. Box 537, Chillan, CHILE. TEL+56-42-216333, ehetz@udec.cl

Marco A. L. Roudergue

Mechanization and Energy Dept., Agril. Engg. Fac-ulty, Campus Chillan, Univ. of Concepcion, Chile. Vicente Mendez #595, Chillan, CHILE. TEL+56-42-2208709, FAX./2275303, malopez@udec.cl

Roberto Aguirre

Assoc. Prof., National Univ. of Colombia, A.A. 237, Palmira, COLOMBIA. TEL+57-572-271-7000, FAX./4235, ra@palmira.unal.edu.co

Omar Ulloa-Torres

Prof., Escuela de Agricultura de la Region, Tropical Humeda(EARTH), Apdo. 4442- 1000, San Jose, COSTA RICA. TEL+506-255-2000, o-ulloa@ns.earth. ac.cr

SGC

Magana



ΗA Cetrangolo

I de A Nääs

Roudergue

O Ulloa-

Laurel

VOL.45 NO.2 2014 AGRICULTURAL MECHANIZATION IN ASIA, AFRICA, AND LATIN AMERICA

91

bedjdoyelade@gmail.com Umar Buba Bindir

State, NIGERIA. TEL+2348069030588, yemibamig-

Director General/CEO, National Office for Technol-ogy Acquisition and Promotion, Federal Ministry of Science and Technology, Federal Republic of NI-GERIA. TEL+234-8033-156117, binder@yahoo.com

Joseph Chukwugotium Igbeka

Prof., Dept. of Agril. Engg., Univ. of Ibadan,, Ibadan, NIGERIA. TEL+234-2-810-1100-4, Library@Ibadan. ac.ng

Emmanuel Uche Odigboh

Prof., Agril. Engg Dept., Faculty of Engg., Univ. of Nigeria, Nsukka, Enugu state, NIGERIA. TEL+234-042-771676, MISUNN@aol.com

Kayode C. Oni

Department of Agricultural & Biosystems Engineering, Faculty of Engineering & Technology, Uni-versity of Ilorin, PMB 1515, Ilorin, NIGERIA. TEL+234-803-5724708, kayoroll@gmail.com

Umezuruike L. Opara

Research Prof., S. Africa Research Chair in Post-harvest Technology, Faculty of AgriSciences, Stel-lenbosch Univ., Private Bag X1, Stellenbosch 7602, SOUTH AFRICA. TEL+27-21-808-4604, opara@sun. ac.za

Nathaniel Gbahama Kuyembeh

Assoc. Prof., Njala Univ. Colle, Univ. of Sierra Le-one, Private Mail Bag, Free Town, SIERRA LEONE. TEL+249-11-778620/780045

Abdien Hassan Abdoun

Member of Board, Amin Enterprises Ltd., P.O. Box 1333, Khartoum, SUDAN.

Amir Bakheit Saeed

Assoc. Prof., Dept. of Agric. Engg., Faculty of Ag-ric., Univ. of Khartoum, 310131 Shambat, SUDAN. TEL+249-11-310131, absaeed5@yahoo.com

Abdisalam I. Khatibu

P. O. Box 2138, Zanzibar, TANZANIA. khatibu@ zansec.com

Edward A. Baryeh

Prof., Africa Univ., P.O.Box 1320, Mutare, ZIMBABWE.





SGC

Magana



Chancellor







M R Goyal

ΑK

Mahapatra

Indra Mani

Li Shujun S Illangantileke S M Ilyas

S. G. Campos Magana

Leader of Agric. Engg. Dept. of the Gulf of Mexico Region of the National Institute of Forestry and Agril. Research, Apdo. Postal 429. Veracruź, Ver. MFXICO.

Hipolito Ortiz-Laurel

Head of Agric. Engg. and Mechanization Dept./ Postgraduate College, Iturbide 73, Salinas de Hgo, S.L.P., C.P. 78600, MEXICO. TEL+52-496-30448.

Ganesh C. Bora

Assistant Prof. and Interim Director, Machinery Systems and Precision Agriculture, Dept. of Agril. and Biosystems Engg., North Dakota State Uni. (NDSU), Fargo, ND 58108-6050, U.S.A. TEL+1-701-231-7271, ganesh.bora@ndsu.edu

William J. Chancellor

Prof. Emeritus, Bio. and Agr. Eng. Dept., Univ. of California, Davis, CA, 95616, U.S.A. TEL+1-530-753-4292, wjchancellor@ucdavis.edu

Megh R. Goyal

Senior Acquisitions Editor, Agric. & Biomedical Engineering and Retired Professor in Agric. & Bio-medical Eng. Univ. of Puerto Rico, Mayaguez P.O. BOX 86, Rincon, PR-00677, U.S.A. m_goyal@ece. uprm.edu

Ajit K. Mahapatra

Present add: Agric. & Biosystems Eng. Dept., South Dakota State Univ., P.O. Box 2120 Brookings, SD 57007-1496, U.S.A. TEL+1-605-688-5291, mahapata@sdstate.edu

Surva Nath

2929 Mc Gee Trfwy, #401, Kansas City, Missouri, 64108, U.S.A. drnath.surya@gmail.com

-ASIA and OCEANIA-

Graeme R. Ouick

Consulting Enginner, 83 Morrisons Road, Peachester, Queensland, 4519, AUSTRALIA. g.guick@bigpond.com

Shah M. Farouk

Prof. (Retd.), Farm Power & Machinery Dept., Bangladesh Agril. Univ., Mymensingh 2202, BANGLA-DESH. TEL+880-1711-801923, smf1941@yahoo.com

Daulat Hussain

Dean, Faculty of Agric. Engg. and Technology, Bangladesh Agril. Univ., Mymensingh-2202, BAN-GLADESH. TEL+880-91-52245











M Behroozi-Lar







Prof., Director, Sardar Patel Renewable Energy Re-search Institute P.B. No.2, Vallabh Vidyanagar-388 120, (Guj.) INDIA. bspathak@spreri.org



S M Farouk

T P Ojha





Daoulat Hussain









G Singh

B S Pathak V M Salokhe

Vilas M. Salokhe

Prof., Vice Chancellor, c/o Lumino Industries 156 A & B, Rash Behari Avenue Kolkata-700029, INDIA. vsalokhe@yahoo.com

Gajendra Singh

Adjunct Professor, Indian Agricultural Research In-stitute (IARI), 86-C, Millennium Apartments, Sector-61, NOIDA, U. P. 201301, INDIA. TEL+91-99-71087591, prof.gsingh@gmail.com

S. R. Verma

Ex-Dean & Prof. of Agr. Engg., H. No. 14, Good Friends Colony, Barewal Road, Ludhiana 141012. Punjab, INDIA. TEL+91-161-2551096, srverma10@ vahoo.com

Kamaruddin Abkullah

The Graduate School/Renewable Energy, Darma Persada University, JI. Radin Inten II, Pondok Ke-lapa, East Jakarta, 13450, INDONESIA. TEL+64-21-8649051, kabdullah0997@yahoo.com

Soedjatmiko

President, MMAI(Indonesian Soc. of Agric. Eng. & Agroindustry), Menara Kadin Indonesia Lt.29 Jl. HR. Rasuna Said X-5/2-3 Jakarta, 12940, INDONESIA. TEL+62-21-9168137/7560544.

Mansoor Behroozi-Lar

Prof., Emeritus Tehran Uni. Agr. Engg., Ph. D., Jalal All Ahmad Nasim St. Nasim Danesh Complex Block #35, second floor Tehran, IRAN.

Saeid Minaei

Assoc. Prof., Dept. of Agr. Machinery Eng., Tarbiat Modarres Univ., P.O.Box 14115-336, Tehran, IRAN. TEL++9821-44180537, minaee@modares.ac.ir

Ali Mazin Abdul-Munaim

Assistant Prof., Dept. of Agril. Machines and Equip-ments, College of Agric., Univ. of Baghdad, IRAQ. TEL+964-778-4561, old2a3y@yahoo.com

Jun Sakai

Prof. Emeritus, Kyushu Univ., 2-31-1 Chihaya, Higashi-ku, Fukuoka city, 813, JAPAN. TEL+81-92-672-2929, junsakai@mtj.biglobe.ne.jp

Bassam A. Snobar

Prof., Univ. of Jordan, Faculty of Agriculture, Am-man 11492, JORDAN. snobar@ju.edu.jo

Chang Joo Chung

Emeritus Prof., Seoul National Univ., Agril. Engg. Dept., College of Agric. and Life Sciences, Suwon,





Kamaruddin Abdullah

Saeid Minaei

A. M. Abdul-Munaim

J Sakai

AGRICULTURAL MECHANIZATION IN ASIA, AFRICA, AND LATIN AMERICA 2014 VOL.45 NO.2

Chetem Wangchen

Surya Nath

C R Mehta

Mohammed A. Mazed

G R Quick

A M Michael

Programme Director Agril. Machinery Centre Ministry of Agric. Royal Government of Bhutan, Bondey Paro Bhutan 1228, BHUTAN. krtamc@druknet.bt

Member-Director, Bangladesh Agri. Res. Council,

Farmgate, Dhaka, BANGLADESH. mamazed@

Li Shujun

barcbgd.org

President, Chinese Academy of Agril. Mechanization Sciences (CAAMS)/ Asian Association for Agril. Eng. (AAAE), No.1 Beishatan Deshengmen Wai Beijing 100083, CHINA. TEL+86-10-6488-2230, lisj@ caams.org.cn

Sarath G. Illangantileke

Regional Representative for South and West Asia, International Potato Center (CIP), Regional Office for CIP-South & West Asia, IARI (Indian Agric. Res. Institute) Campus, Pusa, New Delhe-12, 110002, IN-DIA. TEL+91-11-5719601/5731481, cip-delhi@cgiar. ora

S. M. Ilyas

Project Director, DEC, National Institute of Rural Development (NIRD), Rajendranagar, Hyderabad-500030, INDIA. Tel+91-40-2400-8417, smiyas@sity. com

Indra Mani

Prof., Division of Agril. Engineering IARI, New Delhi-110012, INDIA. maniindra99@gmail.com

C. R. Mehta

Head, Agricultural Mechanisation Division Central Institute of Agricultural Engineering Nabi-bagh, Berasia Road Bhopal-462038, INDIA. TEL+91-755-2747894, crmehta65@yahoo.co.in

A. M. Michael

1/64, Vattekunnam, Methanam Road, Edappally North P.O., Cochin, 682024, Kerala State, INDIÁ. kmichael65@eth.net

T.P.Oiha

Director General(Engg.) Retd., ICAR, 110, Vineet Kung Akbarpur, Kolar Road, Bhopal, 462 023, INDIA. TEL+91-755-290045

B. S. Pathak







Al-Amri



M P Pariyar

S F Chang



T S Peng

ΜA



S Krishnasreni



R ur Rehmen

A Senanarong





Y Pinar

ΝA







S A Al-Suhaibani



P V Lang

441-744, KOREA. TEL+82-331-291-8131, chchung@ hanmail.net

Chul Choo Lee

Rm. 514 Hyundate Goldentel Bld. 76-3 Kwang Jin Ku,Seoul, KOREA. TEL+82-2-446-3473, ccsslee@ chollian net

Muhamad Zohadie Bardaie

Prof., Dept. of Agril. and Biosystems Engg., Univ. Putra Malaysia, 43400 upm, Serdang, Selangor, MALAYSIA. TEL+60-3-8946-6410

Madan P. Pariyar

Consultant, Rural Development through Selfhelp Promotion Lamjung Project, German Technical Cooperation. P.O. Box 1457, Kathmandu, NEPAL.

Mohammad Ali Basunia

Assistant Prof., Dept. of Soils, Water & Agril. Eng. (SWAE), CAMS, Sultan Qaboos Univ. (SQU), P.O. Box 34, Al-Khod. 123, Muscat, Sultanate, OMAN. Tel+968-2441-3668, basunia@squ.edu.om

Allah Ditta Chaudhry Prof. and Dean Faculty of Agric. Engg. and Tech-nology, Univ. of Agric., Faisalabad, PAKISTAN

A. Q. A. Mughal

Vice Chancellor, Sindh Agr. Univ., Tandojam, 70060. PAKISTAN

Rafig ur Rehman

Director, Agril. Mechanization Reserch Institute, P.O. Box No. 416 Multan, PAKISTAN

Nawaf A. Abu-Khalaf

Assistant Prof., Palestine Technical Univ. -Kadoorie (PTUK), P.O.Box 405, Hebron, West Bank, PALES-TINE. TEL+972-2-2227-846/7, nawafu@hotmail.com

Reynaldo M. Lantin

Bougainvillea Trail, Greenway Drive UP Los Banos, College 4031, Laguna, PHILIPPINES. reylantin@ gmail.com

Ricardo P. Venturina

President & General Manager, Rivelisa publishing House, 215 F, Angeles St. cor Taft Ave. Ext., 1300 Pasay City, Metro Manila, PHILIPPINES.

Ali Mufarreh Saleh Al-Amri

Prof., Dept. of Agril. Systems Engg., College of Agril. Sciences & Food, King Faisal Univ., P.O.Box 55035, Al-Ahsa, 31982 SAUDI ARABIA. aamri@kfu.edu.sa



S Phong-

supasamit

Prof., Agril. Engg. Dept.,College of Agric., King Saud Univ., P.O. Box 2460 Riyadh 11451, SAUDI ARABIA. salsuhaibani@gmail.com

Sen-Fuh Chang

Prof., Department of Bio-Industrial Mechatronics Engg., National Taiwan Univ., 136 choushan Road, Taipei, 106. TAIWAN. sfchang@ntu.edu.tw.

Tieng-song Peng

Deputy Director, Taiwan Agril. Mechanization Re-search and Development Center. FL. 9-6, No. 391 Sinyi Road, Sec. 4, Taipei, 110. TAIWAN.

Suraweth Krishnasreni

1178/268 Soi Senanikom 1 Road Paholyothin 32 Chankasem, Chatuckack, Bangkok 10900, THAI-LAND

Surin Phongsupasamit

President, Institute for Promotion of Teaching Science and Technology, 924 Sukumit Rd. Klong Toey Bangkok, THAILAND

Akkapol Senanarong

Director, Agril. Engg. Research Institute, Dept. of Agric., Bangkok, 10900, THAILAND. akkapol@ksc. th.com

Yunus Pinar

Prof. and Head, Trakya Univ., College of Technical Sciences, Dept. of Machine Sarayici Campus, Edirne, TURKEY. ypinar@trakya.edu.tr

Imad Haffar

Managing Director, Palm Water Jumeirah Village (SIte Office Gate #10) Al Khail Road, P.O. Box 215122, Dubai, U.A.E. Tel+971-4-375-1196, imad.haffar@ palmwater.ae

Nguyen Hay

Assoc. Prof., Dean of Faculty of Engg., Nonglam Univ., Linh Trung Ward, Thu Duc District, Ho Chi Minh City, VIET NAM. nguyenhay@hcm.fpt.vn

Pham Van Lang

Director, Vietnam Institute of Agril. Engg., A2-Phuong Mai, Dong Da Hanoi, VIET NAM. langvcd@yahoo.com

Abdulsamad Abdulmalik Hazza'a

Prof. and Head of Agril. Engg. Dept., Faculty of Agric., Sana,a Univ., P.O.Box 12355, Sana,a YEMEN. TFI +967-1-407300





A A Hazza'a

P Kic

Ε

J Müller



Gasparetto Hoogmoed

Jan Pawlak OS Marchenko

ΟΡΜ

Jaime

M Martinov

Brain G. Sims

VOL.45 NO.2 2014 AGRICULTURAL MECHANIZATION IN ASIA, AFRICA, AND LATIN AMERICA

93



Pavel Kic Professor, Czech Univ. of Life Sciences Prague, Faculty of Engg. 16521 Prague 6-Suchdol, CZECH REPUBLIC. TEL+420-2-2438314 kic@tf.czu.cz

N Hay

RΡ

Joachim Müller

I Haffar

Prof. of the Univ. Hohenheim, Institute of Agril. Engg., Head of Agric.l Engg. in the Tropics and Subtropics, Univ. of Hohenheim, 70593 Stuttgart, GERMANY. TEL+49-711-459-22490, joachim. muller@uni-hohenheim.de

Ettore Gasparetto

Former Professor of Agril. Mechanization, Dept. Agril. Engg., Univ. of Milano, Via Celoria 2, I-20133 Milano, ITALY. TEL+39-0250316619, ettore.gaspa-retto@unimi.it

W. B. Hoogmoed

Univ. Lecturer, Wageningen Univ., Farm Technol-ogy Group, P.O.Box 317, 6708 AA Wageningen NETHERLAND. willem.hoogmoed@wur.nl

Jan Pawlak

Prof., head of the Dept. of Economics and Utilization of Farm Machines at IBMER, Prof. at the Univ. of Warmia and Mazury in Olsztyn, Fac. of Tech. Sci., POLAND. j.pawlak@itep.edu.pl

Oleg S. Marchenko

Prof. and Agril. Engineer, Dept. Head in All-Russia Research Institute for Mechanization in Agric. (VIM), 1st Institutsky proezd, 5, Moscow 109428, RUSSIA.TEL+7-926-492-1207, oleg072000@mail.ru

Milan Martinov

Prof., Faculty of Technical Sciences, Chair for Biosystems Engg., Novi Sad, SERBIA. TEL+ 381-21-485-2369, MilanMartinov@uns.ac.rs

Jaime Ortiz-Cañavate Puig-Mauri

Dpto. Ingenieria Rural Universidad Politécnica de Madrid, Esc. T. S. Ing. Agrónomos 28040-Madrid SPAIN. TEL+34-91-336-5852, jaime.ortizcanavate@ upm.es

Brain G. Sims

3 Bourneside Bedford MK41 7EG, U.K. BrianGSims@ aol.com

Co-editor`s name	Nationality	lnaugu- ral year	Retired year	Co-editor`s name	Nationality	Inaugu- ral year	Retired year
Adrian Moens	Netherlands	1972	1989	Wang Wanjun	China	1980	2012
Bala Krishna Shrestha	Nepal	1972	1991	Allan L. Phillips	U. S. A.	1981	2004
Chau Van Khe	Vietnam	1972	1980	Julien G. Van Lancker	Brundi	1981	1989
Manbahadur Gurung	Bhutan	1972	2006	Suppiah Kathirkamathamby	Sri Lanka	1981	1991
Merle L. Esmay	U. S. A.	1972	1990	Armed Hossain Mirdha	Mexico	1982	1991
Giuseppe Pellizzi	Italy	1973	2012	A. A. Valenzuela	Chile	1982	2013
Mohamed A. Bedri	Sudan	1973	1987	David Boakye Ampratwum	Ghana	1982	2011
Shahansha-Uddin Choudhury	Bangladesh	1973	1991	John Kilgour	U. K.	1978	2014
T. B. Muckle	U. K.	1973	1978	Kshirode Chandra Roy	Bangladesh	1982	1985
T. Touggaard Pedersen	Denmark	1975	1990	M. H. Abdel Aziz	Saudi Arabia	1982	1991
Bilash Kanti Bala	Bangladesh	1976	1982	Krishna Prakash Srivastava	Ethiopia	1983	1989
George B. Hanna	Egypt	1976	1988	Muhammad Siddique Chaudhry	U.S.A.	1983	1991
Siswadhi Soepardjo	Indonesia	1976	1985	Wimala Tissa Weerakoon	Zambia	1983	1985
Mohammad Ilyas	Pakistan	1977	1981	Harry D. Henderson	Lebanon	1984	1985
Amala Prasad Sharma	Fiji	1978	1981	Mohammad Afzal	Pakistan	1984	1994
Arumugam Kandiah	Ethiopia	1978	1989	A. P. Kaloyanov	Bulgaria	1985	2013
Bherulal T. Devrajani	Pakistan	1978	2004	Aalbert Anne Wanders	Netherlands	1988	2007
Satish Chandra	Fiji	1979	1990	Ali Mahmoud El Hossary	Egypt	1988	2010
Jitendra P. Mittal	Nigeria	1980	1993	Chanchai Rojanasaroj	Thailand	1988	2011
Naresh Chandra Saxena	India	1980	1988	Eltag S. Eldin Mahmoud	Sudan	1990	2011
Paris Andereou	Lebanon	1980	1984	Henrik Have	Denmark	1990	2009

Retirement Co-editors` Name List

TWO-WHEEL TRACTOR ENGINEERING for Asian Wet Land Farming

by **Jun Sakai**





A Present to the students who dream to be an international-minded specialist in farm machinery science & technology.

Introduction of new "Tractor-Tillage Engineering" based on a global view of agricultural civilizations in the world.

Two-wheel tractors contribute to the industrial promotion of agri-countries consisting of small-scale family farms.

The textbook with new guidelines for international technical cooperation with a better mutual understanding.

CONTENTS

- 1. Difference between Euro-American and Asian farming civilizations
- 2. New wheel dynamics and tractor-vehicle engineering in the 21th century
- 3. New plowing science of walk-behind tractors originated from Asian paddy farming
- 4. Scientific creation and systematization of rotary tillage engineering in Asia

English - Japanese Version

Price: Japanese Size: 21cm x 15cm, soft cover, 311 page

Shin-Norinsha Co., Ltd.

1-12-3 Kanda Nishikicho, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo, Japan, Tel: +81-(0)3-3291-3671~4, Fax: +81-(0)3-3291-5717 E-mail: ama@shin-norin.co.jp URL: http://www.shin-norin.co.jp

Back Issues

Vol.43, No.2, Spring, 2012

- A Two Row Subsoil Organic Mulch Cum Fertilizer Applicator (K. Kathirvel, R. Thiyagarajan, D. Manohar Jesudas)......9
- Temperature and Airflow Rate Effect on Artificial Ripening Process of Banana (Said Elshahat Abdallah, M. A. Basiouny)......15
- Potential of Micro-Hydropower Generation Systems in India (M. Muthamil Selvan, C.
- Multi-Purpose Solar Tunnel Dryer for a Mixed Farming System (R. G. Manjarekar,
- Energy Consumption Pattern in Production of Paddy Crop in Haryana State in India
- Compatibility of Jatropha Oil Bio-Diesel and Petro Diesel as an Engine Fuel Based on their Characteristic Fuel Properties (V. B. Shambhu, T. K. Bhattacharya, S. K. Chaudhary) 43
- Development and Evaluation of Mechanical Picking Heads for Citrus Fruits Harvesting (Soliman, A. H., M. E. El-Iraqi, Y. Sharobeem, T. R. Awais) 50
- Introduction of Improved Equipment and Hand Tools for Farm Mechanization of Hilly Region in Indian Himalayas (K. P. Singh, C. B. Khoragade, A. K. Srivastva) .. 59
- Mechanization Practices in Rice-Wheat Cropping Systems in Upper Gangetic Plains of India (K. S. Gangwar, V. P. Chaudhary, D. K. Pandey, B. Gangwar, K. K. Singh)...... 66
- Evaporative Cooling Chambers using Alternative Materials (Yogender Singh, Y. K.
- Design, Development and Performance Evaluation of Plantain Slicer (N. Kalaivani, K. Thangavel, R. Viswanathan)......79
- Economics of Basin-lister cum Seeder for Insitu Mois-ture Conservation in Drvlands of Indian Cotton Fields (M. Muthamil Selvan, R. Manian, K. Kathirvel, K. Rangasamy) .. 84

\Diamond Vol.43, No.3, Summer 2012

 \Diamond

- Animal Traction in Sudanese Agriculture. A Comparative Study (Elsamawal Khalil Makki, Lyla Saeed Jamaa)......9
- Design and Development of Hand Operated Maize Dehusker-Sheller for Farm Women (S. P. Singh, Pratap Singh, Surendra Singh)15
- Evaluating The Performance of a Bulk-Milk
- Cooler on a Dairy Farm (M. A. Basiouny, Said Elshahat Abdallah)..... 22 Development in a Small Prototype Gin Stand for Egyptian Cotton (Abd El-Hameed, S.
- E. Bader, A. E. Elyamani)...... 32 Technological Change in Paddy Production: A Comparative Analysis of Traditional and Direct Seeding Methods of Cultivation (Radhey Shyam Singh, L. P. Gite)...... 41
- New Mechanical Picking Head for Peach Harvesting (A. H. Soliman, M. E. El-Iraqi, S. E. El Khawaga, T. R. Awais) 47

AGRICULTURAL MECHANIZATION IN ASIA, AFRICA AND LATIN AMERICA

(Vol.43, No.2, Spring, 2012-)

- Problems and Prospects of Agricultural Mechanization in Bihar, India (V. B. Shambhu, S. K. Jha) 55
- Effect of Blade Angle and Speed of Onion Harvester on Mechanical Damage of Onion Bulbs (Jafar Massah, Ahmad Lotfi,
- Anthropometric Analysis of Selected Body Dimensions of Farm Workers for Design of Agricultural Implements - An Approach (M. P. Chandra, S. C. Sharma) 64
- Design and Development of Onion Detopper (Vijaya Rani, A. P. Srivastava) 69
- Adoption of Skill Enhancement Techniques and Ouality Improvement in Manufacturing of Agricultural Implements in Madhya Pradesh, India (Dushyant Singh, K. P. Saha, S. P. Singh).....74
- Flow Characteristics of a Wall-Attaching Offset Jet in a Complete Fluidic Sprinkler (Xingye Zhu, Shouqi Yuan, Hong Li, Junping Liu)......79

\Diamond Vol.43, No.4, Autumn2012

 \Diamond

- Developing a Solar Heating System for a Sweet Colour Pepper Greenhouse (M. Abdellatif Salah, A. Mohamed Yahia)9
- Tractor Drawn Raised Bed Seed Drill Under Vertisol (Atul Kumar Shrivastava, Alok Dubey, R. K. Naik)..... 16
- Decomposition of Raw Material Waste in Sugarcane Fields: Impact on Manorial Value of Soil Environment (Ashutosh Mishra, M. P. Sharma, M. Z. Khan)...... 20
- The Extent and Nature of Tractorization in India - An Overview of the Past and Current Status and Future Trends (V. P. Chaudhary,
- Design, Development and Performance Evaluation of a Foot Operated Maize Cob Sheller (Jagvir Dixit, Shiv Kumar Lohan, Roaf Ahmad Parray, Mohd. Afzal Malla) .. 32
- Effect of Speed on Wear Characteristics of Surface Treated Cultivator Shovels in Sandy Loam Soil (V. K. Chahar, G. S. Tiwari). 39
- A Pneumatic Powered Cotton Picker for Major Indian Cultivars and Compatibility to Women Operators (M. Muthamil Selvan, C. Divaker Durairaj, K. Rangasamy, C.
- Precision in Grain Yield Monitoring Technologies: A Review (Manjeet Singh, Aseem Verma, Ankit Sharma)..... 50
- Feasibility of Axial Flow Propeller Pumps for the Kuttanad and Kole lands of Kerala,
- India (P. R. Jayan, Nithya Sathyanathan).... 60 Effects of Threshing Unit Feature on Threshing Unit Losses for Thai Axial Flow Rice Combine Harvesters (Somchai Chuanudom, Winit Chinsuwan)...... 66
- Corn Stover Harvesting for Renewable Energy and Residual Soil Effects (Marko Golub, Savo Bojic, Djordje Djatkov, Goran Mickovic, Milan Martinov) 72

A Low Head, Minimum Pressure-Loss Equipment for Fertilizer Application Through Drip Irrigation (Santosh Kumara, K. G. Singha, Chetan Singlaa)...... 80



Vol.44, No.1, Winter 2013

- Minimum Drift During Spraying Process (Samir M. Younis)7
- Measurement of Tractor Performance (Samir Determination of Engineering Properties of
- Jatropha Curcas L. (S. C. Sharma, M. P. Singh, Jayant Singh)..... 19 Optimization of Energy Inputs for Gram Pro-
- duction under Different Farming Systems in Madhya Pradesh (Radhey Shyam Singh)
- Development and Performance Evaluation of a Solar Dryer for Bulb Onion (Allium cepa L.)* (Asim Osman Elzubeir, Asim Osman
- Energy Requirement for Irrigation Pumps in Allahabad District, Uttar Pradesh (India) (Sanjay Kumar, Chandra M. P.)..... 45
- Performance of a Modified Commercially Available Wheat Thresher for Threshing Lentil (Lens Culinaris) (Baldev Dogra, Ritu Dogra, Jaskarn Singh Mahal)...... 49
- Modification and Performance Characteristics of a New Prototype for Cleaning Seed Cotton (A. E. El-Yamani, Said Elshahat Abdallah, M. A. Basiouny)..... 55
- Pedal Operated Integrated Potato Peeler and Slicer (Khan Chand, R. K. Pandey, N. C. Shahi, U. C. Lohani)...... 65
- Development of Power Operated Curry Leaf (Murraya Koenigii) Stripper (Ravindra Naik, SJK Annamalai, Dawn CP Ambro-
- Agricultural Mechanization in Sub Saharan Africa for a Better Tomorrow (Tokida Kunihiro).....73
- The Farm Machinery Industry in Japan and **Research Activities**
- Main Production of Agricultural Machinery Manufactures in Japan 85



Vol.44, No.2, Spring 2013

Mechanized System for in-Field Oil Palm Fresh Fruit Bunches Collection-Transportation (Darius El Pebrian, Azmi Yahya) 7

- Effects of Tillage on Soil Moisture Content, Okra (Abelmosehus esculentus) Emergence
- and Yields (S. O. Nkakini, A. J. Akor)...... 15 Conceptual Design of a Semi Automatic on-
- Farm Fruit and Vegetable Washer (K. Ganeshmoorthy, M. Govindaraj, K. Alagusundaram, A. Manickavasagan)...... 22
- Custom Hiring and Scope of Entrepreneurship Development in Farm Machinery
- (Radhey Shyam Singh)26 Comparative Performance Evaluation of Self

Propelled Paddy Transplanters in Calcareous Soil (Subhash Chandra, Sanjay Kumar,

- Thermal Control of Stored Grains Insects by Utilizing Solar Energy (Ali M. S. Al-Amri,
- Current Status of Electrostatic Spraying Technology for Efficient Crop Protection (Manjeet Singh, Pramod Kumar Mishra, C. Ghanshyam, Rajesh Chak)..... 46
- Color Image Analysis of Green Bean and Green Pea Pods for Determining the Optimal Harvest Time (A. E. El-Raie, Y. A. Bader, H. E. Hassan, R. Khami)......54
- Energy Analysis of Cotton Production in Akola District of Maharashtra State (Avinash Wakode, C. N. Gangde, V. P. Khambalkar) 60
- Conventional vs. Radio Frequency Identification (RFID) Controlled Cattle Handling Technology Review: The Wav Forward (Tendai Justin Mutenje, Timothy Simalenga, Jeffrey Colin Smithers) 76
- Design and Development of a Manually Operated Urea Supper Granule (Usg) Applicator (M. A. Hossen, M. S. Islam, M. A. Rahman, M. D. Huda, M. G. K. Bhuyain,

\diamond \Diamond

Vol.44, No.3, Summer 2013

- Performance Evaluation of Two Different Seed Cotton Trash Extractors (S. A. Marey, I. F. Saved-Ahmed, A. E. Kable)7
- Feasibility of Mechanical Transplanter for Paddy Transplanting in Punjab (G. S. Manes, Anoop Dixit, Arshdeep Singh, J. S. Mahal, G. Mahajan) 14
- Modification and Performance Evaluation of a Reciprocating Machine for Shelling Peanut (M. A. Helmy, Said Elshahat Abdallah, A. Mitrroi, M. A. Basiouny) 18
- Development of Batch Type Multiplier Onion (Onion Aggregatum) Peeler with Centrifugal Discharge (Ravindra Naik, SJK Anna-
- Design, Fabrication and Testing of Worm Sieving Ma-chine for Commercial Production of Vermi-compost (Subhash Chandra,
- Optical and Electrical Properties for Determining the Optimal Harvest Time of Green Beans and Green Peas Pods Using Visible Laser (A. E. El-Raie, Y. A. Bader, H. E. Hassan, R. K. Ibrahim) 39
- Field Evaluation of Three Models of TAK+ Tractor for Nigeria's Agricultural Transformation (O. A. Oyelade, K. C. Oni) 49
- Improved Project Implementation through Virtual Prototyping. A case study of Farm Produce Handling Technologies for Small Scale Farmers in South Africa (Tendai Justin Mutenje, Timothy Simalenga, Manoshi
- An Industry Perspective of Tractor Safety against Rollover (V. K. Tewari, Ashish Kr. Shrivastava) 61
- Mathematical Model for Design and Development of Double Drum Rotary Screen Cleaner-cum-grader for Cumin Seed (Shivmurti Srivastav, D. C. Joshi) 70

- Combination Tillage Implement for High Horse Power 2WD Tractors (H. Raheman, A. K. Roul).....75
- Performance Evaluation of Experimental Self-Propelled Double Row Sugarcane Harvester (Vaibhav Survawanshi, Surinder Singh Thakur, Ankit Sharma) 80

 \Diamond \bigcirc \bigcirc

Vol.44, No.4, Autumn 2013 SUPECIAL ISSUE: THE THEME:

- What kind of cooperation do you want from the Japanese government, agricultural industry, agricultural engineering associations, engineers, developers and researchers to promote agricultural mechanization in the developing countries and homeland?
- Anticipated Role of Japan Concerning Agricultural Mechanization Issues in Developing World (Alamgir Akhtar Khan, Ramesh P. Rudra)......7
- Which Plow is more Suitable for Tillage Farming in IRAQ? (Ali Mazin Abdul-
- Agricultural Mechanization Strategy and Japan-Ghana Co-operation (Richard J. Bani, Selorm Y., Dorvlo)..... 11
- Far Sighted Decision (Bassam Snobar) 14
- Role of Japan in Promotion of Agricultural Mechanization in INDIA (C. R. Mehta, R. K. Pajnoo)...... 15
- Promotion of Agricultural Mechanization? Case of INDIA (Indra Mani)..... 18
- Biogas Technology Transfer as an Important Factor of Rural Development (Jan Pawlak) 20
- Japanese Industry of Agricultural Machinery, R&D Institutions, Cooperation with Serbia
- Promoting Agricultural Mechanization in Nigeria through the Intervention of Japanese
- Successful Mechanization of Smallholder Agriculture?Opportunities for Cooperation and Partnership between Africa and Japan (Umezuruike Linus Opara)...... 27
- Assistance in Promotion of Agricultural Mechanization in Developing Countries
- What does this have to Do with Agricultural Engineers and this Magazine, AMA? (Graeme R. Quick) 34
- Need of Public and Private Partnership for Sustainable Agriculture in Developing Countries (Surya Nath) 35
- Industrialization and Tourism as Strategies for Promoting Agricultural and Fisheries Mechanization in the PHILIPPINES (Reynaldo M. Lantin)...... 36
- Agricultural Mechanization in Vietnam and How to Develop the Cooperation with Japan (Nguyen Hay) 41
- National Modernization cannot be realized without the Development and Diffusion of Agricultural Mechanization (Jun Sakai) 43
- Global Problems in Agricultural Mechanization System of Russian Federation (O. S. Marchenko)...... 45
- Comparison Computerized Object Recognition Systems (E. Sert, Y. Pinar, D. Taskin, C. Taskin, N. Topcubasi)..... 50

- Design of a Mechanical Device to Applique the Direction of Cross-Section on Rural
- Predicting Tractor Power Requirements Using Decision Support System -A Tool For Farm Machinery Management (Vishal Bector, Surendra Singh, P. K. Gupta)...... 63
- Influence of Pad Configuration on Evaporative Cooling System Effectiveness inside a Wind Tunnel (M. A. Basiouny, Said Elsha-
- Effects of Sowing Techniques and Seed Rates on Oilseed Rape Seedling Emergence. Crop Establishment and Grain Yield (M. A. Asoodar, Z. Yousefi) 82
- Development of Tea Carding Machine for Chinese Green Tea (Li Bing, Xia Tao)...... 87

 \Diamond \Diamond \Diamond

Vol.45, No.1, Winter 2014

- Up-Gradation and Improvement of Cotton Ginning Machinery (Muhammad Yasin, Alamgir Akhtar Khan, Masood A. Majeed Progressive Ginner)......9
- Performance Evaluation of Different Models of Power Weeders for Pulse Crop Cultivation (T. Senthilkumar, V. M. Duraisamy,
- Determination of the Suitability Period of S-3 Diesel Oil when Used in Tractor Engines (Ali Mazin Abdul-Munaim, Lutfi Hussain
- Modification in Pantnagar Zero-Till Ferti-Seed Drill for Pulses (S. C. Sharma, V. S. Prasad, T. P. Singh)......23
- Fuel Properties of Denatured Anhydrous and Aqueous Ethanol of Different Proofs
- Effects of Different Tillage and Press Wheel Weight on Soil Cone Index and Dryland Wheat Yield in Khuzestan Iran (M. A. Asoodar, F. Mohajer Mazandarani) 35
- Development and Evaluation of Seed Metering System for Water Soaked Cotton Seeds (Sushil Sharma, C. J. S. Pannu) 41
- Development and Evaluation of Motorized Cowpea Thresher (F. A. Maunde) 48
- Does Chilling Water Increase Air Cooling Operation (Ali Mazin Abdul-Munaim, Samir B.Salman Al-Badri) 53
- Development and Performance Evaluation of Virgin Coconut Oil Cooker (A. C. Mathew, K. Madhavan, T. Arumuganathan) 56
- Study on Sinkage and Rolling Resistance of Various Tractors in the Soil (Harvinder Singh Dhingra) 60
- Mechanization of Cassava for Value Addition and Wealth Creation by the Rural Poor of
- Nigeria (K. C. Oni, O. A. Dyelade) 66 Effect of Exhaust Back Pressure on Noise Characteristic of Tractor Mufflers (Ashish
- Kr. Shrivastava, V. K. Tewari, Santosh K.) 79 Optimizing Processing Parameters of Con-
- centric type Rotary Sieve Grader using Dimensional Analysis (D. Balasubramanian) 84

INSTRUCTIONS TO AMA CONTRIBUTORS

The Editorial Staff of the AMA requests of articles for publication to observe the following editorial policy and guidelines in order to improve communication and to facilitate the editorial process:

Criteria for Article Selection

Priority in the selection of article for publication is given to those that –

- a. are written in the English language;
- b. are relevant: to the promotion of agricultural mechanization, particularly for the developing countries;
- c. have not been previously published elsewhere, or, if previously published are supported by a copyright permission;
- deal with practical and adoptable innovations by, small farmers with a minimum of complicated formulas, theories and schematic diagrams;
- e. have a 50 to 100-word abstract, preferably preceding the main body of the article;
- f. are printed, double-spaced, under 3,000 words (approximately equivalent to 6 pages of AMA-size paper); and those that
- g. art: supported by authentic sources, reference or bibliography.
- h. written on CD-R.

Rejected/Accepted Articles

- a. As a rule, articles that are not chosen for AMA publication are not returned unless the writer(s) asks for their return and are covered with adequate postage stamps. At the earliest time possible, the writer(s) is advised whether the article is rejected or accepted.
- b. When an article is accepted but requires revision/ modification, the details will be indicated in the return reply from the AMA Chief Editor in which case such revision/modification must be completed and returned to AMA within three months from the date of receipt from the Editorial Staff.
- c. The AMA does not pay for articles published.
- d. Complimentary copies: Following the publishing, three successive issue are sent to the author(s).

Procedure

- a. Articles for publication (original and one-copy) must be sent to AMA through the Co-operating Editor in the country where the article originates. (Please refer to the names and addresses of Co-operating Editors in any issue of the AMA). However, in the absence of any Co-operating Editor, the article needs to be sent to Co-operating Editor in the writer's neighboring country.
- b. Contributors of articles for the AMA for the first time are required to attach a passport size ID photograph (black and white print preferred) to the article. The same applies to those who have contributed articles three years earlier. In either case, ID photographs taken within the last 6 months are preferred.
- c. The article must bear the writer(s) name, title/designation, office/organization, nationality and complete mailing address.

Format/Style Guidance

- a. Article must be sent on CD-R with MS DOS format (e.g. Word Perfect, Word for DOS, Word for Windows... Absolutely necessary TEXT FORMAT) along with two printed copy (A4).
- b. The data for graphs and photographs must be saved into piecemeal dates and enclosed with the article.
- c. Whether the article is a technical or popular contribution, lecture, research result, thesis or special report, the format must contain the following features:
 (i) brief and appropriate title;
 (ii) the writer(s) name, designation/title, office/organization; and mailing address;
 - (iii) an abstract following ii) above;
 - (iv) body proper (text/discussion);
 - (v) conclusion/recommendation; and a (vi) bibliography
- d. The printed copy must be numbered (Arabic numeral) successively at the top center whereas the disc copy pages should not be number. Tables, graphs and diagrams must likewise be numbered. Table numbers must precede table titles, e.g., "Table 1. Rate of Seeding per Hectare". Such table number and title must be typed at the top center of the table. On the other hand, graphs, diagrams, maps and photographs are considered figures in which case the captions must be indicated below the figure and preceded by number, e.g., "Figure 1. View of the Farm Buildings".
- e. The data for the graph must also be included. (e.g. EXCEL for Windows)
- f. Tables and figures must be preceded by texts or discussions. Inclusion of such tables and figures not otherwise referred to in the text/discussion must be avoided.
- g. Tables must be typed clearly without vertical lines or partitions. Horizontal lines must be drawn only to contain the sub-title heads of columns and at the bottom of the table.
- Express measurements in the metric system and crop yields in metric tons per hectare (t/ha) and smaller units in kilogram or gram (kg/plot or g/row).
- i. Indicate by footnotes or legends any abbreviations or symbols used in tables or figures.
- j. Convert national currencies in US dollars and use the later consistently.
- k. Round off numbers, if possible, to one or two decimal units, e.g., 45.5 kg/ha instead of 45.4762 kg/ha.
- 1. When numbers must start a sentence, such numbers must be written in words, e.g., Forty-five workers..., or Five tractors..."instead of 45 workers..., or, 5 tractors.

SUBSCRIPTION/ORDER FORM

AGRICULTURAL MECHANIZATION IN ASIA, AFRICA AND LATIN AMERICA (AMA)

Issued Quarterly

AMA has Achieved an IMPACT FACTOR!!

AMA has been read by those involved in agricultural machinery and industry all over the world since the first publishment in 1971. Thanks to many contributions from both the readers and writers, in 2012, we have achieved an Impact Factor, established by Thomson Reuters in U.S.A. AMA is the only Japanese agricultural machinery and industry related magazine which achieved an Impact Factor.

Subscription Rate (includes surface mail postage)

Annual (4 issues)...... ¥ 8,000 Single copy...... ¥ 2,500

(Check one)

 \Box Please send me/us an invoice

 \Box I/We enclose remittance for ¥

□ Please charge my/our credit card □ VISA

MASTER Card. No.

Exp. date

Signature

We deeply appreciate your payment by credit card (NO EXTRA CHARGE NEEDED). We charge you extra 4,000 JPY when paid by check, and 6,000 JPY when paid by wire transfer.

Name:	
Firm:	
Position:	
Address:	
	(block letters)

FARM MACHINERY INDUSTRIAL RESEARCH CORP.

1-12-3 Kanda-Nishikicho, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo 101-0054, Japan Tel. (03)-3291-3674 URL: http://www.shin-norin.co.jp E-Mail: ama@shin-norin.co.jp

